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Disclaimer
This report is issued by Astro Japan Property Group 
Limited (ABN 25 135 381 663) and Astro Japan 
Property Management Limited (ABN 94 111 874 563, 
AFSL 283142) (“Responsible Entity”) as the responsible 
entity of the Astro Japan Property Trust (ARSN 112 799 
854) (together defined as the “Astro Group”).

The information contained in this report does not 
constitute an offer of, or invitation to invest in or 
subscribe for, or a recommendation of, stapled 
securities in the Astro Group (“AJA securities”).

The information contained in this report constitutes 
general information only. The Responsible Entity is not 
licensed to provide financial product advice (including 
personal financial product advice), and the information 
contained in this report does not constitute financial 
product advice.

In providing this report, the Astro Group has not 
considered the investment objectives, financial 
situation and particular needs of an investor. Before 
making any investment decision with respect to AJA 
securities, an investor should consider its own 
investment objectives, financial circumstances and 
needs, and if necessary consult its investment, 
financial, taxation or other professional adviser.

This report may include information forecasting or 
projecting future outcomes. Such outcomes may be 
affected by a wide range of influences outside of the 
Astro Group’s control. In respect of such forward-
looking information, no representation or warranty is 
made by or on behalf of the Astro Group that any 
projection, forecast, forward-looking statement, 
assumption or estimate contained in this report should 
or will be achieved.

The Astro Group specifically prohibits the redistribution 
or reproduction of this material in whole or in part 
without the written permission of the Astro Group and 
the Astro Group accepts no liability whatsoever for the 
actions of third parties in this respect.
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About Astro Japan Property Group

The Astro Japan Property Group (“Astro Group” or 
“the Group”) is a listed property fund and has a 
strategy of investing solely in the real estate market 
of Japan.
The Astro Group comprises the Astro Japan Property Trust (“AJT”) and 
Astro Japan Property Group Limited (“AJCo”), with the units in AJT being 
stapled to the shares in AJCo. The stapled securities are quoted on the 
ASX under the code ‘AJA’. The Responsible Entity of AJT is Astro Japan 
Property Management Limited.

AJT was initially established on 31 January 2005, became a registered 
scheme under the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) on 17 February 2005, and 
listed on the ASX on 4 April 2005. The subsequent formation of the Astro 
Group occurred on 12 November 2009, at which time the units in AJT were 
stapled to the shares in AJCo. At 1 September 2011, the Astro Group had 
2,869 securityholders and a market capitalisation of A$138 million.

At the time of its listing in 2005, AJT raised $280 million and acquired 
interests in a diversified portfolio of 12 office and retail properties located 
in the central and greater Tokyo area for ¥47 billion (approximately A$600 
million). At 30 June 2011, the Astro Group held interests in a portfolio 
comprising 41 office, retail and residential properties with a book value of 
¥103.5 billion (approximately A$1.2 billion).

Asset management services in Japan are generally undertaken by the 
Japan asset manager, Spring Investment Co., Ltd., in which the Astro Group 
has an economic interest. 
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 Chairman’s Report

Dear Securityholders,

The 2011 financial year was one of consolidation and progress for 
the Astro Group.

During the year the Board and management continued to actively 
pursue the de-risking of the Astro Group’s capital structure by 
implementing a number of initiatives in relation to the Group’s 
debt facilities as well as negotiating positive changes to our 
capital hedging arrangements.

Loan facilities for two of the property owning Japanese special 
purpose companies (SPC) in which the Group holds an interest 
were successfully refinanced. In the coming years the Board and 
management will continue to focus on reducing leverage in the 
Group’s capital structure taking into consideration not only the 
overall profile of the Group, but also changing investor and 
counterparty risk appetites.

The tragic earthquake and tsunami that struck Japan in March 
resulted in horrific destruction and sadly the loss of many lives 
and our deepest sympathies are with those affected. Thankfully, 
the Group’s property portfolio sustained minimal damage from 
these tragic events due to the locations of the properties and the 
resilience of Japanese building construction.

For the year ended 30 June 2011 we saw a stabilisation of 
capitalisation rates with the moderate reduction in the value of the 
property portfolio being mainly attributable to pressure on market 
rents in the office segment. Despite the very challenging economic 
conditions, the property portfolio continues to deliver a relatively 
stable operational performance, reflecting the diversity of the 
asset portfolio, depth of experience of the Japan Asset Manager 
and management’s core focus on generating sustainable through-
the-cycle earnings.

Securityholders have continued to receive the economic benefits 
of owning the Responsible Entity management rights and a 30% 
economic interest in the Japan Asset Manager, with the ongoing 
advantage of reduced base and asset transaction fees, and 
changes to the calculation of the Trust Performance Fee. These 
savings were implemented in April 2009 upon the internalisation 
of the Responsible Entity and separation from the Babcock & 
Brown Group. Most importantly, this structure has strengthened 
the alignment between the Group and the Japan Asset Manager 
and has also provided the Group’s securityholders with revenue 
upside in relation to non-Astro Group business generated by the 
Japan Asset Manager.

Securityholders approved a 10 for 1 consolidation of stapled 
securities at the Annual General Meeting held in November 2010, 
with normal trading of the consolidated stapled securities 
commencing on 27 January 2011.

Distributions
The Astro Group paid a final distribution of 20 cents per security 
(cps), bringing total distributions for the year to 42.5 cps.

As part of the Board and management’s ongoing focus on active 
capital management, under the terms of the three completed 
long-term refinancings we have achieved in the past 18 months, 
an increased portion of the available cash flow will be directed 
towards debt amortisation. This will impact the cash available for 
distribution to securityholders. Although in the short to medium 
term cash distributions paid to securityholders will likely be lower 
than in previous years, we believe utilising a portion of the 
available cash to further lower liabilities is an effective and 
prudent use of capital that will prove to be beneficial to 
securityholders.

Corporate GovernanCe
The Board recognises that it is accountable to securityholders for 
the performance of the Astro Group and, to that end, has 
implemented a system of corporate governance designed to 
further the best interests of securityholders while also addressing 
the interests of other key stakeholders. The Board firmly believes 
that strong corporate governance can contribute to the 
performance of a business by creating securityholder value and 
fostering the confidence of the investment community.

The 2011 Corporate Governance Statement outlines the 
framework by which the Group endeavours to conform with the 
ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Corporate Governance 
Principles and Recommendations. During the period, the Group 
achieved substantial compliance with the ASX Principles and 
Recommendations as detailed on pages 34-44 in this report.

outlook
The Board and management note that although recent indications 
are that Japan’s economy is emerging faster and more strongly 
than expected following the destruction caused by the earthquake 
and tsunami, it will likely be some time before it fully recovers. 
Taking into account the still volatile global economy and the 
maturing of the loan facilities for two SPCs (outlined in further 
detail in the Senior Advisor’s Report), Directors are conservative in 
their outlook for FY2012 and beyond. Portfolio diversity by 
geography, asset class and lease type along with continued 
de-leveraging of the Group’s capital structure will remain key 
elements of this strategy, which we anticipate will improve the 
stability of income and reduce associated risks.

I would like to thank our securityholders for their ongoing support 
and our management for their dedication in a challenging 
economic environment.

ALLAN MCDONALD 
Chairman 
15 September 2011

2 Astro Japan Property Group • Annual Report



 Senior Advisor’s Report

Dear Securityholders,

Although our 2011 results reflect the impact of challenging 
operating conditions in a very unpredictable environment–
including the tragic Tohoku earthquake and tsunami in March 
2011–we believe the significant long-term refinancings of 
pre-GFC debt we have achieved and other capital initiatives 
we have taken in the last year place securityholders in a good 
position to benefit from the long-term value of our diverse 
property cash flows.

Group performanCe
Financial results
Astro Group reported net operating profit after tax of A$38.6 
million for the financial year ended 30 June 2011, 
approximately 8.3% below the prior year, due to a decline in 
net property income and an appreciation in the A$/¥ 
exchange rate. Net property income declined 4.5% in Yen 
terms on the prior year mainly due to a decrease in market 
rent levels primarily in the office assets.

Astro Group generated ordinary earnings per stapled security 
of 72.9 cents. The total distribution for the year ended 30 
June 2011 was 42.5 cps, the distribution being less than the 
ordinary earnings generated because the balance was used 
for debt amortisation and capital management purposes.

Portfolio performance
In accordance with the Group’s valuation policy, independent 
valuations were obtained on each of the top 10 properties by 
value, on properties required by lenders and on a number of 
other properties to ensure that in aggregate no less than 75% 
of the portfolio by value had been independently valued during 
the period. Those properties not independently valued were 
assessed by the Asset Manager and if that review indicated a 
material change an independent value was sought.

For the twelve months ended 30 June 2011, the value of the 
Group’s portfolio declined to ¥103.5 billion from ¥113.9 
billion at 30 June 2010, following fair value adjustments 
totalling ¥6.1 billion (¥3.2 billion at 31 December 2010 and 

¥2.9 billion at 30 June 2011) and asset sales at book value 
of ¥4.3 billion, being the sale of Kokusai Nihombashi and 
Prime Tsukiji in September 2010.

Valuations are showing clear signs of stabilisation, with 
average capitalisation rates around 5.6% used by valuers 
again remaining virtually unchanged at June 30 from six 
months earlier. A decline in assumed market rents, rather 
than any change in underlying capitalisation rates, resulted in 
the downward revision in the fair value of the portfolio.

Valuations of retail assets, the largest segment of the Group’s 
portfolio, were only marginally reduced. The office segment 
remains the weakest of all asset types, with the Osaka and 
other regional markets considerably weaker than Tokyo.

Despite the difficult operating environment and extraordinary 
events in Japan during 2011, the Astro Group portfolio 
occupancy by area increased to 95.4% compared to 93% at 
30 June 2010, reflecting a focus on keeping or finding tenants 
even if at the expense of rental levels in the short term.

Whilst our occupancy by area increased, the continuing weak 
operating environment affected our net property income.

At the end of the financial year, Astro Group’s portfolio had 
over 400 leases, with the top 10 tenants accounting for 
approximately one third of revenues. Around half of total 
portfolio net property income is derived from non-cancellable 
leases, mainly in our retail assets, contributing stability to the 
Group’s medium term portfolio income stream. During the 
period all expired leases were renewed and a greater number 
of new leases were entered into than those that 
were cancelled.
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 Senior Advisor’s Report

We continue to believe the key to the portfolio is the diversity 
of the property cashflows provided by a balance between 
retail and office with a small residential component, a 
predominance of assets located within the Greater Tokyo 
area, and a combination of longer-term, non-cancellable 
leases and ‘standard’ leases which are cancellable usually on 
several months’ notice.

key Developments throuGh the year
Equity raising, debt refinancing
A number of initiatives were successfully undertaken during 
the 2011 financial year to further decrease risk in relation to 
the debt facilities and other liabilities.

In March 2011 AJA completed an oversubscribed, fully 
underwritten institutional placement for 15% of its total 
issued capital. 7,623,261 new stapled securities were issued 
at a price of $3.09 per stapled security. The placement was 
supported by strong demand from both existing and 
new investors.

Most significantly, the funds raised in this institutional 
placement were used as part of a renegotiation and extension 
of the senior loan to JPT Corporate Co., Ltd. (JPTC), a 
Japanese special purpose company (SPC) which holds 
approximately 24% of the Group’s property interests. This 
loan was replaced with a new, five year, senior loan of 
¥17.583 billion (approximately A$204 million) maturing in 
March 2016. The new loan includes an unchanged interest 
margin payable of 1.0%, an all-in cost of approximately 1.2% 
and a relaxed Loan to Value (LTV) covenant, being 85% once 
only in February 2013. If this test is not satisfied the interest 
margin will increase by 1%. The LTV is set at 90% from 
February 2013 and there is a debt service coverage ratio 
(DSCR) test of no less than 1.1 times an assumed constant 
rate of 4.0%.

The Group contributed additional equity of ¥2.5 billion 
(approximately A$29 million) to JPTC from the proceeds of the 
institutional placement completed on 14 March 2011, plus a 
portion of its existing cash reserves, to partially pay down the 
JPTC loan.

As a result of the refinance and equity injection, and based on 
book values as at 30 June 2011, the LTV ratio of the JPTC 
loan was reduced from 79.6% to 69.7%.

In December 2010, the refinancing of the senior loan of 
¥13.729 billion (approximately A$165 million) to JPT Scarlett 
Co., Ltd. (JPTS), a Japanese SPC which holds approximately 
22.0% of the Group’s property interests, was completed with 
the closing of a new senior loan maturing in April 2015, with a 
major international bank unrelated to the previous lender. The 
new loan includes an interest margin of 3.32% with an overall 
interest rate of 3.94%. Consistent with the other asset-
specific loans, with the exception of JPTC, the new loan does 
not include an LTV covenant. The DSCR test is the primary 
covenant, being no less than 1.20 times against an assumed 
5.5% constant payment of the outstanding loan principal. 
Based on the cash flow as at 30 June 2011 this test is 
satisfied with approximately 22% headroom.

Portfolio gearing (interest bearing debt/investment property) 
was 76.1% as at 30 June 2011. Overall portfolio gearing 
continues to have no impact on any loan terms or covenants.

Portfolio debt service coverage for the year ended 30 June 
2011 remains robust at 2.6 times.

Capital hedging
We continued the progressive reduction, commenced at the 
onset of the global financial crisis in 2008, of the A$/¥ 
capital hedge book over the twelve months. Since 2008 the 
capital hedge book has been reduced by over 72% (including 
the maturity of the August 2011 hedge) to ¥6.1 billion. Key 
new initiatives included:

•  termination of the capital hedge maturing in August 2016, 
with a principal amount of ¥1.5 billion (approximately 
A$16.9 million), resulting in a net cash loss to the Group of 
approximately A$2.9 million, the hedge having been entered 
into at a rate of A$=¥101.9 in 2008 (terminated at an 
average rate of ¥88.55).

•  fixing the exchange rate at which the August 2011 capital 
hedge was settled at a rate of A$=¥85.4. This hedge had a 
principal amount of ¥1.5 billion (approximately A$17.6 
million) and was settled in accordance with its terms on 15 
August 2011.

During the year ended 30 June 2011 the capital hedge book 
was reduced by 16.5% to ¥7.6 billion from ¥9.1 billion at 30 
June 2010. The income from the capital hedge book for the 
period ended 30 June 2011 was A$4.6 million compared to 
A$5.6 million for the period ended 30 June 2010.
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In August 2011, agreement was reached with the 
counterparty to the Group’s capital hedges to remove annual 
termination rights which have been replaced with an 
automatic termination arrangement to ensure that the Group 
will not incur any loss on the hedges beyond the collateral 
held by the counterparty.

astro Group’s investment in the business of its 
Japan asset manaGer, sprinG investment Co. ltD 
(sprinG investment)
As securityholders will be aware, since April 2009, Astro 
Group has held a 30% economic interest in Spring 
Investment. During this financial year, Spring Investment took 
over the asset management of a third party portfolio 
previously owned by Rubicon Japan Trust. The portfolio had a 
value at the time of approximately ¥16 billion (approximately 
A$186 million), which has been reduced by asset sales. 
Spring Investment is undertaking a disposition process of this 
portfolio that is expected to continue for another 18-24 months.

As previously announced, in 2010 Spring Investment created 
a joint venture with Sekisui House, Ltd. to take over the 
manager of a REIT listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange. That 
REIT made new acquisitions during the June 2011 Astro 
Group financial year totaling approximately ¥6.3 billion, or 
6.3%, of its previous asset base. Supported by the strong 
balance sheet of Sekisui House and Spring Investment’s 
asset and fund management experience, the asset base of 
the REIT is expected to continue to grow steadily in 
coming years.

Whilst Astro Group’s interest in Spring Investment is still a 
very small part of its overall business, the cash distributions 
from the revenues of Spring Investment that have been 
received by the Astro Group have been greater than initially 
anticipated and we are hopeful this can continue.

outlook
At the time of writing, there is uncertainty concerning the 
refinancings of JPT Direct Co., Ltd (JPTD) and JPT August Co., 
Ltd (JPTA), two property owning Japanese SPCs in which the 
Group holds an interest, whose senior loans mature in the 
next 12-18 months. These are the only pre-GFC loans which 
have not yet been refinanced.

JPTD has non-recourse senior debt of ¥15.5 billion 
(approximately A$180 million) maturing in May 2012. The 
current LTV of JPTD is 94.4% and is unlikely to be refinanced 
in full with senior debt.

JPTA has a non-recourse senior debt of ¥18.8 billion 
(approximately A$218 million) maturing in August 2012. The 
current LTV of JPTA is 135% and almost certainly will not be 
able to be refinanced in full with debt.

The Asset Manager and the Board are carefully evaluating 
various potential outcomes. Default on these loans is an 
option, as the loans were made without recourse to the credit 
of the Astro Group to make up the difference if the value of 
the assets is ultimately less than the amount of the loan.

As JPTD and JPTA are so much more highly geared than the 
Group’s other SPCs, the impact of losing these assets would 
be positive for gearing and NTA, although negative for revenue 
and profit.

The Asset Manager and the Board are actively working on 
securing the most favourable outcome for securityholders.

We remain focused on evaluating and dealing with each of the 
five separate SPCs through which the Group invests in 
property in Japan, and their respective debt arrangements, on 
their individual merits.

Cash distributions will likely decrease in the short to medium 
term as the Group maintains its focus on prudent capital 
management by directing a significant portion of available 
cash to reduce liabilities rather than raising dilutive equity. 
Taking into consideration the factors outlined above and 
wishing to preserve maximum negotiating and financing 
flexibility given the various potential outcomes regarding the 
maturity of the JPTD debt, the Board decided to delay issuing 
guidance concerning distributions for the 2012 financial year 
until closer to the time a final decision is made regarding 
that financing.

With the global markets continuing to show signs of volatility, 
we are conservative in our outlook on the performance of the 
portfolio and expect net property income to be broadly in line 
with, or slightly down from 2011 but are hopeful we will see 
continued stabilisation of capitalisation rates in Japan and 
also the easing of the cyclical pressures which have resulted 
in declining rent levels.

As always, the Asset Manager and the Board continue to 
focus on optimising the operational performance of the 
property portfolio as well as prudent capital management 
which seeks to maximise equity returns to securityholders 
whilst minimising risks to the business.

Thank you once again for your ongoing support.

ERIC LUCAS 
Senior Advisor 
15 September 2011

5Astro Japan Property Group • Annual Report



 Review of Results & Operations

NB: All comparative per security figures quoted in this Annual Report are a pro-forma calculation to reflect the security consolidation 
completed in January 2011.

Net property income of ¥6.3 billion declined 4.5% on the prior year in Yen terms, mainly due to a decline in rental levels primarily 
in the office segment.

Net operating profit after tax of A$38.6 million for the year ended 30 June 2011 was lower than the prior year profit of A$42.1 
million reflecting the decline in net property income, foreign exchange movements and increased financing costs.

A statutory net loss after tax of A$22.0 million, reflected non-cash items of A$60.6 million, primarily comprised of A$76.5 million 
in downward property revaluations compared to A$150.7 million in the prior corresponding period and a A$23.7 million gain on 
foreign exchange hedges. Statutory net loss after tax was reduced from A$111.9 million in the prior year, largely due to a much 
smaller contraction in property valuations and foreign exchange movements.

The distribution for the full year was 42.5 cps after applying 10.2 cps for debt amortisation commitments and the balance 
retained for capital management purposes.

AIFRS NTA at 30 June 2011 was A$4.67 per security compared to A$6.43 at 30 June 2010. This decline was principally due to 
the reduction in property valuations over the last twelve months.

Economic NTA of $5.56 per security at 30 June 2011 is a calculation reflecting the non-recourse nature of the asset-specific debt 
in each of the five special purpose companies (SPCs) which are consolidated by the Group, based on the fact that the effective 
NTA of any SPC cannot be less than zero as a result of the SPC’s non-recourse debt being greater than the value of its assets.

reConCiliation between statutory profit anD operatinG profit
The difference between net AIFRS statutory loss and operating profit is due to a number of property and non-property related 
items which are detailed below:

Year ended  
30 Jun 2011 

(A$’m)

Year ended  
30 Jun 2010 

(A$’m)

Statutory net profit/(loss) after income tax (22.0) (111.9)

Adjustments – non-operating items included in statutory profit

Fair value adjustments to investment properties 76.5 150.7

Net gain on disposal of investment properties (2.4) -

Impairment of goodwill 5.0 7.0

Gain on derivatives (23.7) (7.6)

Net foreign exchange loss 3.3 0.1

Deferred tax on fair value adjustments to investment property 1.9 3.9

Net operating profit/(loss) after income tax 38.6 42.1

The following review of results and operations is based on a comparison between actual results for the year ended 30 June 2011 
and the previous financial year.

Year ended 30 Jun 20111 30 Jun 20102 Variance

Net property income (¥) ¥6.3 bn ¥6.6 bn -4.5%

Net property income (A$) $77.5 m $82.4 m -5.9%

Net operating profit after income tax $38.6 m $42.1 m -8.3%

Net operating profit after income tax per security (A$) 72.9 cps 82.8 cps -12.0%

Net statutory profit/(loss) after income tax $(22.0) m $(111.9) m +80.3%

Weighted average stapled securities on issue 52,993,848 50,821,216 +4.3%

Distribution 42.5 cps 70.0 cps -39.3%

Year ended 30 Jun 20113 30 Jun 20104 Variance

A-IFRS NTA per security $4.67 $6.43 -27.4%

Economic NTA per security $5.56 $7.12 -21.9%

1 Average exchange rate for the period of A$1.00 = ¥82.11
2 Average exchange rate for the period of A$1.00 = ¥80.51
3 Exchange rate of A$1.00 = ¥86.18 at 30 June 2011
4 Exchange rate of A$1.00 = ¥75.71 at 30 June 2010
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portfolio performanCe
Portfolio occupancy by area increased to 95.4% (30 June 2010: 94.5% on a comparative 
basis) reflecting a focus on keeping or finding tenants even if at the expense of rental levels 
in the short term.

The asset management team has historically maintained its focus on achieving sustainable 
rental levels from the portfolio through a process of rental negotiations with tenants. The 
asset management team has sought to offset rental decreases with moving tenants to 
longer term leases to the extent possible.

property portfolio
At 30 June 2011, the total value of the Astro Group’s portfolio was ¥103.5 billion 
(A$1.2 billion). The Astro Group held interests in 41 properties in Japan: 18 office, 18 retail 
and 5 residential, of which approximately 68% are located primarily in the Central and 
Greater Tokyo area.

For the twelve months ended 30 June 2011, the Group’s portfolio declined to ¥103.5 billion 
from ¥113.9 billion at 30 June 2010, following fair value adjustments totalling ¥6.1 billion 
and asset sales of ¥4.3 billion at book value. The Group’s property portfolio did not sustain 
any material damage as a result of the Tohoku earthquake and tsunami that struck 
Northern Japan on 11 March 2011.

borrowinGs
The Astro Group’s share of total borrowings at 30 June 2011 was ¥78.8 billion 
(A$0.9 billion). During the next 12-18 months two senior loans are due to mature. The first 
loan is a ¥15.5 billion non-recourse loan which matures in May 2012, and the second being 
a ¥18.8 billion non-recourse loan which matures in August 2012. Both of these senior 
loans are unlikely to be refinanced in full. The Board and Japan Asset Manager are carefully 
evaluating a number of different scenarios.

Portfolio gearing (interest bearing debt/investment property) was 76.1% at 30 June 2011 
(30 June 2010: 75.5%).

foreiGn exChanGe heDGinG profile at 30 June 2011

On 16 December 2010, the last of AJA’s distribution hedges, a forward FX arrangement to 
sell Yen for A$ at A$1=¥68.00 was completed.

As at 30 June 2011, approximately 30.7% of AJA’s net property book value (i.e. gross 
property book value less senior loan value) was hedged. At A$1= ¥86.18, AJA’s net capital 
hedge position is A$8.3m in-the-money:
•  Capital hedges were A$11.6m out-of-the money (excluding collateral)

•  AJA has ¥1.7bn (A$19.9m) in cash collateral posted with the counterparty

Post year end the following transactions occurred in relation to AJA’s capital hedges:

• Automatic termination structure put in place with counterparty to protect against net loss

•  August 2011 capital hedge settled 15 August 2011, half yearly payment of approximately 
$437,400 received being the final interest payment

Settlement Date AJA receives AUD AJA pays JPY Exchange 
Rate

Interest rate 
spread

Annual net 
payment to AJA 

(A$’000s)

Aug 2011 14,724,649 1,500,000,000 101.9 6.19% 874.8

Aug 2012 20,614,509 2,100,000,000 101.9 6.01% 1,183.4

Aug 2013 16,687,936 1,700,000,000 101.9 5.86% 929.6

Aug 2014 22,577,795 2,300,000,000 101.9 5.69% 1,214.8

Total 74,604,889 7,600,000,000 4,202.6

Capital Hedge Maturity Profile 
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 Senior Management

senior manaGement of the Japan asset manaGer (sprinG investment Co., ltD.)

eriC luCas
President and Chief Executive Officer

Eric first lived in Japan from 1985, 
working at the major Japanese law firm 
of Anderson Mori and Rabinowitz. In 
1987, Eric was hired by Babcock & 
Brown in the U.S. and continued living in 
Japan on secondment representing 
Babcock & Brown in its Japanese joint 
venture, Nomura Babcock & Brown, until 
1992 where he specialised in 
structured finance.

After several years at Babcock & Brown’s 
San Francisco then global head office 
from 1993, Eric returned to Tokyo in 
1998, when he established the Japan 
Asset Manager as an investor in and 
asset manager of Japanese real estate. 
In July 2006, Eric was appointed Global 
Head of Real Estate at Babcock & Brown.

Eric resigned as Managing Director of 
AJT on 16 April 2009 at which time he 
was appointed Senior Advisor to the 
Board of AJT.

Eric holds a law degree from the 
University of Melbourne in Australia.

naoto iChiki
Representative Director and 
Chief Operating Officer

Mr Ichiki joined the Japan Asset 
Manager in 2006.

Mr Ichiki was formerly a Managing 
Director of JPMorgan, where Mr Ichiki 
was head of Real Estate Structured 
Finance Asia, Real Estate Investment 
Banking Japan, and Structured Products 
Japan. Mr Ichiki spent 16 years at 
JPMorgan where he was responsible for 
various real estate finance/acquisition 

transactions, including Japan’s first 
non-recourse loan and CMBS 
arrangements. Prior to joining JPMorgan, 
he was a management consultant at 
McKinsey & Company for nearly 8 years. 
Mr Ichiki holds a Bachelor of Law degree 
from Hitotsubashi University and is a 
licensed real estate broker.

naoto yabu
Head of Asset Management

Mr Yabu joined the Japan Asset 
Manager in 2006.

Mr Yabu was formerly with ORIX 
Corporation in the overseas real estate 
division, including 7 years in an asset 
management role in the U.S. He was also 
an Executive Director of ORIX Asset 
Management Corporation, an asset 
management subsidiary for ORIX JREIT, 
at its listing on the Tokyo Stock Exchange 
in 2002. Mr Yabu holds a Bachelor of 
Science degree from Kobe University and 
is a licensed real estate broker.

takeo okaDa
Head of Acquisition

Mr Okada joined the Japan Asset 
Manager in 2008.

Prior to joining the Japan Asset Manager 
in 2008, Mr Okada was ex-president of 
Prospect Co., Ltd., a real estate asset 
and fund manager with its own J-REIT, 
and before that CFO of Goldcrest, a 
TSE-listed property developer. From 
1992 to 1999, he worked for Goldman 
Sachs, most recently in the NPL groups. 
Mr Okada is a licensed real estate 
broker and a registered real estate 
consultant in Japan. He holds a 
Bachelor of Science and Technology 
degree from Keio University.

hitoshi kamikubo
Chief Compliance Officer

Mr Kamikubo joined the Japan Asset 
Manager in 2007.

Mr Kamikubo was formerly a Managing 
Director of Hypo Real Estate Capital 
Japan Corporation (HRECJ), overseeing 
compliance and company secretary 
issues after working 3 years in the 
non-recourse real estate loan division of 
Bayerische Hypo-und Vereinsbank AG 
Tokyo Branch and HRECJ. Mr Kamikubo 
had a 14-year career at the Export-
Import Bank of Japan (now Japan Bank 
for International Cooperation) where he 
was responsible for various duties such 
as overseas loans for developing 
countries, coordination with Japanese 
government agencies, and corporate 
policy planning and management. He 
holds a Bachelor of Economics degree 
from Hitotsubashi University and is a 
licensed real estate broker.

Appearing from left to right:

Eric Lucas, Naoto Ichiki, 
Naoto Yabu, Takeo Okada,  
Hitoshi Kamikubo
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senior manaGement of the astro Group

John pettiGrew
Executive Director and 
Chief Financial Officer

John was appointed as a Director of the 
Responsible Entity on 19 February 2005 
and as a Director of AJCo on 20 March 
2009. On 1 January 2011 John was 
appointed as the Chief Financial Officer 
and he continues as a Director of 
both companies.

John has extensive financial and 
commercial experience with a number of 
major corporations and 30 years 
involvement in the property industry. 
John is a Fellow of the Australian Society 
of Certified Practicing Accountants, a 
Fellow of Chartered Secretaries Australia, 
a Fellow of the Australian Institute of 
Management and a Member of the 
Australian Institute of Company 
Directors. John was Chief Financial 
Officer and Company Secretary of the 
Stockland Group from 1977 and Finance 
Director from 1982 until his retirement in 
March 2004. He has had a significant 
role in structuring and managing listed 
property trusts since 1980.

rohan purDy
General Counsel and 
Company Secretary

Rohan has extensive experience as a 
corporate lawyer and company secretary. 
Rohan has held positions as a senior 
lawyer at Babcock & Brown and the 
Australian Securities Exchange (ASX). Prior 
to this, Rohan specialised in commercial 
and corporations law, practising as a 
senior lawyer with a number of leading law 
firms in Australia. Rohan holds a Master of 
Laws from the University of Sydney and a 
Bachelor of Laws degree and Bachelor of 
Commerce degree from the Australian 
National University.

Appearing from left to right:

John Pettigrew, Rohan Purdy
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 Japan Asset Manager

Spring Investment Co., Ltd. (‘Spring’ or 
the ‘Japan Asset Manager’) has provided 
asset management services to the 
Japanese special purpose investment 
companies which hold the Astro Group’s 
property interests in Japan since the 
Group’s inception in 2005. The Astro 
Group currently holds a 30% economic 
interest in the Japan Asset Manager.

Spring holds all necessary licenses under 
the Financial Instruments and Exchange 
Law in Japan for the purposes of 
conducting the asset management 
services with respect to the property 
portfolio in which the Astro Group 
maintains its interest. 

Spring has a strong team of 22 
professionals and staff from many 
disciplines including structuring and 
financial modelling with experience 
across all asset classes to provide a high 
level of service to the Astro Group. The 
main service in recent years has been in 
asset management.

The Asset Management team is made up 
of eight professionals and is responsible 
for managing assets, sales and 
refinancing. One team member is 
dedicated to refinancing non-recourse 
debt. Spring continues to maintain 
positive relationships with many lenders 
in Japan as demonstrated by the 
successful refinancing of the maturing 
senior loan in December 2010 as well 
as, in March 2011, a separate 
refinancing on favourable terms and 
conditions closed immediately after the 
Kanto/Tohoku Earthquake.

The Asset Management team constantly 
assesses hold versus sale opportunities 
for properties in the portfolio to bring 
optimal results to the Astro Group’s 
investors. The Asset Management team 
also focuses on strategic issues such as 
ensuring properties are positioned to suit 
the needs of tenants, targeting rental 
adjustments to optimise the balance 
between tenant retention and protection 

of income and managing capital 
expenditures which will improve the value 
of properties and attract/retain tenants. 
Rigorous monitoring of legal compliance of 
properties by the team also facilitates the 
refinancing and sale of properties amidst 
a very challenging market environment.

other sprinG aCtivities
In February 2010, in joint venture (JV) 
with Sekisui House, Spring became the 
shareholder of the management company 
of a Tokyo Stock Exchange listed J-REIT. 
Sekisui House is one of Japan’s leading 
residential developers with an AA- rating 
by R&I. Sekisui House holds a 75% 
interest in the asset management JV 
while Spring holds a 25% interest.

The management company, the manager 
of Sekisui House SI Investment 
Corporation owns 58, mainly residential, 
assets with a book value of approximately 
¥106 billion (A$1.2 billion, approx.). 

The essence of the asset management 
JV is that Sekisui House will take the 
lead in relation to finance and sourcing of 
assets, including from its own pipeline, 
whilst Spring’s input will be focused on 
its significant experience in asset and 
funds management, the latter in 
particular in relation to non-Japanese 
investors. Sekisui House and Spring have 
announced the intention to double the 
size of assets held by Sekisui House SI 
Investment Corporation.

The Astro Group contributed 30% of the 
capital to Spring’s investment in Sekisui 
House SI Asset Management with a 
minimal impact on existing cash 
resources. The Group’s involvement, 
through its economic interest in Spring, 
marks the first time an Australian real 
estate company has held an interest in 
J-REIT management.

During this financial year, Spring signed 
an agreement to take over asset 
management of a third party portfolio 
previously owned by Rubicon Japan Trust. 
The portfolio had a value of approximately 
¥16 billion (A$186 million, approx.) The 
portfolio is under a disposition process by 
a servicer on behalf of CMBS holders. 
This process is expected to continue for 
another 18-24 months.
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 Portfolio Overview

¥103.5bn 
Carrying 
Value

Retail Office Residential Portfolio

Number of properties 18 18 5 41

Carrying value (¥ bn) 53.5 40.3 9.7 103.5

Net Rentable Area (tsubo) 51,535 21,605 8,569 81,710

Net Rentable Area (sqm) 170,361 71,424 28,330 270,115

% of portfolio by value 51.7% 38.9% 9.4% 100.0%

% of portfolio by area 63.1% 26.4% 10.5% 100.0%

Occupancy by area 99.5% 83.9% 99.5% 95.4%

Number of leases - total 115 226 66 407

    Cancellable 75 215 63 353

    Non-cancellable 40 11 3 54

(as at 30 June 2011)
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Retail - 52%

Residential - 9%

Office - 39%

Greater Tokyo - 44%

Greater Osaka - 20%
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Carrying 
value Occupancy by area

Property Location Completed
Jun 2011

¥ billion
% of  

portfolio

Trust share of 
net rentable area 

(sqm)

Trust share of  
net rentable area 

(tsubo) Jun 2011 Jun 2010

Retail
1 Kawasaki Dice Kanagawa prefecture - Kawasaki Aug 2003 12.3 11.9% 12,062 3,649 98.2% 99.3%

2 Konan Home Centre Chiba prefecture - Ichikawa Mar 2005 10.5 10.1% 48,819 14,768 100.0% 100.0%

3 Shinjuku Fuji Central Tokyo - Shinjuku ward, Nishi Shinjuku Jun 1964 4.5 4.4% 1,476 447 100.0% 100.0%

4 Mukomachi Kyoto prefecture - Muko Sep 70/Nov 81/Apr 97 4.2 4.1% 22,528 6,815 100.0% 100.0%

5 Shibuya Konami Central Tokyo - Shibuya ward, Shinsencho May 1990 2.3 2.2% 4,993 1,510 100.0% 100.0%

6 Susono Shizuoka prefecture-Susono Jun 1994 2.3 2.2% 12,321 3,727 100.0% 100.0%

7 Matsudo Nitori Chiba prefecture - Matsudo Sep 2004 2.2 2.1% 8,946 2,706 100.0% 100.0%

8 Ginowan Okinawa prefecture - Ginowan Jan 2001 2.0 1.9% 10,551 3,192 100.0% 74.0%

9 Tsudanuma Chiba prefecture - Narashino Feb 1976 2.0 1.9% 1,840 557 100.0% 100.0%

10 Sapporo Co-op Hokkaido prefecture - Kitahiroshima Apr 1992 1.6 1.5% 12,209 3,693 100.0% 100.0%

11 Sapporo Toys ' R' Us Hokkaido prefecture - Sapporo Oct 93/Jan 96 1.6 1.5% 6,163 1,865 100.0% 100.0%

12 Sapporo Ai Hokkaido prefecture - Sapporo Oct 1989 1.5 1.5% 3,209 971 97.0% 97.0%

13 Harajuku Bell Pier Central Tokyo - Shibuya ward, Jingumae Jan 2004 1.5 1.5% 783 237 100.0% 81.2%

14 Motomachi Kanagawa prefecture - Yokohama Jun 1992 1.5 1.4% 1,586 480 100.0% 100.0%

15 Round One Amagasaki Hyogo prefecture - Amagasaki Sep 1998 1.3 1.3% 5,256 1,590 100.0% 100.0%

16 Round One Nara Nara prefecture - Nara Jul 1998 1.0 1.0% 5,157 1,560 100.0% 100.0%

17 Kajicho Ekimae Central Tokyo - Chiyoda ward, Kajicho Nov 2002 0.8 0.8% 881 267 100.0% 79.2%

18 Yoshikawa Saitama prefecture  -Yoshikawa Oct 1992 0.4 0.4% 11,582 3,504 95.7% 99.0%

Retail sub total / average 53.5 51.7% 170,361 51,535 99.5% 98.0%

Office
19 JN Kanagawa prefecture - Yokohama Sep 2007 8.3 8.1% 10,075 3,048 96.5% 96.5%

20 Ginza Dowa Central Tokyo - Chuo ward, Ginza Sep 1974 7.1 6.8% 6,368 1,926 91.7% 68.5%

21 Osaka No.4 Osaka prefecture - Osaka Aug 1981 6.5 6.2% 13,625 4,121 91.9% 95.7%

22 Osaka No.3 Osaka prefecture - Osaka Sep 1979 2.6 2.5% 8,387 2,537 85.7% 81.3%

23 Yamashitacho Kanagawa prefecture - Yokohama Oct 1991 2.2 2.1% 5,504 1,665 56.9% 76.9%

24 Higashi Totsuka Kanagawa prefecture - Yokohama Feb 1993 1.8 1.8% 5,671 1,716 93.7% 93.7%

25 Forest Kita Aoyama Central Tokyo - Minato ward, Kita Aoyama Apr 1991 1.4 1.4% 998 302 100.0% 100.0%

26 Takadanobaba Central Tokyo - Shinjuku ward, Takadanobaba Mar 1986 1.4 1.4% 2,497 755 61.9% 51.1%

27 Sun Ace Tokugawa Aichi prefecture - Nagoya Mar 1990 1.4 1.3% 6,235 1,886 47.2% 49.6%

28 OS Tsukiji Central Tokyo - Chuo ward, Tsukiji Jul 1982 1.3 1.3% 2,147 649 86.5% 86.5%

29 Prime Kanda Central Tokyo - Chiyoda ward, Kanda Sudacho Aug 1990 1.2 1.2% 1,680 508 100.0% 100.0%

30 Asakusa Tokyo - Taito ward, Komagata Sep 2004 1.2 1.2% 2,047 619 100.0% 100.0%

31 Shiba Daimon Central Tokyo - Minato ward, Shiba Daimon Mar 1994 0.8 0.8% 970 293 100.0% 100.0%

32 Daikanyama Takara Tokyo - Meguro ward, Kami Meguro Apr 1991 0.7 0.7% 959 290 75.8% 75.8%

33 Akabane Tokyo - Kita ward, Akabane Jun 1993 0.7 0.7% 1,084 328 87.3% 100.0%

34 FT Nihombashi Central Tokyo - Chuo ward, Nihombashi Hisamatsucho Oct 1988 0.6 0.5% 1,182 358 83.3% 83.3%

35 Yotsuya KD Central Tokyo - Shinjuku ward, Yotsuya Feb 1990 0.6 0.5% 1,197 362 61.4% 100.0%

36 Sun No.5 Central Tokyo - Chuo ward, Nihombashi Muromachi May 1983 0.5 0.4% 801 242 100.0% 100.0%

Office sub total / average 40.3 38.9% 71,424 21,605 83.9% 84.3%

Residential
37 Tosabori Osaka prefecture - Osaka Sep 2007 4.4 4.3% 11,549 3,494 100.0% 100.0%

38 Sekijomachi Fukuoka prefecture - Fukuoka Mar 2007 2.5 2.4% 10,755 3,253 100.0% 100.0%

39 G-Clef Kamata Tokyo - Ota ward, Nishi Kamata Jan 1992 1.6 1.6% 3,310 1,001 100.0% 100.0%

40 Prime Stay Tsukiji Central Tokyo - Chuo ward, Tsukiji Jun 1986 0.7 0.6% 1,225 370 87.3% 81.7%

41 Nishi Kasai Tokyo - Edogawa ward, Nishi Kasai Nov 1990 0.5 0.5% 1,490 451 100.0% 100.0%

Residential sub total / average 9.7 9.4% 28,330 8,569 99.5% 99.2%

Total Properties sub-total / average 103.5 100.0% 270,115 81,710 95.4% 94.5%

 Portfolio Overview
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Carrying 
value Occupancy by area

Property Location Completed
Jun 2011

¥ billion
% of  

portfolio

Trust share of 
net rentable area 

(sqm)

Trust share of  
net rentable area 

(tsubo) Jun 2011 Jun 2010

Retail
1 Kawasaki Dice Kanagawa prefecture - Kawasaki Aug 2003 12.3 11.9% 12,062 3,649 98.2% 99.3%

2 Konan Home Centre Chiba prefecture - Ichikawa Mar 2005 10.5 10.1% 48,819 14,768 100.0% 100.0%

3 Shinjuku Fuji Central Tokyo - Shinjuku ward, Nishi Shinjuku Jun 1964 4.5 4.4% 1,476 447 100.0% 100.0%

4 Mukomachi Kyoto prefecture - Muko Sep 70/Nov 81/Apr 97 4.2 4.1% 22,528 6,815 100.0% 100.0%

5 Shibuya Konami Central Tokyo - Shibuya ward, Shinsencho May 1990 2.3 2.2% 4,993 1,510 100.0% 100.0%

6 Susono Shizuoka prefecture-Susono Jun 1994 2.3 2.2% 12,321 3,727 100.0% 100.0%

7 Matsudo Nitori Chiba prefecture - Matsudo Sep 2004 2.2 2.1% 8,946 2,706 100.0% 100.0%

8 Ginowan Okinawa prefecture - Ginowan Jan 2001 2.0 1.9% 10,551 3,192 100.0% 74.0%

9 Tsudanuma Chiba prefecture - Narashino Feb 1976 2.0 1.9% 1,840 557 100.0% 100.0%

10 Sapporo Co-op Hokkaido prefecture - Kitahiroshima Apr 1992 1.6 1.5% 12,209 3,693 100.0% 100.0%

11 Sapporo Toys ' R' Us Hokkaido prefecture - Sapporo Oct 93/Jan 96 1.6 1.5% 6,163 1,865 100.0% 100.0%

12 Sapporo Ai Hokkaido prefecture - Sapporo Oct 1989 1.5 1.5% 3,209 971 97.0% 97.0%

13 Harajuku Bell Pier Central Tokyo - Shibuya ward, Jingumae Jan 2004 1.5 1.5% 783 237 100.0% 81.2%

14 Motomachi Kanagawa prefecture - Yokohama Jun 1992 1.5 1.4% 1,586 480 100.0% 100.0%

15 Round One Amagasaki Hyogo prefecture - Amagasaki Sep 1998 1.3 1.3% 5,256 1,590 100.0% 100.0%

16 Round One Nara Nara prefecture - Nara Jul 1998 1.0 1.0% 5,157 1,560 100.0% 100.0%

17 Kajicho Ekimae Central Tokyo - Chiyoda ward, Kajicho Nov 2002 0.8 0.8% 881 267 100.0% 79.2%

18 Yoshikawa Saitama prefecture  -Yoshikawa Oct 1992 0.4 0.4% 11,582 3,504 95.7% 99.0%

Retail sub total / average 53.5 51.7% 170,361 51,535 99.5% 98.0%

Office
19 JN Kanagawa prefecture - Yokohama Sep 2007 8.3 8.1% 10,075 3,048 96.5% 96.5%

20 Ginza Dowa Central Tokyo - Chuo ward, Ginza Sep 1974 7.1 6.8% 6,368 1,926 91.7% 68.5%

21 Osaka No.4 Osaka prefecture - Osaka Aug 1981 6.5 6.2% 13,625 4,121 91.9% 95.7%

22 Osaka No.3 Osaka prefecture - Osaka Sep 1979 2.6 2.5% 8,387 2,537 85.7% 81.3%

23 Yamashitacho Kanagawa prefecture - Yokohama Oct 1991 2.2 2.1% 5,504 1,665 56.9% 76.9%

24 Higashi Totsuka Kanagawa prefecture - Yokohama Feb 1993 1.8 1.8% 5,671 1,716 93.7% 93.7%

25 Forest Kita Aoyama Central Tokyo - Minato ward, Kita Aoyama Apr 1991 1.4 1.4% 998 302 100.0% 100.0%

26 Takadanobaba Central Tokyo - Shinjuku ward, Takadanobaba Mar 1986 1.4 1.4% 2,497 755 61.9% 51.1%

27 Sun Ace Tokugawa Aichi prefecture - Nagoya Mar 1990 1.4 1.3% 6,235 1,886 47.2% 49.6%

28 OS Tsukiji Central Tokyo - Chuo ward, Tsukiji Jul 1982 1.3 1.3% 2,147 649 86.5% 86.5%

29 Prime Kanda Central Tokyo - Chiyoda ward, Kanda Sudacho Aug 1990 1.2 1.2% 1,680 508 100.0% 100.0%

30 Asakusa Tokyo - Taito ward, Komagata Sep 2004 1.2 1.2% 2,047 619 100.0% 100.0%

31 Shiba Daimon Central Tokyo - Minato ward, Shiba Daimon Mar 1994 0.8 0.8% 970 293 100.0% 100.0%

32 Daikanyama Takara Tokyo - Meguro ward, Kami Meguro Apr 1991 0.7 0.7% 959 290 75.8% 75.8%

33 Akabane Tokyo - Kita ward, Akabane Jun 1993 0.7 0.7% 1,084 328 87.3% 100.0%

34 FT Nihombashi Central Tokyo - Chuo ward, Nihombashi Hisamatsucho Oct 1988 0.6 0.5% 1,182 358 83.3% 83.3%

35 Yotsuya KD Central Tokyo - Shinjuku ward, Yotsuya Feb 1990 0.6 0.5% 1,197 362 61.4% 100.0%

36 Sun No.5 Central Tokyo - Chuo ward, Nihombashi Muromachi May 1983 0.5 0.4% 801 242 100.0% 100.0%

Office sub total / average 40.3 38.9% 71,424 21,605 83.9% 84.3%

Residential
37 Tosabori Osaka prefecture - Osaka Sep 2007 4.4 4.3% 11,549 3,494 100.0% 100.0%

38 Sekijomachi Fukuoka prefecture - Fukuoka Mar 2007 2.5 2.4% 10,755 3,253 100.0% 100.0%

39 G-Clef Kamata Tokyo - Ota ward, Nishi Kamata Jan 1992 1.6 1.6% 3,310 1,001 100.0% 100.0%

40 Prime Stay Tsukiji Central Tokyo - Chuo ward, Tsukiji Jun 1986 0.7 0.6% 1,225 370 87.3% 81.7%

41 Nishi Kasai Tokyo - Edogawa ward, Nishi Kasai Nov 1990 0.5 0.5% 1,490 451 100.0% 100.0%

Residential sub total / average 9.7 9.4% 28,330 8,569 99.5% 99.2%

Total Properties sub-total / average 103.5 100.0% 270,115 81,710 95.4% 94.5%
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Top 20  
Tenants  
(by income) 
30 Jun 2011 Tenant name Property Industry Lease type

% of Trust’s Total 
Gross Passing 
Rent plus CAM Lease expiry date

Remaining  
term (years)

1 Toyota Tsusho Corp / Konan Shoji Konan Home Centre Trading / Retail Fixed non-cancellable 1 7.5% March-2025 13.8

2 Aeon Retail * Mukomachi Retail Standard non-cancellable 2 4.4% June-2020 8.9

3 Takuto Kanri Tosabori Real Estate Fixed non-cancellable 3 3.5% December-2014 3.5

4 Best Denki Kawasaki Dice Retail Standard non-cancellable 4 3.1% August-2013 2.2

5 Matahari Kawasaki Dice Game Centre Standard non-cancellable 5 2.6% August-2023 12.2

6 Gaia Shinjuku Fuji Game Centre Fixed non-cancellable 6 2.5% July-2020 9.0

7 Kyodo PR Ginza Dowa Advertising Standard 2.5% June-2012 -

8 Jikei Space Sekijomachi School Standard7 2.3% March-2022 10.8

9 Konami Sports & Life Shibuya Konami Fitness Club Standard non-cancellable 8 2.1% March-2019 7.8

10 City of Yokohama JN Government Standard 2.0% March-2012 -

11 Co-op Sapporo Sapporo Co-op Retail Standard non-cancellable 9 2.0% November-2012 1.4

12 Nitori Holdings ** Matsudo Nitori Retail Standard non-cancellable 10 1.9% September-2024 13.3

13 Gourmet City Kanto Susono Retail Standard non-cancellable 11 1.9% June-2014 3.0

14 NTT Advanced Technology Higashi Totsuka Systems Solutions Standard non-cancellable 12 1.6% March-2012 0.7

15 Toys ‘R’ Us Japan Sapporo Toys ‘R’ Us Retail Standard 1.4% November-2013 -

16 Bab Hitachi JN Manufacture Standard 1.4% December-2011 -

17 Kobe Steel G-Clef Kamata Manufacture Fixed non-cancellable 13 1.4% September-2012 1.2

18 Telecom Staff Forest Kita Aoyama Program Production Standard 14 1.4% June-2011 -

19 Louis Vuitton Japan *** Motomachi Retail Fixed non-cancellable 15 1.3% September-2011 0.3

20 Round One Round One Amagasaki Game Centre Fixed non-cancellable 16 1.3% May-2018 6.9

Total 48.0%

Trust total

Top 20 Tenant Profile

1    The property is 100% leased to Konan Shoji on a 20 year lease. For the first 12 years (until March 2017) the master lessee under a 
non-cancellable Fixed Term Lease is Toyota Tsusho Corporation pursuant to which Toyota Tsusho subleases to Konan Shoji. From the 
end of the 12 year master lease term the lease is directly with Konan Shoji.

2  16 year lease. The lease is non-cancellable for the initial eight years (until June 2012).
3  7 year lease. The lease is non-cancellable during the term (until December 2014).
4  10 year lease. The lease is non-cancellable during the term (until August 2013).
5  20 year lease. The lease is non-cancellable for the initial ten years (until August 2013).
6  15 year lease. The lease is non-cancellable for the initial seven years (until July 2012).
7    Cancellable only when the lessor agrees and lessee forfeits the tenant deposits.
8  10 year lease. The lease is non-cancellable for the initial five years (until March 2014).
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Top 20  
Tenants  
(by income) 
30 Jun 2011 Tenant name Property Industry Lease type

% of Trust’s Total 
Gross Passing 
Rent plus CAM Lease expiry date

Remaining  
term (years)

1 Toyota Tsusho Corp / Konan Shoji Konan Home Centre Trading / Retail Fixed non-cancellable 1 7.5% March-2025 13.8

2 Aeon Retail * Mukomachi Retail Standard non-cancellable 2 4.4% June-2020 8.9

3 Takuto Kanri Tosabori Real Estate Fixed non-cancellable 3 3.5% December-2014 3.5

4 Best Denki Kawasaki Dice Retail Standard non-cancellable 4 3.1% August-2013 2.2

5 Matahari Kawasaki Dice Game Centre Standard non-cancellable 5 2.6% August-2023 12.2

6 Gaia Shinjuku Fuji Game Centre Fixed non-cancellable 6 2.5% July-2020 9.0

7 Kyodo PR Ginza Dowa Advertising Standard 2.5% June-2012 -

8 Jikei Space Sekijomachi School Standard7 2.3% March-2022 10.8

9 Konami Sports & Life Shibuya Konami Fitness Club Standard non-cancellable 8 2.1% March-2019 7.8

10 City of Yokohama JN Government Standard 2.0% March-2012 -

11 Co-op Sapporo Sapporo Co-op Retail Standard non-cancellable 9 2.0% November-2012 1.4

12 Nitori Holdings ** Matsudo Nitori Retail Standard non-cancellable 10 1.9% September-2024 13.3

13 Gourmet City Kanto Susono Retail Standard non-cancellable 11 1.9% June-2014 3.0

14 NTT Advanced Technology Higashi Totsuka Systems Solutions Standard non-cancellable 12 1.6% March-2012 0.7

15 Toys ‘R’ Us Japan Sapporo Toys ‘R’ Us Retail Standard 1.4% November-2013 -

16 Bab Hitachi JN Manufacture Standard 1.4% December-2011 -

17 Kobe Steel G-Clef Kamata Manufacture Fixed non-cancellable 13 1.4% September-2012 1.2

18 Telecom Staff Forest Kita Aoyama Program Production Standard 14 1.4% June-2011 -

19 Louis Vuitton Japan *** Motomachi Retail Fixed non-cancellable 15 1.3% September-2011 0.3

20 Round One Round One Amagasaki Game Centre Fixed non-cancellable 16 1.3% May-2018 6.9

Total 48.0%

Trust total

9  10 year lease. The lease is non-cancellable during the term (until November 2012).
10  20 year lease. The lease is non-cancellable during the term (until September 2024).
11  20 year lease. The lease is non-cancellable during the term (until June 2014).
12  2 year lease (automatically renewed). The leases are non-cancellable until March 2012.
13  5 year lease. The lease is non-cancellable during the term (until September 2012).
14  Signed a 6 year lease starting from July 2011. The lease is non-cancellable for the initial two years (until June 2013).
15  10 year lease. The lease is non-cancellable during the term (until September 2011).
16  20 year lease. The lease is non-cancellable during the term (until May 2018).
*  Tenant name has changed from Mycal due to merger.
**  Tenant name has changed from Nitori due to merger.
*** Received cancellation notice. The lease will terminate in September 2011.
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 Property Locations
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 Top 10 Properties
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 Top 10 Properties by value

tenanCy profile
Tenant name Type of lease % of total rent

Best Denki Standard non-cancellable2 32.7%

Matahari Standard non-cancellable3 28.0%

TOHO Cinemas Fixed non-cancellable4 10.3%

Aoi Shoten Fixed non-cancellable5 10.0%

Tokyu Hands Standard 7.7%

Other – 14 tenants 11.3%

Kawasaki Dice
property type
Multi-tenant (retail, cinema, restaurant, 
entertainment) building

sub-market
Kawasaki

aDDress
8, Ekimaehoncho, Kawasaki-ku 
Kawasaki-shi, Kanagawa

Approximately 250 metres (a three minute 
walk) from Kawasaki JR station and 
approximately 80 metres (a one minute 
walk) from Keikyu-Kawasaki station of 
Keikyu line.

Kawasaki Dice is a large scale (11 floors 
above ground plus two basement levels) 
multi-tenant retail, cinema, restaurant and 
entertainment complex.

1

property statistiCs
Land area (square metres)1 4,475

Trust’s share NRA (tsubo) 3,649

Trust’s share NRA (square metres) 12,062

Occupancy by area 98.2%

summary
Ownership interest1 48%

Purchase date Mar 05 & Dec 05

Carrying value (billion) ¥12.3

Completed Aug 2003

PML 5.22%

1   The Trust holds a 48% interest in Kawasaki Dice, which is a condominium interest equivalent to 89.6% of the building and 87% of the land.
2  10 year lease. The lease is non-cancellable during the term (until August 2013).
3  20 year lease. The lease is non-cancellable for the initial 10 years (until August 2013).
4  20 year lease. The lease is non-cancellable during the term (until August 2023).
5  10 year lease. The lease is non-cancellable during the term (until August 2013).
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tenanCy profile
Tenant name Type of lease % of total rent

Toyota Tsusho Corporation / Konan Shoji Fixed non-cancellable1 100.0%

Konan Home Centre
property type
Single-tenant retail home centre and 
speciality stores

sub-market
Ichikawa

aDDress
2526-6, Baraki 
Ichikawa-shi, Chiba

Located close to the expressway, 
approximately 720 metres (a nine minute 
walk) from Futamata Shinmachi station on 
the JR Keiyo Line and 20 minutes by car 
from the centre of Tokyo.

The Konan Home Centre is a large scale 
retail complex comprising a home centre 
with additional speciality shops (consumer 
electronics, supermarket, shoe store, 
variety goods and a gas station). It is 
leased to a single tenant through to 
March 2025.

2

property statistiCs
Land area (square metres) 83,401

Trust’s share NRA (tsubo) 14,768

Trust’s share NRA (square metres) 48,819

Occupancy by area 100.0%

summary
Ownership interest 100%

Purchase date Apr 2005

Carrying value (billion) ¥10.5

Completed Mar 2005

PML 8.02%

1    The property is 100% leased to Konan Shoji on a 20 year lease. For the first 12 years (until March 2017) the master lessee under a non-cancellable Fixed Term 
Lease is Toyota Tsusho Corporation pursuant to which Toyota Tsusho subleases to Konan Shoji. From the end of the 12 year master lease term the lease is 
directly with Konan Shoji.
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 Top 10 Properties by value

tenanCy profile
Tenant name Type of lease % of total rent

City of Yokohama Standard 29.6%

Bab Hitachi Standard 21.1%

HSBC Standard 16.0%

Usen Standard 8.1%

Toppan Forms Standard 7.9%

Other – 3 tenants 17.3%

JN
property type
Multi-tenant office building

sub-market
Yokohama

aDDress
3, Otamachi, Naka-ku 
Yokohama-shi, Kanagawa

Approximately 400 metres (a five minute 
walk) from Kannai station on the JR Keihin 
Tohoku lines.

The JN property is a 14 storey office 
property completed in September 2007. It 
faces a major road (Kannai Odori) in the 
central business district of Yokohama, 
which is approximately 30 minutes by train 
from central Tokyo.

3

property statistiCs
Land area (square metres) 1,687

Trust’s share NRA (tsubo) 3,048

Trust’s share NRA (square metres) 10,075

Occupancy by area 96.5%

summary
Ownership interest 100%

Purchase date Dec 2007

Carrying value (billion) ¥8.3

Completed Sep 2007

PML 7.54%
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tenanCy profile
Tenant name Type of lease % of total rent

Kyodo PR Standard 41.3%

Valic Fixed non-cancellable¹ 12.0%

Seven-Eleven Fixed cancellable 5.3%

Taiju Soken / Kaikoukai Standard 5.1%

Sun M Creation Standard 4.6%

Other – 19 tenants 31.8%

Ginza Dowa
property type
Multi-tenant office building with some 
retail tenants

sub-market
Chuo Ward

aDDress
7-2-22, Ginza 
Chuo-ku, Tokyo

Approximately 240 metres (a three minute 
walk) from Ginza station on the Tokyo 
Metro Marunouchi, Ginza and Hibiya lines.

The Ginza Dowa property is a nine-storey 
plus basement level office building located 
in Ginza. It has a corner location facing 
Ginza Corridor Street, one of the better 
known Ginza streets.

4

property statistiCs
Land area (square metres) 1,162

Trust’s share NRA (tsubo) 1,926

Trust’s share NRA (square metres) 6,368

Occupancy by area 91.7%

summary
Ownership interest 100%

Purchase date Apr 2005

Carrying value (billion) ¥7.1

Completed Sep 1974

PML 10.72%

1  10 year lease. The lease is non-cancellable for the first year (until August 2011). 
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tenanCy profile
Tenant name Type of lease % of total rent

Nippon Travel Standard 10.1%

Sumitomo Life Insurance Standard 7.9%

Xymax Axis Standard 7.7%

NTT Marketing Standard 6.3%

Dimple Standard 5.4%

Other – 46 tenants 62.7%

Osaka No.4
property type
Multi-tenant office building

sub-market
Osaka CBD

aDDress
1-11, Umeda, Kita-ku 
Osaka-shi, Osaka

Approximately 80 metres (a one minute 
walk) from Higashi-Umeda station on 
Tanimachi line and approximately 
400 metres (a five minute walk) from 
JR Osaka station.

The Property is a 25 storey building 
located in the centre of Osaka near JR 
Osaka station. It is connected to JR Osaka 
and other subway stations via a recently 
renovated underground shopping arcade 
which contains a number of retail stores 
and restaurants.

5

property statistiCs
Land area (square metres)1 8,439

Trust’s share NRA (tsubo) 4,121

Trust’s share NRA (square metres) 13,625

Occupancy by area 91.9%

summary
Ownership interest1 100%

Purchase date Sep 2007

Carrying value (billion) ¥6.5

Completed Aug 1981

PML 5.47%

1   AJA’s interest in this property comprises a condominium interest in eight floors (7, 8, 18 and 21 to 25). AJA’s interest is the largest individual lot in the 
condominium association. The Trust holds ownership equivalent to 14.7% of 8,439 sqm of the land.

 Top 10 Properties by value
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tenanCy profile
Tenant name Type of lease % of total rent

Gaia Fixed non-cancellable1 70.9%

Watami Standard 12.9%

Saizeriya Fixed non-cancellable2 11.3%

Interbrains Standard 3.3%

MI Foods System Standard 1.5%

Shinjuku Fuji
property type
Multi-tenant retail building

sub-market
Shinjuku

aDDress
1-16-4, Nishi Shinjuku 
Shinjuku-ku, Tokyo

Approximately 270 metres (a four minute 
walk) from JR Shinjuku station.

Shinjuku Fuji is located in a prime position 
in the Nishi (west) Shinjuku district of 
central Tokyo adjacent to the Shinjuku 
station, the busiest commuter train station 
in Japan. The building comprises six floors 
above ground and two basement levels.

6

property statistiCs
Land area (square metres) 271

Trust’s share NRA (tsubo) 447

Trust’s share NRA (square metres) 1,476

Occupancy by area 100.0%

summary
Ownership interest 100%

Purchase date Jan 2006

Carrying value (billion) ¥4.5

Completed Jun 1964

PML 16.37%

1  15 year lease. The lease is non-cancellable for the initial seven years (until July 2012).
2  10 year lease. The lease is non-cancellable during the term (until June 2012).
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tenanCy profile
Tenant name Type of lease % of total rent

Takuto Kanri Fixed non-cancellable1 100.0%

Tosabori
property type
Residential building

sub-market
Osaka CBD

aDDress
3-3-2, Tosabori, Nishi-ku 
Osaka-shi, Osaka

A 15 storey residential building, completed 
in September 2007 and master-leased to 
a single tenant. It is located in a 
predominately residential area known as 
Tosabori within central Osaka and 
comprises 18 studio, 159 one-bedroom, 
24 two-bedroom, 11 three-bedroom and 
2 four-bedroom apartments.

7

property statistiCs
Land area (square metres) 1,816

Trust’s share NRA (tsubo) 3,494

Trust’s share NRA (square metres) 11,549

Occupancy by area 100.0%

summary
Ownership interest 100%

Purchase date Dec 2007

Carrying value (billion) ¥4.4

Completed Sep 2007

PML 8.93%

1  7 year lease. The lease in non-cancellable during the term (until December 2014).

 Top 10 Properties by value
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tenanCy profile
Tenant name Type of lease % of total rent

Aeon Retail* Standard non-cancellable1 100.0%

Mukomachi
property type
Single-tenant retail building

sub-market
Kyoto

aDDress
15 Kotsukuda, Teradocho 
Muko-shi, Kyoto

Approximately 170 metres (a 3 minute walk) 
from Higashi Muko station on Hankyu Kyoto 
line and 630 metres (an 8 minute walk) 
from JR Mukomachi station.

Mukomachi is a single-tenant, six-level 
shopping centre, including machinery room 
on 5th and 6th floor, with car parking 
located in Muko, six kilometres southwest 
of central Kyoto.

8

property statistiCs
Land area (square metres) 11,690

Trust’s share NRA (tsubo) 6,815

Trust’s share NRA (square metres) 22,528

Occupancy by area 100.0%

summary
Ownership interest 100%

Purchase date Nov 2005

Carrying value (billion) ¥4.2

Completed Sep 70/Nov 81/Apr 97

PML 13.11%

1  16 year lease. The lease in non-cancellable for the initial seven years (until June 2012). 
*  Tenant name has changed from Mycal due to merger.
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Osaka No.3
property type
Multi-tenant office building

sub-market
Osaka CBD

aDDress
1-1, Umeda, Kita-ku 
Osaka-shi, Osaka

Approximately 80 metres (a one minute 
walk) from Kita-Shinchi station on JR Tozai 
line and approximately 400 metres (a five 
minute walk) from JR Osaka station.

The Property is a 34 storey building 
located immediately adjacent to Osaka 
Ekimae No. 4 in the centre of Osaka near 
JR Osaka station. It is connected to 
JR Osaka and other subway stations via a 
recently renovated underground shopping 
arcade which contains a number of retail 
stores and restaurants.

9

property statistiCs
Land area (square metres)1 10,342

Trust’s share NRA (tsubo) 2,537

Trust’s share NRA (square metres) 8,387

Occupancy by area 85.7%

summary
Ownership interest1 100%

Purchase date Sep 2007

Carrying value (billion) ¥2.6

Completed Sep 1979

PML 3.48%

1    AJA’s interest in this property comprises a condominium interest in five floors (7, 8, 28, 30 and 31). AJA’s interest is the largest individual lot in 
the condominium association. The Trust holds ownership equivalent to 6.7% of 10,342 sqm of the land.

tenanCy profile
Tenant name Type of lease % of total rent

Nihon Jutaku Ryutsu Standard 13.2 %

Sumitomo Life Insurance Standard 7.4%

Novac Standard 6.8%

Sumitomo Real Estate Sales Standard 5.5%

Seiwa Jyuku Standard 4.7%

Other – 40 tenants 62.3%

 Top 10 Properties by value
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tenanCy profile
Tenant name Type of lease % of total rent

Jikei Space Standard1 100.0%

Sekijomachi
property type
Residential building

sub-market
Fukuoka

aDDress
21 Sekijomachi, Hakata-ku 
Fukuoka-shi, Fukuoka

Sekijomachi is a seven storey building 
comprising 302 one-bedroom apartments 
designed for student accommodation. It is 
located in Fukuoka, the largest city in 
Kyushu (the southern most main island of 
Japan) with a population of 1.5 million 
(Japan’s 7th largest city).

10

property statistiCs
Land area (square metres) 3,154

Trust’s share NRA (tsubo) 3,253

Trust’s share NRA (square metres) 10,755

Occupancy by area 100.0%

summary
Ownership interest 100%

Purchase date Sep 2007

Carrying value (billion) ¥2.5

Completed Mar 2007

PML 4.74%

1  Cancellable only when the lessor agrees and lessee forfeits the tenant deposit.
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 Ownership Structure

The Astro Group’s interest in the 
properties in Japan is achieved  
by a particular Japanese investment 
structure (“Japanese Investments”).

the tokumei kumiai  
(“tk”) struCture
Under Japanese commercial law a TK is 
not a legal entity but a contractual 
relationship or a series of contractual 
relationships between one or more 
investors and a TK Operator.

In a TK arrangement, the investors 
provide capital to a business which is 
defined by the contractual agreement 
and is to be conducted by the TK 
Operator, which carries on the TK 
business entirely in its own name and 
under its sole control in accordance with 
the terms of the TK Agreement. The 
investors have no right to make any 
business decisions with respect to a TK 
Operator or the TK business; rather, 
there is only a contractual relationship 
between a TK Operator and the investors.

The investors are entitled to a proportional 
share (based on their equity contribution 
to the TK) of the profits and losses of the 
TK business. Depending on the terms of 
the TK Agreement, liability of the investors 
can be limited to the amount of their initial 
investment or the investors can be 
subject to additional capital calls.

The net effect of these contractual 
arrangements under Japanese tax law is 
that the investors are taxed in Japan on 
their share of TK income (by the TK 
Operator withholding Japanese tax from 
TK distributions to the investors) even 
though the business is conducted and 
relevant assets are held in the name of 
the TK Operator. A TK Operator reports 
the amount of profits to which the 
investors are entitled as a deduction in 
respect of its taxable income.

tk investment
All of the Astro Group’s interests in 
properties are held through TK 
structures. The Responsible Entity has 
entered into TK Agreements with JPT Co., 
Ltd., JPT Scarlett Co., Ltd., JPT Direct 
Co., Ltd., JPT Corporate Co., Ltd. and JPT 
August Co., Ltd (“TK Operators”) 
pursuant to which, in exchange for the 
Astro Group’s contribution of all of the 
equity in the TK, the Astro Group is 
entitled to 100% of the investor capital 
account of each TK and 99% of the 
profits and losses of the TK business. 
The TK Operators are entitled to the 
remaining 1% of the profits and losses of 
the TK business. Each TK’s defined 
business is to obtain profits from 
purchasing, holding and selling the 
properties held by the respective TK 
Operator in accordance with the 
provisions of the respective TK 
Agreement (each, a “TK Business”).

The TK Operators have a TK Asset 
Management Agreement with the Japan 
Asset Manager. The asset management 
services provided by the Japan Asset 
Manager to the TK Operators are to 
assist the TK Operators to conduct the 
TK Businesses.

The Astro Group does not own any of the 
equity of the TK Operators and does not 
have any voting rights in relation to the 
TK Operators or the TK Businesses, 
rather the Astro Group has a contractual 
claim against the TK Operators.

The TK Operators are Japanese limited 
liability companies established 
specifically for the purpose of operating 
the respective TK Businesses. The voting 
stock of the TK Operators is held by 
Cayman Islands companies established 
specifically for that purpose as nominees 
for the Japan Asset Manager. The voting 
stock of the Cayman Islands companies 
is held by a Cayman Islands charitable 
trust except in the case of JPT August. 
The person performing the duties of 

representative partner for JPT August is a 
neutral certified public accountant who 
provided a non-petition letter regarding 
bankruptcy. These arrangements are 
designed to assist in achieving 
bankruptcy remoteness for the TK 
Operators.

trust bank(s) anD trust 
benefiCiary interests
The TK Operators primarily hold the 
beneficial interest in the properties 
in the TKs under a trust beneficiary 
certificate issued by a trust bank 
licensed in Japan which holds 
legal title to the properties. It is 
common practise in Japan for a 
TK Operator to hold its 
investment in property through 
these trust beneficiary 
interests (“TBIs”). Certain 
transaction levies are 
substantially reduced or 
eliminated in the case of the 
acquisition of a TBI rather 
than the acquisition of real 
property.

In the case where the TK 
Operator holds TBIs rather 
than direct legal interest, the 
TK Operator effectively has 
the same economic rights and 
obligations as if it were the 
legal owner of the property the 
subject of the TBI.

The Financial Instruments and 
Exchange Law (“FIEL”) requires a 
real estate asset management 
company in Japan to have certain 
licenses for the purposes of 
conducting discretionary asset 
management business, providing 
advice on the value of securities or 
financial instruments, and trading/
brokering of trade of securities with low 
liquidity such as trust beneficial interests 
over real estate and interests in TK 
investments. The Japan Asset Manager 
is registered as a financial instruments 
firm and is fully compliant with the FIEL in 
respect of its business activities, and the 
TK Operators are also in compliance with 
the FIEL.
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Astro Japan
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The following diagram sets out the structure of the Astro Group’s interests in its 
Japanese Investments and the management arrangements for the Astro Group 
and the Japanese Investments.
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Corporate Governance Statement 2011 

The Astro Japan Property Group (‘Astro Group’) is required under 
the ASX Listing Rules to prepare an annual Corporate 
Governance Statement (‘Statement’) and include the Statement 
in its Annual Report. The Statement must disclose the extent to 
which it has followed the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s 
Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations during 
the reporting period, identifying any ASX Recommendations that 
have not been followed and giving reasons for that variance.

The Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations are a 
set of guidelines that are ‘designed to produce an outcome that 
is effective and of high quality and integrity’. The guidelines 
articulate 8 core principles that the Council believes underlie 
good corporate governance, together with 30 recommendations 
for implementing effective corporate governance.

The Astro Group comprises the Astro Japan Property Trust (ARSN 
112 799 854) (‘AJT’) and Astro Japan Property Group Limited 
(ABN 25 135 381 663) (‘AJCo’). Astro Japan Property 
Management Limited (ABN 94 111 874 563) (‘Responsible 
Entity’) is the Responsible Entity of AJT. The units in AJT are 
stapled to the shares in AJCo, and are traded on the ASX as 
stapled securities under the code ‘AJA’.

In this Statement, the Board of the Responsible Entity (as 
responsible entity of AJT) and the Board of AJCo are jointly 
referred to as the “Board”. Due to the nature of the stapled 
structure, the Board of AJT and the Board of AJCo have the same 
composition, have adopted the same corporate governance 
policies, have adopted a common Board Charter, and have 
delegated certain responsibilities to a joint Audit, Risk & 
Compliance Committee and a joint Remuneration Committee.

This Statement is dated 1 September 2011 and outlines the 
Astro Group’s corporate governance policies and practices, and 
the extent of its compliance with the Corporate Governance 
Principles and Recommendations with 2010 Amendments (2nd 
Edition), for the reporting period 1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011. 
These policies and practices remain under constant review and 
are revised from time to time.

As at 30 June 2011 the Astro Group achieved substantial 
compliance with the ASX Principles and Recommendations. A 
table summarising the Astro Group’s compliance is provided at 
the end of this Statement. The Astro Group’s website (www.
astrojapanproperty.com) contains further information in the 
Corporate Governance section on its governance practices 
including, copies and summaries of charters, codes and policies 
referred to in this Statement.

The establishment of a sound framework of corporate 
governance and the implementation of the corresponding 
governance culture and processes throughout the Astro Group is 
one of the primary responsibilities of the Board. The Board 
recognises that it is accountable to securityholders for the 
performance of the Astro Group and, to that end, is responsible 
for instituting and ensuring the Astro Group maintains a system 
of corporate governance that operates in the best interests of 
securityholders whilst also addressing the interests of other key 
stakeholders. A comprehensive corporate governance framework 
and good governance policies and procedures can add to the 
performance of the Astro Group, the creation of securityholder 
value and engender the confidence of the investment 
community.

ASX PRINCIPLE 1: LAY SOLID FOUNDATIONS FOR 
MANAGEMENT AND OVERSIGHT
1.1 Functions of the Board and the senior executives
The Board has adopted a formal Board Charter which details the 
functions and responsibilities of the Board and distinguishes 
such functions and responsibilities from those which have been 
delegated to management. A copy of the Board Charter is in the 
Corporate Governance section at  
www.astrojapanproperty.com.

As outlined in the Board Charter, the Board is responsible for the 
management, or overseeing the management, of the affairs of 
the Astro Group including:

•	 approving and monitoring the corporate strategy, financial 
plans and objectives of the Astro Group;

•	 evaluating, approving and monitoring the annual budgets and 
business plans;

•	 determining the Astro Group’s distribution policy, the 
operations of the Astro Group’s distribution reinvestment plan 
and evaluating, approving and monitoring major capital 
expenditure, capital management and all major investments, 
divestitures and other transactions of the Astro Group, 
including the issue of securities;

•	 approving all accounting policies, financial reports and material 
reporting by the Astro Group;

•	 reviewing and evaluating the performance of the Board, each 
Board committee, and each individual Director against the 
relevant charters, corporate governance policies and agreed 
goals and objectives;

•	 appointing the Chairman and Company Secretary of 
each Board;

•	 ensuring that effective audit, risk management and regulatory 
compliance programs are in place to protect the Astro Group’s 
assets and securityholder value and approving and monitoring 
the Astro Group’s risk and audit framework;

•	 reviewing the performance and effectiveness of the Astro 
Group’s corporate governance policies and procedures;

•	 setting the goals and objectives for the Board and its 
committees each year; and

•	 overseeing the implementation of the Diversity Policy, including 
conducting an annual review and assessment of the diversity 
objectives, and an annual review of the relative proportion of 
women and men in the workforce at all levels of the Astro 
Group.

 The Board Charter also sets out specific powers and 
responsibilities of the Senior Executive (which is the Chief 
Financial Officer) including:

•	 develop with the Board, implement and monitor the strategic 
and financial plans;

•	 develop, implement and monitor the annual budgets and 
business plans;

•	 plan, implement and monitor all major capital expenditure, 
capital management and all acquisitions, divestitures, and 
other major transactions of the Astro Group, including the 
issue of any securities of the Astro Group;

•	 advise the Board on accounting policies, and develop all 
financial reports, and all other material reporting and external 
communications by or on behalf of the Astro Group, including 
material announcements and disclosures;
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•	 undertake succession planning for the key management 
positions which may be identified from time to time;

•	 develop, implement and monitor the Astro Group’s risk and 
audit management and regulatory compliance framework in 
accordance with the framework and policies defined by the 
Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee;

•	 consider and approve all major disclosures of information to 
the ASX in accordance with the Continuous Disclosure Policy 
of the Astro Group;

•	 be the primary channel of communication and point of contact 
between the executive management and the Board (and the 
Directors);

•	 ensure that the Astro Group has regard to the interests of 
employees and clients of the Astro Group and the community 
and regulatory environment in which the Astro Group operates; 
and

•	 otherwise carry out the day to day management of the 
Astro Group.

 The delegated powers to the Senior Executive are subject to the 
specific powers and authorities delegated to the Chairman and 
the Board Committees and the following powers which are 
retained by the Board:

•	 contracts, commitments and capital expenditure above 
specified thresholds and limits determined by the Board from 
time to time;

•	 expenditure outside the ordinary course of business in excess 
of thresholds or limits specified by the Board for this purpose;

•	 major strategic decisions;

•	 adoption of the Astro Group’s annual budget;

•	 approval of financial reports and accounts of the Astro Group 
which are to be lodged with any regulator, including the ASX;

•	 the issue of any equity securities by the Astro Group, except 
under a programme previously approved by the Board; and

•	 commencing or taking a significant step in major litigation.

The Board has delegated a number of its responsibilities to the 
Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee as outlined in section 4 
and the Remuneration Committee as outlined in section 8. 

1.2 Process for evaluating the performance of 
senior executives

The Board has delegated the process for evaluating the 
performance of senior executives to the Remuneration 
Committee. The Remuneration Committee assesses the 

performance of each senior executive in the context of the 
annual remuneration review, which is conducted in June. The 
Remuneration Committee conducts an assessment of each 
executive based on the individual’s performance and 
achievements during the financial year and taking into account 
the overall performance and achievements of the Astro Group. 
This assessment is made in conjunction with advice from the 
Astro Group’s Senior Advisor, Mr Eric Lucas.

A performance evaluation of the senior executives was 
conducted on 16 June 2011 in accordance with the above 
process. You should refer to section 8 of this Statement and the 
Remuneration Report in the 2011 Annual Report for further 
information regarding the role of the Remuneration Committee 
and the 2011 performance evaluation.

ASX PRINCIPLE 2: STRUCTURE THE BOARD TO ADD VALUE
2.1 Majority of independent Directors
Throughout the Financial Year the Board comprised a majority of 
independent Directors.

Since 1 January 2011, the Board comprised two independent 
non-executive Directors and an executive Director as set out in 
the below table. The executive Director, Mr Pettigrew, was an 
independent non-executive Director up until his appointment as 
Chief Financial Officer on 1 January 2011. The two independent 
non-executive Directors have been independent Directors since 
appointment. The Board has determined the independent status 
of those Directors utilising the criteria set out in ASX 
Recommendation 2.1, and neither of them have any of the 
relationships outlined in ASX Recommendation 2.1 that effect 
‘independent status’. The below table sets out details of the 
‘independent status’ and length of tenure of each Director.

The Board considers that collectively, the Directors have the 
range of skills, experience and expertise necessary to 
appropriately govern the Astro Group. Biographies of Directors 
and details regarding term in office and attendance at Board 
and/or Committee meetings are set out in the Directors’ Report 
in the 2011 Annual Report.

The Board Charter also provides that a Director is entitled to 
seek independent professional advice (including, but not limited 
to, legal, accounting and financial advice) at the Astro Group’s 
expense on any matter connected with the discharge of his or 
her responsibilities. A Director must obtain the approval of the 
Chairman prior to seeking the advice.

Name Position held
Independent 
Y/N

Date appointed to 
Responsible Entity Board

Date appointed to 
AJCo Board

Length of tenure as at 
01/09/111

Allan McDonald Non-Executive Chairman Y 19/02/05 20/03/09 6.5 years

Paula Dwyer Non-Executive Director Y 19/02/05 20/03/09 6.5 years

John Pettigrew Executive Director, 
Chief Financial Officer

N 19/02/05 20/03/09 6.5 years

1. Length of tenure calculated from year of first appointment to the Responsible Entity
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2.2 Chairperson and independence
As noted in section 2.1, the Chairman of the Board, Mr Allan 
McDonald, is an independent non-executive Director.

2.3 Roles of the Chairman and the Senior Executive
The roles of the Chairman and the Senior Executive are not 
exercised by the same individual in the Astro Group. The fact 
that the Chairman is an independent non-executive Director 
ensures that there is a clear division of responsibility between 
the Chairman and the executive functions of the Astro Group. 
The Board Charter provides that the roles of the Chairman and 
the Senior Executive must not be exercised by the same person. 
The independent roles and responsibilities of the Chairman and 
the Senior Executive are described in the Board Charter.

The Senior Executive function of the Astro Group is currently 
fulfilled by Mr John Pettigrew, executive Director and Chief 
Financial Officer.

2.4 Nomination Committee
Given the small size of the Board, the Board has not established 
a Nomination Committee. This is inconsistent with ASX 
Recommendation 2.4, although the recommendation itself 
recognises that a Nomination Committee does not provide the 
same efficiencies for smaller boards.

The Board itself takes responsibility for matters that would 
normally be delegated to a Nomination Committee and has 
processes in place to consider issues that would otherwise be 
considered by a Nomination Committee. As part of its annual 
corporate governance and self evaluation assessment as 
discussed in section 2.5, the Board considers issues such as 
whether the Board is the appropriate size and composition, 
whether it is performing its functions effectively and whether the 
Board comprises Directors with the appropriate range of skills 
and expertise. The Board also annually assesses the succession 
plan requirements for Director positions.

The Board will determine the selection of any candidates for 
election as Director taking into consideration the size and 
composition of the Board and the range of skills and expertise 
on the Board. Since listing on the ASX in 2005, there have not 
been any new Board appointments. The Board will also assess 
any proposed re-appointment of a Director to the Board. The 
Board Charter provides that ‘the Board should be of a size and 
composition that is conducive to effective decision making, with 
the benefit of a variety of perspectives and skills and in the 
interests of the Astro Group’. The Board will ensure that 
securityholders are provided with the necessary information to 
enable them to make a fully informed decision regarding the 
appointment or re-appointment of a Director.

The Board believes that its current size, composition (including 
diversity) and skill matrix is appropriate and conducive to 
effective decision making in the interests of the Astro Group. 
Biographies of Directors are set out in the Directors’ Report in 
the 2011 Annual Report.

2.5 Process for evaluating the performance of the Board, its 
Committees and individual Directors
Given the small size of the Board and the fact that it has not 
established a Nomination Committee, the Board itself is 
responsible for reviewing and monitoring its performance and the 
performance of its committees and the individual Directors.

The Board Charter requires the Board, at least once a year, to 
review and evaluate the performance of the Board, its 
committees and each individual Director against relevant 
charters, corporate governance policies and agreed goals and 
objectives. During each review and evaluation, the Board 

considers how to improve its performance and sets the goals 
and objectives for itself and its committees for the following year.

During the Financial Year:

•	 the Board conducted a self evaluation of its performance 
against its Charter, goals and objectives and also reviewed its 
corporate governance practices. The results of the evaluation 
were positive and identified that no changes were required to 
the Charter or its corporate governance practices;

•	 the Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee conducted a self 
evaluation of its performance against its Charter, goals and 
objectives. The report of the evaluation, which was reviewed by 
the Board, identified that the Committee had achieved its 
requirements under the Charter and met its objectives and 
that no changes were required to the Charter; and

•	 the Remuneration Committee conducted a self evaluation of 
its performance against its Charter, goals and objectives. The 
report of the evaluation, which was reviewed by the Board, 
identified that the Committee had achieved its requirements 
under the Charter and met its objectives and that no changes 
were required to the Charter.

ASX PRINCIPLE 3: PROMOTE ETHICAL AND RESPONSIBLE 
DECISION MAKING
3.1 Code of Conduct
The Board is committed to delivering strong returns and 
securityholder value whilst also promoting securityholder and 
general market confidence in the Astro Group and to fostering an 
ethical and transparent culture within the Astro Group.

The Directors and the Astro Group management team are 
subject to a Code of Conduct which is designed to ensure that:

•	 high standards of corporate and individual behaviour are 
observed by all Directors and employees in the context of their 
employment and in relation to all of the Astro Group’s 
activities;

•	 employees are aware of their responsibilities to the Astro 
Group under their contract of employment and always act in an 
ethical and professional manner and in the best interests of 
the Astro Group’s securityholders; and

•	 all persons dealing with the Astro Group, whether it be 
employees, securityholders, suppliers, clients or competitors, 
can be guided by the stated values and practices of the 
Astro Group.

The Code of Conduct requires Directors and employees amongst 
other things, to:

•	 act honestly and in good faith at all times and in a manner that 
is in the best interests of the Astro Group;

•	 avoid conflicts of interest between their personal interests and 
those of the Astro Group and its clients;

•	 not take advantage of opportunities arising from their position 
for personal gain or in competition with the Astro Group;

•	 comply with the Astro Group’s Securities Trading Policy and 
other policies;

•	 always deal with securityholders, clients, customers, 
suppliers, competitors and other employees in a manner that 
is lawful, diligent and fair and with honesty, integrity and 
respect; and

•	 always act in a manner that is in compliance with all laws 
and regulations.

The Code of Conduct also requires Directors and employees to 
report any actual or potential breach of the law, the Code or 
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other policies. The Astro Group will ensure that employees are 
not disadvantaged in any way for reporting violations of the Code 
or other unlawful or unethical conduct and that matters are dealt 
with promptly and fairly.

In accordance with the Code of Conduct, the Astro Group aims to 
provide a work environment in which all employees can excel 
regardless of race, religion, age, disability, gender, sexual 
preference or marital status.

The Compliance & Risk Manager has responsibility for monitoring 
and ensuring ongoing compliance with the Code. A copy of the 
Code of Conduct is in the Corporate Governance section at www.
astrojapanproperty.com.

3.2 Diversity Policy
The Astro Group is committed to workplace diversity, in particular 
gender diversity. The Astro Group recognises diversity in the 
workplace as including, but is not limited to, gender, age, 
ethnicity and cultural background.

The Astro Group recognises the benefits arising from employee 
and Board diversity, including a broader pool of high quality 
employees, improving employee retention and benefits arising 
from the contributions of people with diverse backgrounds, 
experiences and perspectives.

The Board has adopted a Diversity Policy under which it seeks to 
achieve the following objectives to develop and maintain a 
diverse workplace:

•	 maintain a workplace culture that values and utilises the 
contributions of employees with diverse backgrounds, 
experiences and perspectives through improved awareness of 
the benefits of workforce diversity and successful 
management of diversity;

•	 maintain a workplace culture in which employees have equal 
access to opportunities available at work, in particular to 
improve employment and career opportunities for women; and

•	 recruit from a diverse pool of candidates for all positions 
including senior management and Board.

Under the Policy and the Board Charter, the Board must 
establish gender diversity related measurable objectives for the 
Astro Group, and annually review and assess the measurable 
gender diversity objectives and the progress towards achieving 
those objectives.

In accordance with the Policy, it is the responsibility of the 
Directors to foster a culture at the Board level that embraces 
diversity in the composition of the Board, with a focus on the 
participation of women, and it is the responsibility of the Chief 
Financial Officer (or equivalent) to implement the principles of 
the Diversity Policy across the Astro Group workplace and to 
foster a culture that embraces diversity within the workplace.

A copy of the Diversity Policy is in the Corporate Governance 
section at www.astrojapanproperty.com.

3.3 Measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity
In accordance with the Diversity Policy, the Board has 
established the following measurable gender diversity objective:

  The measurable gender diversity objective is that for each 
available position within the Astro Group, 50% of the candidates 
considered for the position be female and 50% male.

The Board believes that, given the small size of the Astro Group 
work force (6 employees as at 30 June 2011), the objective is 
appropriate for the purposes of seeking to achieve a diverse 
workforce by ensuring that a broad and diverse pool of 
candidates are considered for each position. Since the adoption 

of the objective on 10 November 2010, there have been no 
available positions within the Astro Group so there has been no 
change to the diversity matrix of the workforce during that time.

3.4 Proportion of women employees in the Astro Group
In accordance with the Diversity Policy and the Board Charter, 
the Board is responsible for conducting an annual review of the 
relative proportion of women and men in the workforce at all 
levels of the Astro Group.

The below table sets out details of the relative proportion of 
women and men in the Astro Group workforce as at 
30 June 2011.

Gender Proportion of 
women/men 
employees at 
Board level

Proportion of 
women/men 
employees in senior 
executive positions

Proportion of women/
men employees across 
the whole Astro Group

Women 1 out of 3 
positions 
– 33%

0 out of 2 
positions  
– 0%

2 out of 6 
positions 
– 33%

Men 2 out of 3 
positions 
– 66%

2 out of 2 
positions 
– 100%

4 out of 6 
positions 
– 66%

ASX PRINCIPLE 4: SAFEGUARD INTEGRITY IN FINANCIAL 
REPORTING
4.1 Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee
The Board has established an Audit, Risk & Compliance 
Committee. The role of the Committee is to:

•	 assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities for the 
financial reporting process, the system of internal control 
relating to all matters affecting the Astro Group’s financial 
performance and the audit process relating to the Astro Group;

•	 implement and supervise the Astro Group’s risk management 
framework;

•	 assist the Board to discharge its responsibilities under the AJT 
Compliance Plan adopted by the Responsible Entity; and

•	 monitor compliance with laws and regulations applicable to the 
Astro Group.

4.2 Structure of the Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee
ASX Recommendation 4.2 states that an audit committee 
should be structured so that it:
•	consists only of non-executive Directors

•	consists of a majority of independent Directors

•	 is chaired by an independent chair, who is not chair of 
the board

•	has at least three members

The structure of the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee 
(Committee) was consistent with this Recommendation during 
the first half of the Financial Year as the Committee comprised 
only independent non-executive Directors, had an independent 
non-executive Chairman who was not the Chairman of the Board 
and had three members. During that period, the Committee 
comprised Ms Paula Dwyer (independent non-executive 
Committee Chairman), Mr Allan McDonald and Mr John 
Pettigrew.

Mr Pettigrew was appointed Chief Financial Officer on 
1 January 2011 and at that time ceased being a member of the 
Committee on the basis that he was no longer a non-executive 
independent Director. As a consequence, during the second half 
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of the Financial Year the structure of the Committee did not 
satisfy the requirement of having ‘at least three members’. The 
structure of the Committee did however satisfy the three other 
requirements under the Recommendation. The composition of 
the Board and the Committee is under review by the Board and 
at an appropriate time will appoint an additional non-executive 
independent Director and member of the Committee. The Board 
considers that during the Financial Year the Committee was of a 
sufficient size and independence to discharge its mandate 
effectively in accordance with its Charter.

All members of the Committee during the Financial Year 
possessed the requisite financial expertise. Biographies of 
Committee members are set out in the Directors’ Report in the 
2011 Annual Report.

4.3 Charter of the Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee
The Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee has adopted a formal 
Charter. A copy of the ARCC Charter is in the Corporate 
Governance section at www.astrojapanproperty.com.

The Charter sets out the Committee’s role and responsibilities, 
composition, structure and membership requirements and 
procedural requirements of meetings. The Charter specifically 
sets out the responsibilities of the Committee with respect to 
financial statements, internal control, external financial audit 
(including procedures regarding appointment/removal and terms 
of engagement with the external auditor), risk management, 
compliance and reporting.

The Committee meets as required but generally not less than 
four times a year. The Committee reports to the Board following 
each meeting and makes recommendations to the Board. The 
Committee met four times during the Financial Year, and details 
of member attendance are set out in the Directors’ Report in the 
2011 Annual Report.

The Committee provides an annual report to the Board on its 
performance against its Charter, goals and objectives, including 
details of any proposed goals and objectives for the coming year, 
and any recommended changes or improvements to its Charter.

ASX PRINCIPLE 5: MAKE TIMELY AND BALANCED DISCLOSURE
5.1 Continuous Disclosure Policy
The Astro Group is committed to complying with its continuous 
disclosure obligations pursuant to the ASX Listing Rules. The 
Astro Group’s Continuous Disclosure Policy is designed to ensure 
that all securityholders have equal and timely access to material 
information concerning the Astro Group. The Astro Group has, at 
all times during the Financial Year, been in compliance with its 
continuous disclosure obligations under the ASX Listing Rules.

The Company Secretary plays an important role in the Astro 
Group’s disclosure compliance programme. The Company 
Secretary is the person principally responsible for maintaining 
the Continuous Disclosure Policy and is the liaison between the 
Board and the ASX.

The Policy is designed to ensure that materially price sensitive 
information arising from any part of the Astro Group is 
immediately notified to the ASX in a complete, balanced and 
timely manner, unless it falls within the scope of the limited 
exemptions contained in Listing Rule 3.1A.

The Company Secretary, in conjunction with the Chairman and 
the Senior Executive, are responsible for overseeing the 
implementation and operation of the Policy. This includes:

•	 reviewing information reported by the Astro Group 
management team, which is or may be material;

•	 determining, in consultation with the Directors and other 
senior staff, whether any such information is required to be 
disclosed to the ASX; and

•	 if disclosure is required, preparing, in consultation with 
the Directors and other senior staff, the actual form 
of disclosure.

The Astro Group management team are required to be 
familiar with the Policy and must immediately report 
material information to the Company Secretary that may 
require disclosure.

A copy of the Continuous Disclosure Policy is in the Corporate 
Governance section at www.astrojapanproperty.com.

ASX PRINCIPLE 6: RESPECT THE RIGHTS OF SECURITYHOLDERS
6.1 Communications with securityholders
The Astro Group’s policy on communications is contained within 
its Continuous Disclosure Policy. The Astro Group is committed 
to communicating with its securityholders in an effective and 
timely manner to provide them with ready access to information 
relating to the Astro Group.

The communications policy consists of the following elements:

•	 the maintenance of a website at www.astrojapanproperty.com. 
The Astro Group encourages securityholders to utilise its 
website as their primary tool to access securityholder 
information and disclosures. The website provides access to 
the following information of interest to the Astro Group 
securityholders which is contained in the Investor Information 
section and the ASX Announcement section:

  –  detailed information regarding the Board, executive 
management and the business and activities of the 
Astro Group;

  –  all ASX announcements and media releases since listing 
on the ASX in 2005, which are posted on the website 
promptly following release;

  – copies of full-year and half-year financial reports;

  –  copies of charters and relevant corporate 
governance policies;

  – copies of the Astro Group’s Annual Reports;

  –  copies of disclosure documents relating to the Astro 
Group’s capital raisings; and

  –  the details of the Astro Group’s Security Registry, Link 
Market Services, including a link to its website which 
includes a facility for securityholders to amend 
their particulars;

•	 the Company Secretary is appointed as the person 
responsible for communications with ASX, and is the person 
principally responsible for maintaining the Continuous 
Disclosure Policy;

•	 communication with the media, analysts and the market 
generally in relation to the Astro Group activities will normally 
be undertaken by the Chairman, the Senior Executive and any 
person who is expressly authorised by the Chairman;

•	 no media release of a material nature will be issued unless it 
has first been disclosed to the ASX; and

•	 the Astro Group recognises the importance of the relationship 
between the Astro Group, securityholders and analysts. From 
time to time the Astro Group conducts analyst and 
securityholder briefings and in these situations the following 
protocols apply:
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  –   no price sensitive information will be disclosed at these 
briefings unless it has been previously, or is 
simultaneously, released to the market;

  –  in order to preserve transparency and confidence in the 
Astro Group’s disclosure practices all information given to 
analysts at a briefing, such as presentation slides, will 
also be provided to the Company Secretary for immediate 
release to the ASX and posted on the Astro Group’s 
website; and

  –  all dealings with analysts will be carefully monitored by 
those employees participating in such dealings to ensure 
that material non-public information is not inadvertently 
disclosed and if it is, to immediately disclose that 
information to the ASX.

In addition, the Annual Report facilitates the provision to 
securityholders on a yearly basis of detailed information in 
respect of the major achievements, financial results and 
strategic direction of the Astro Group. Astro Group 
securityholders are encouraged to receive the Annual Report 
online for environmental reasons and to reduce cost. A printed 
copy of the Annual Report is only sent to those securityholders 
who elect to receive it. A majority of securityholders have elected 
to receive the Annual Report electronically.

The Astro Group also provides a group briefing on the full year 
results and half year results via a conference call and webcast 
facility following the release of the results to the ASX. Advance 
notification and invitation to the results presentation is provided 
to all securityholders and other stakeholders who have 
subscribed to the Astro Group investor relations email database 
through the Group’s website. The audio file of each results 
presentation is also maintained on the website for a period of 
time for future access by securityholders and other 
stakeholders.

The Astro Group also encourages securityholders to attend 
general meetings and to use these opportunities to ask 
questions. The Astro Group encourages securityholders to elect 
to receive electronic distribution of meeting documentation and 
places the full text of notices of meeting and explanatory 
memorandum on its website.

ASX PRINCIPLE 7: RECOGNISE AND MANAGE RISK
7.1 Risk management compliance framework
Management of risk continues to be a primary objective of the 
Astro Group in all its business activities. The Astro Group is 
committed to ensuring that its system of risk oversight, 
management and internal control complies with the 
ASX Principle 7.

The Astro Group has adopted a Risk Management Policy which is 
intended to:

•	 communicate the roles and accountabilities of participants in 
the risk management system;

•	 provide a framework for identifying, assessing, monitoring and 
managing risk; and

•	 highlight the status of risks to which the Astro Group 
is exposed.

The Policy sets out the Astro Group’s risk management system 
that has been established to identify risks that could have a 
material impact on the Astro Group business. The Policy is 
consistent with guidance on risk management in AS/NZS ISO 
31000:2009 (Risk management – principles and guidelines). 
In addition to the Policy, a Risk Register is maintained that sets 
out a list of potential sources of material business risks that 

could impact the Astro Group which is used by management to 
identify and manage risks to the Astro Group business.

The Board is ultimately responsible for overseeing and managing 
the material risks of the Astro Group. The Audit, Risk & 
Compliance Committee assists the Board in this role. In 
accordance with its Charter, the role of the Committee includes 
consideration of the overall risk management framework of the 
Astro Group and the review of its effectiveness in meeting sound 
corporate governance principles, reviewing and managing the 
system for identifying, managing and monitoring the key risks of 
the Astro Group and obtaining reports from management on the 
status of any key risk exposures or incidents. In undertaking 
these responsibilities, the Committee principally relies on the 
resources and expertise of management to implement and 
report upon the risk management systems and procedures, 
which enables the Committee to keep the Board informed of all 
material business risks.

7.2 Risk management and internal control system
The Compliance & Risk Manager and the Senior Executive play a 
key role in designing and implementing the Astro Group’s risk 
management and internal control system. The system is 
reviewed and approved by the Audit, Risk & Compliance 
Committee and ultimately adopted by the Board upon 
recommendation by the Committee. The system is documented 
in the Risk Management Policy and also includes the Risk 
Register as outlined above.

As part of the risk management system, the Compliance & Risk 
Manager and the Senior Executive provide a quarterly report to 
the Committee that identifies material business risks and the 
actions being taken to manage those risks. Management of any 
material business risks occurs on a daily basis. The 
implementation of action plans to address material business 
risks are monitored via regular meetings with key management. 
As part of the quarterly report, confirmation is provided to the 
Committee as to the effectiveness of the Astro Group’s 
management of any material business risks in accordance with 
the risk management and internal control system during the 
period. The Committee reports any significant risk issues to 
the Board.

The Astro Group’s compliance function also has an important 
role in risk management. The compliance function operates to 
ensure that the Astro Group complies with regulatory and legal 
requirements across its businesses, divisions and functions. In 
accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act, the 
Responsible Entity has established a Compliance Plan which 
sets out procedures adopted by the Responsible Entity in 
operating AJT to ensure compliance with the Corporations Act, 
the Constitution of AJT, the Responsible Entity’s licence 
obligations and other regulatory parameters. The discharge by 
the Responsible Entity of its obligations under the Compliance 
Plan is also monitored by the Audit, Risk & Compliance 
Committee. This is the primary tool by which the Responsible 
Entity manages the legal and regulatory risks associated 
with AJT.

The Compliance & Risk Manager administers the Compliance 
Plan for the Astro Group and reports to the Committee. An audit 
of the manner in which the Responsible Entity has discharged its 
obligations under the Compliance Plan is undertaken by an 
independent third party auditor on an annual basis, with interim 
reviews on a half yearly basis.

Due to the size of the Australian operations of the Astro Group, 
there was no internal audit function during the Financial Year. 
Consequently, the Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee places 
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greater reliance on the external auditors with respect to 
these matters.

7.3 Chief Financial Officer assurance

The Chief Financial Officer has stated to the Board in writing that 
the declaration provided in accordance with section 295A of the 
Corporations Act is founded on a sound system of risk 
management and internal control and that the system was 
operating effectively in all material respects in relation to 
financial reporting risks during the 12 month period to 
30 June 2011.

ASX PRINCIPLE 8: REMUNERATE FAIRLY AND RESPONSIBLY
8.1 Remuneration Committee
The Board has established a Remuneration Committee. The 
Remuneration Committee meets annually for the purposes of 
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the 
level of remuneration of the senior executives and the Directors. 
The Remuneration Committee endeavours to ensure that the 
remuneration outcomes strike an appropriate balance between 
the interests of the Astro Group securityholders, and rewarding, 
retaining and motivating the senior executives and the Directors.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted a formal Charter 
which sets out, amongst other things, the role and 
responsibilities of the Committee. The Charter provides that the 
Committee’s function is to support and advise the Board in 
fulfilling its responsibilities to securityholders, employees and 
other stakeholders by endeavouring to ensure that:

•	 the Directors and senior management are remunerated fairly 
and appropriately;

•	 the remuneration policies and outcomes strike an appropriate 
balance between the interests of the Astro Group’s 
securityholders and rewarding and motivating the Astro 
Group’s executives and employees in order to secure the long 
term benefits of their energy and loyalty; and

•	 the human resources policies and practices are consistent 
with and complementary to the strategic direction and 
objectives of the Astro Group as determined by the Board.

The Committee conducts an annual remuneration review of each 
senior executive and the non-executive Directors and provides a 
report to the Board which includes its recommendation. Further 
details on the role of the Committee and the 2011 remuneration 
review are set out in the Remuneration Report in the 2011 
Annual Report.

A copy of the Remuneration Committee Charter is in the 
Corporate Governance section at www.astrojapanproperty.com.

8.2 Structure of the Remuneration Committee
ASX Recommendation 8.2 states that a remuneration committee 
should be structured so that it:

•	consists of a majority of independent Directors

•	is chaired by an independent chair

•	has at least three members

The structure of the Remuneration Committee (Committee) was 
consistent with this Recommendation during the first half of the 
Financial Year as the Committee comprised only non-executive 
independent Directors, had a non-executive independent 
Chairman and had three members. During that period, the 
Committee comprised Mr John Pettigrew (independent Chair), 
Ms Paula Dwyer and Mr Allan McDonald.

Mr Pettigrew was appointed Chief Financial Officer on 
1 January 2011 and at that time ceased being a member of 
the Committee on the basis that the Board considered that an 
executive Director should not be a member of the Remuneration 
Committee. As a consequence, during the second half of the 
Financial Year the structure of the Committee did not satisfy the 
requirement of having ‘at least three members’. The structure of 
the Committee did however satisfy the two other requirements 
under the Recommendation. The composition of the Board and 
the Committee is under review by the Board and at an 
appropriate time will appoint an additional non-executive 
independent Director and member of the Committee. The Board 
considers that during the Financial Year the Committee was of a 
sufficient size and independence to discharge its mandate 
effectively in accordance with its Charter.

The Committee meets as required but generally two times a 
year. The Committee reports to the Board following each meeting 
and makes recommendations to the Board. The Committee met 
twice during the Financial Year, and details of member 
attendance are set out in the Directors’ Report in the 2011 
Annual Report.

8.3 Companies should clearly distinguish the structure of 
non-executive Directors’ remuneration from that of executive 
Directors and senior executives
The Board determines the remuneration structure of non-
executive Directors, executive Directors and senior executives 
based on the recommendation of the Remuneration Committee.

The non-executive Directors are paid an annual fee for their 
services on the Board and all committees of the Board. The 
non-executive Directors do not receive any performance based 
remuneration or any retirement benefits other than statutory 
superannuation and do not receive options or bonus payments. 
The non-executive Directors’ fees, including committee fees, are 
annually reviewed by the Remuneration Committee, taking into 
consideration the level of fees paid to non-executive Directors by 
companies of a similar size and stature. Fees paid to non-
executive Directors must fall within the aggregate fee pool 
approved by securityholders.

The remuneration of the executive Director and the other senior 
executive consists of two components: base pay and benefits, 
including superannuation; and short term incentives. Base pay is 
determined by reference to appropriate benchmark information, 
taking into account an individual’s responsibilities, performance, 
qualifications and experience. Any short term incentive entitlement 
is entirely at the discretion of the Committee and any discretionary 
STI is determined based on the results of the Committee’s annual 
assessment of each individual. Any STI entitlement is paid in cash 
and is paid in June/July each year. The remuneration is annually 
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee.

The remuneration of Directors and senior executives does not 
include any equity based remuneration schemes.

Current fees and emoluments are fully disclosed in the 
Remuneration Report in the 2011 Annual Report.
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ASX CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COUNCIL
Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations 

ASX Principle Reference
Comply  
(Y/N)

Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for management and oversight

1.1 Companies should establish the functions reserved to the board 
and those delegated to senior executives and disclose those 
functions

Section 1.1 of Corporate 
Governance Statement

Y

1.2 Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the 
performance of senior executives

Section 1.2 Y

1.3 Companies should provide the following information:
–  an explanation of any departure from Recommendations 1.1,1.2 

or 1.3
N/A -

–  whether a performance evaluation for senior executives has taken 
place in the reporting period and whether it was in accordance 
with the process disclosed.

Section 1.2 Y

A statement of matters reserved for the board, or the board charter 
or the statement of areas of delegated authority to senior executives 
should be made publicly available, ideally by posting it to the 
company’s website in a clearly marked corporate governance 
section.

Section 1.1 and the 
Board Charter can be found at 
www.astrojapanproperty.com (refer 
to corporate governance section)

Y

Principle 2: Structure the board to add value

2.1 A majority of the board should be independent directors Section 2.1 Y
2.2 The chair should be an independent director Section 2.2 Y
2.3 The roles of chair and chief executive officer should not be exercised 

by the same individual
Section 2.3 Y

2.4 The board should establish a nomination committee. 
The nomination committee should be structured so that it:

Section 2.4 N

– consists of a majority of independent directors

– is chaired by an independent director

– has at least three members
2.5 Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the 

performance of the board, its committees and individual directors.
Section 2.5 Y

2.6 Companies should provide the following information in the corporate 
governance statement of the annual report:
–  the skills, experience and expertise relevant to the position of 

director held by each director in the office at the date of the 
annual report

Section 2.1 – cross reference to 
Directors’ biographies

Y

–  the names of the directors considered by the board to constitute 
independent directors and the company’s materiality thresholds

Section 2.1 Y

–  the existence of any of the relationships listed in Box 2.1 and an 
explanation of why the board considers a director to be 
independent, notwithstanding the existence of those relationships

Section 2.1 Y

–  a statement as to whether there is a procedure agreed by the 
board for directors to take independent professional advice at the 
expense of the company

Section 2.1 Y

–  a statement as to the mix of skills and diversity for which the 
board of directors is looking to achieve in membership of theboard

Section 2.1 Y

–  the period of office held by each director in office at the date of 
the annual report

Section 2.1 Y

–  the names of members of the nomination committee and their 
attendance at meetings of the committee

Section 2.4 N

–  whether a performance evaluation for the board, its committee 
and directors has taken place in the reporting period and whether 
it was in accordance with the process disclosed

Section 2.5 Y

–  an explanation of any departures from Recommendations 2.1, 
2.2, 2.3, 2.4, 2.5 or 2.6

Section 2.4 Y
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ASX Principle Reference
Comply  
(Y/N)

The following material should be made publicly available, ideally by 
posting it to the company’s website in a clearly marked corporate 
governance section:
–  a description of the procedure for the selection and appointment 

of new directors and the re-election of incumbent directors
Section 2.4 Y

–  the charter of the nomination committee or a summary of the role, 
rights, responsibilities and membership requirement for that 
committee

N/A – refer to section 2.4 -

–  the board’s policy for the nomination and appointment of directors Section 2.4 Y

Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision making

3.1 Companies should establish a code of conduct and disclose the 
code or a summary of the code as to:

–  the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the 
company’s integrity

–  the practices necessary to take into account their legal obligations 
and the reasonable expectations of their stakeholders

–  the responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting and 
investigating reports of unethical practices

Section 3.1 and the Code of 
Conduct can be found at  
www.astrojapanproperty.com  
(refer to corporate governance 
section)

Y

3.2 Companies should establish a policy concerning diversity and 
disclose the policy or a summary of that policy.  The policy should 
include requirements for the board to establish measurable 
objectives for achieving gender diversity and for the board to assess 
annually both the objectives and progress in achieving them.

Section 3.2 Y

3.3 Companies should disclose in each annual report the measurable 
objectives for achieving gender diversity set by the board in 
accordance with the diversity policy and progress towards 
achieving them.

Section 3.3 Y

3.4 Companies should disclose in each annual report the proportion of 
women employees in the whole organisation, women in senior 
executive positions and women on the board.

Section 3.4 Y

3.5 Companies should provide the following information:
–  an explanation of any departures from Recommendations 3.1, 

3.2, 3.3, 3.4 or 3.5
 N/A

The following material should be made publicly available, ideally by 
posting it to the company’s website in a clearly marked corporate 
governance section:
– any applicable code of conduct or a summary Section 3.1 and the Code of 

Conduct can be found at www.
astrojapanproperty.com (refer to 
corporate governance section)

Y

– the diversity policy or a summary of its main provisions Section 3.2 and the Diversity 
Policy can be found at www.
astrojapanproperty.com (refer to 
corporate governance section)

Y

Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in financial reporting

4.1 The board should establish an audit committee Section 4.1 Y
4.2 The audit committee should be structured so that it: Section 4.2 Y for part of FY

– consists only of non-executive directors N for part of FY
– consists of a majority of independent directors
–  is chaired by an independent chair, who is not chair of the board
– has at least three members

4.3 The audit committee should have a formal charter Section 4.3 Y
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ASX Principle Reference
Comply  
(Y/N)

4.4 Companies should provide the following information:
–  the names and qualifications of those appointed to the audit 

committee and their attendance at meetings of the committee
Sections 4.2 and 4.3 Y

– the number of meetings of the audit committee Section 4.3 Y
–  explanation of any departures from Recommendations 4.1, 4.2, 

4.3 or 4.4
Section 4.2 Y

The following material should be made publicly available, ideally by 
posting it to the company’s website in a clearly marked corporate 
governance section:
– the audit committee charter Section 4.3 and the ARCC Charter 

can be found at www.
astrojapanproperty.com (refer to 
corporate governance section)

Y
–  information on procedures for the selection and appointment of 

the external auditor, and for the rotation of external audit 
engagement partners

Principle 5: Make timely and balanced disclosure

5.1 Companies should establish written policies designed to ensure 
compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure requirements and to 
ensure accountability at senior executive level for that compliance 
and disclose those policies or a summary of those policies.

Section 5.1 and the Continuous 
Disclosure Policy can be found at 
www.astrojapanproperty.com (refer 
to corporate governance section)

Y

5.2 An explanation of any departures from Recommendations 5.1 or 5.2 
should be included in the corporate governance statement in the 
annual report. 

N/A -

The policies or a summary of those policies designed to guide 
compliance with Listing Rule disclosure requirements should be 
made publicly available, ideally by posting them to the company’s 
website in a clearly marked corporate governance section.

Section 5.1 and the Continuous 
Disclosure Policy can be found at 
www.astrojapanproperty.com (refer 
to corporate governance section)

Y

Principle 6: Respect the rights of shareholders

6.1 Companies should design a communications policy for promoting 
effective communication with shareholders and encouraging their 
participation at general meetings and disclose their policy or a 
summary of that policy.

Section 6.1 and the Continuous 
Disclosure Policy which includes 
the communications policy can be 
found at www.astrojapanproperty.
com (refer to corporate governance 
section)

Y

6.2 An explanation of any departure from Recommendations 6.1 or 6.2 
should be included in the corporate governance statement in the 
annual report.

N/A -

The company should describe how it will communicate with its 
shareholders publicly, ideally by posting this information on the 
company’s website in a clearly market corporate governance 
section.

Section 6.1 Y

Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk

7.1 Companies should establish policies for the oversight and 
management of material business risks and disclose a summary of 
those policies.

Section 7.1 Y

7.2 The board should require management to design and implement the 
risk management and internal control system to manage the 
company’s material business risks and report to it on whether those 
risks are being managed effectively. The board should disclose that 
management has reported to it as to the effectiveness of the 
company’s management of its material business risks.

Section 7.2 Y

7.3 The board should disclose whether it has received assurance from 
the chief executive officer (or equivalent) and the chief financial 
officer (or equivalent) that the declaration provided in accordance 
with section 295A of the Corporations Act is founded on a sound 
system of risk management and internal control and that the system 
is operating effectively in all material respects in relation to financial 
reporting risks.

Section 7.3 Y
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ASX Principle Reference
Comply  
(Y/N)

7.4 The following material should be included in the corporate 
governance statement in the annual report:
–  an explanation of any departures from Recommendations 

7.1,7.2,7.3 or 7.4
N/A -

–  whether the board has received the report from management 
under Recommendation 7.2

Section 7.2 Y

–  whether the board has received assurance from the chief 
executive officer (or equivalent) and the chief financial officer (or 
equivalent) under Recommendation 7.3

Section 7.3 Y

The following material should be made publicly available, ideally by 
posting it to the company’s website in a clearly marked corporate 
governance section:
–  a summary of the company’s policies on risk oversight and 

management of material business risks
Section 7.1 and a summary of the 
Risk Management Policy can be 
found at www.astrojapanproperty.
com (refer to corporate governance 
section)

Y

Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly

8.1 The board should establish a remuneration committee. Section 8.1 Y
8.2 The Remuneration Committee should be structured so that it: Section 8.2 Y for part of FY

– consists of a majority of independent directors N for part of FY
– is chaired by an independent chair
– has a least three members

8.3 Companies should clearly distinguish the structure of non-executive 
director’s remuneration from that of executive directors and senior 
executives.

Section 8.2 Y

8.4 The following material or a clear cross reference to the location 
of the material should be included in the corporate governance 
statement in the annual report:
–  the names of the members of the remuneration committee and 

their attendance at meetings of the committee
Section 8.1 Y

–  the existence and terms of any schemes for retirement 
benefits, other than superannuation, for non-executive directors

Section 8.2 Y

–  an explanation of any departures from Recommendations 8.1, 
8.2, 8.3 or 8.4

Section 8.2 Y

The following material should be made publicly available, ideally 
by posting it to the company’s website in a clearly marked 
corporate governance section:
–  the charter of the remuneration committee or a summary of the 

role, rights, responsibilities and membership requirements for 
that committee

Section 8.1 and the REMC 
Charter can be found at www.
astrojapanproperty.com (refer to 
corporate governance section)

Y

–  a summary of the company’s policy on prohibiting entering into 
transactions in associated products which limit the economic 
risk of participating in unvested entitlements under any 
equity-based remuneration schemes

N/A refer to section 8.2 -
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 Directors’ ReportDIRECTORS' REPORT
for the year ended 30 June 2011

For the purposes of this Directors‟ Report:

The Astro Japan Property Group

Principal activities

Financial and operating review

The Astro Group made a loss after income tax of $22,004k for the year ended 30 June 2011 (30 June 2010: loss $111,922k).  

Year ended Year ended
30/06/2011 30/06/2010

$’000 $’000
Profit/(loss) for the year (22,004) (111,922)
Fair value adjustments to investment property 76,510 150,662
Gain on disposal of investment properties (2,416) -
Impairment of goodwill 5,000 7,000
Gain on derivatives (23,712) (7,642)
Net foreign exchange loss 3,317 105
Deferred tax on fair value adjustments to investment property 1,919 3,921
Operating profit after tax 38,614 42,124

 
Financial results - portfolio performance and highlights

The Astro Group had interests in 41 properties at 30 June 2011 (30 June 2010: 43).

Net property income (after property expenses) from interests in investment properties is set out below:

Year ended Year ended
30/06/2011 30/06/2010

$’000 $’000
Retail 42,046 41,461
Office 28,260 32,975
Residential 7,195 7,990
Total net property income from interests in investment properties 77,501 82,426

Operating profit adjusts the Astro Group‟s statutory loss after income tax for the year ended 30 June 2011 to reflect the Directors‟ 
assessment of the underlying business activities of the Astro Group.  Operating profit excludes fair value adjustments to investment 
property, gain on disposal of investment properties, impairment of goodwill, gain on derivatives, net foreign exchange loss and deferred 
tax on fair value adjustments to investment property.  The effect of those items is set out below:

• references to „TK Operator‟ means each or any of the five Japanese special purpose companies through which the Astro Group invests 
in Japan, namely JPT Co. Ltd. (JPT), JPT Corporate Co. Ltd. (JPTC), JPT Scarlett Co. Ltd. (JPTS), JPT Direct Co. Ltd. (JPTD), and JPT 
August Co. Ltd (JPTA); and
• references to „TK‟ means the contractual relationship between a TK Operator and AJT, which is documented in a „TK Agreement‟.

The stapled securities of the Astro Group are quoted on the Australian Securities Exchange under the code AJA and each stapled 
security comprises one unit in AJT and one share in AJCo.  Each entity forming part of the Astro Group is a separate legal entity in its 
own right under the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) and is therefore required to comply with the reporting and disclosure requirements under 
the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), Australian Accounting Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board and Urgent Issues Group Interpretations.

The registered office and principal place of business of the Responsible Entity, AJT and AJCo is Suite 1 Level 14, 50 Pitt Street, Sydney 
NSW 2000.

The principal activities of the Astro Group, which remain unchanged from 30 June 2010, were investments in interests in properties, 
holding a 30% economic interest in Spring Investment Co. Ltd ("Japan Asset Manager"), the manager of the Astro Group‟s property 
interests, and conducting management services as Responsible Entity of AJT through ownership of Astro Japan Property Management 
Limited ("Responsible Entity").

The following provides a summary of the Astro Group's performance for the year ended 30 June 2011.

The Directors of Astro Japan Property Management Limited (ABN 94 111 874 563) ("Responsible Entity"), as the Responsible Entity of 
Astro Japan Property Trust (ARSN 112 799 854) ("AJT"), present their report together with the consolidated financial statements of the 
Astro Japan Property Group, for the year ended 30 June 2011.  The Astro Japan Property Group ("Astro Group") comprises Astro Japan 
Property Trust (ARSN 112 799 854) and its controlled entities, and Astro Japan Property Group Limited (ABN 25 135 381 663) ("AJCo"), 
and its controlled entities. 
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
for the year ended 30 June 2011

Fair value of investment properties

Capital management

• Removal of the counterparty‟s annual option to terminate;

• Relaxation of the securityholders‟ equity covenant from $250 million to $200 million;

Debt Maturities

In accordance with the Astro Group‟s investment property accounting policy, the Astro Group assessed the fair value of investment 
properties during the year which resulted in a revaluation downward of $76,510,000 to $1,201,442,000 (Year ended 30 June 2010: 
revaluation downward of $150,662,000 to $1,504,995,000).

Subsequent to balance date, the Responsible Entity renegotiated with the counterparty the terms of the capital hedge facility in respect of 
the remaining instruments. The following key terms have been agreed:

Following significant change in capital markets as a consequence of the Global Financial Crisis in 2008, the Responsible Entity has been 
coordinating closely with the Japan Asset Manager in the latter‟s efforts to minimise risk associated with debt facilities in each of the five 
TK Operators. Three of these debt facilities have been extended to 2015 and 2016 and discussions continue with the common lender to 
the other two TK Operators about the possibility of refinancing the loans. The first is the loan to JPTD of ¥15.5 billion ($180 million 
approximately) which is due to mature on 31 May 2012. The second is a loan to JPTA of ¥18.8 billion ($218 million approximately) which 
is due to mature in August, 2012. Given the high current loan to value ratios of these loans, it is likely that JPTD cannot be refinanced in 
full and it is all but certain that JPTA cannot be refinanced in full. The Japan Asset Manager is continuing negotiations with the current 
lender and other financial institutions. This remains a key priority for both the Responsible Entity and the Japan Asset Manager. 

• Mandatory termination of all outstanding hedges if JPY/A$ rises to 73 between now and February, 2012 and to 75 from that date to 
the termination of the facility in August, 2014; 
• Settlement funds due to the counterparty on maturity of remaining hedges to be paid out of existing collateral, which was posted with 
the counterparty in August 2009; 

• Relaxation of the default provisions so that if there is a default by one of the TK Operators on its loan or other obligations, this will no 
longer give rise to a right to accelerate settlement of the capital hedges.

On 31 March 2011, the refinancing of a senior loan to JPTC due to mature in December 2012 was completed, with the closing of a new 
senior loan of ¥17.583 billion (approx. A$204 million at the time of refinancing), maturing in March 2016.  This new loan was provided by 
the existing lender and as part of the refinancing JPTC repaid ¥2.5 billion (approx. A$29 million) of the existing loan from the proceeds of 
the Astro Group institutional placement completed on 14 March 2011 plus a portion of existing Astro Group cash reserves.

On 8 April 2011, the Astro Group monetised 50% of the capital hedge instrument due to mature in 2016, with the remaining 50% 
monetised on 4 May 2011 at an average rate of ¥88.55:A$.  The total loss of $2,904,000 realised on this monetisation was cash-settled 
from the collateral held in Japanese Yen which was posted with the counterparty on 12 August 2009.  Details of the remaining capital 
hedge instruments are given in Note 26(a)(ii) Financial Risk Management: Currency Risk - Capital Hedges.

On 29 September 2010 two office properties, Kokusai Nihombashi and Prime Tsukiji, in which the Astro Group held interests were sold.  
The sale price of Kokusai Nihombashi was a 9% premium to the most recent fair value of the asset of $43,643,000 (as at 30 June 2010), 
however this represented a 36% discount to the original purchase price.  The sale price of Prime Tsukiji was a 6% premium to the most 
recent fair value of the asset of $10,398,000 (as at 30 June 2010), however this represented an 8% discount to the original purchase 
price.  Following the disposals, $55,508,000 of debt was repaid by JPTS, the TK Operator which held those properties.

At the Annual General Meeting on 10 November 2010 securityholders voted in favour of a consolidation of the Astro Group stapled 
securities.  The Astro Group consolidated every 10 stapled securities into 1 stapled security with effect from 19 January 2011.  Where the 
consolidation resulted in a fraction of a security being held by a securityholder, that fraction was rounded up to the nearest whole security.  
Following the consolidation there were 50,821,741 stapled securities on issue.

On 22 December 2010, the refinancing of a senior loan to JPTS due to mature in December 2010 was completed, with the closing of a 
new senior loan of ¥13.73 billion (approx. A$165 million at the time of refinancing), maturing in April 2015.

On 14 March 2011, the Astro Group completed a fully underwritten institutional placement of 7,623,261 new stapled securities at an issue 
price of $3.09 per stapled security.  A total of approximately $23,556,000 was raised with total transaction costs of $514,000.  Following 
the placement there were 58,445,002 stapled securities on issue.

The properties in which the Astro Group holds an interest did not sustain any material damage as a result of the earthquake and tsunami 
that struck Northern Japan on 11 March 2011.
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AJT, the parent entity of the Astro Group, has an obligation arising from agreements entered into with each TK Operator, to make 
additional equity contributions to refund tenant security deposits where the TK Operator has insufficient cash to meet this obligation.  
Generally, the deposit repayment obligation arises upon termination or expiry of a tenancy but some deposits represent prepaid capital 
expenditure or construction cost, the refund of which is made by offset against rents receivable over the term of a lease.  At 30 June 
2011, the Astro Group has an equity contribution obligation of $14.6m for JPTD (net of $9.3m for a construction cost deposit) and $14.1m 
for JPTA.

The Directors are not aware of any other consequences arising from the potential default of the loans to JPTD and/or JPTA.

The Japan Asset Manager is also investigating asset sales and/or alternate financing to partially replace the existing loans, whilst the 
Astro Group is evaluating whether the terms and costs of such refinancing and any capital injection required would be in the best interests 
of the Astro Group securityholders. In the event that a satisfactory solution cannot be found, one or both loans would be in default upon 
maturity, and the Japan Asset Manager would work with the lender to manage the situation in the interests of all parties.  As the loans are 
non-recourse, the Astro Group is not liable to make up any deficit between net liabilities and the loan amounts, however, there are some 
potential consequences which are outlined below.

Should the lender assume control of the TK Operator upon loan default it is possible that the lender will seek to enforce the TK Operators 
right to call for additional equity contributions to fund repayment of tenant security deposits.  The Astro Group has obtained legal advice 
that it is only obliged to make additional equity contributions to fund repayment of tenant security deposits as and when they become due 
and payable and is not obliged to make any such equity contribution immediately upon the default of the loan itself. The possibility that a 
lender may claim such payment upon loan default cannot be dismissed but such claim is, in the opinion of the Astro Group's legal 
advisors, unlikely to be successful.

Historically, security deposits from incoming tenants have funded the repayment of security deposits to outgoing tenants. However, if a 
loan is in default, incoming security deposits would potentially be retained by the lender.  Accordingly, it is likely JPTD and JPTA would be 
unable to use these incoming tenant security deposits to fund such repayments, resulting in the Astro Group potentially being called upon 
to make additional equity contributions as and when obligations to refund deposits to tenants arise, as leases expire or are terminated.

The Japan Asset Manager has reviewed all other arrangements and documents to identify any other consequences which may arise from 
a possible loan default.  One such potential, but unlikely, consequence of a default under the loan to JPTD and/or JPTA arises from the 
fact that there is a common master lessee and asset manager for all TK Operators that hold properties in which the Astro Group has 
interests.  If as a consequence of a default under the loan to JPTD and/or JPTA, an action is taken by the lender or a trustee or tenant 
against either the master lessee or the Japan Asset Manager affecting its assets or corporate status (i.e. insolvency, bankruptcy or asset 
seizure type actions), a lender to another TK Operator would, under certain limited circumstances, have the right to exercise an event of 
default under the loan to the TK Operator.   The Directors consider this an unlikely scenario as all obligations under the loans to JPT, 
JPTC and JPTS are being satisfied, and the Japan Asset Manager and master lessee continue to meet their obligations with respect to 
all TK Operators.  In the unlikely event such a scenario did occur, the Astro Group and the Japan Asset Manager would work with the 
relevant lender to remedy the situation.  In addition, the Japan Asset Manager is currently taking steps to remove the risks arising from 
the common master lessee.

The counterparty to interest rate swaps held by JPTD has early termination rights with varying trigger dates, commencing at the end of 
November 2011.  If the counterparty exercises its early termination right, it would result in the premature settlement of these swaps at the 
then prevailing market values. At 30 June 2011, the three swaps that may be terminated by the counterparty at the end of November 
2011 were out of the money by a total of approximately $7 million.  In the event that JPTD fails to meet any settlement payments upon the 
early termination of the swaps, the counterparty could terminate one remaining swap with a current termination cost of approximately $5 
million.  The position of the counterparty is unsecured and is solely against JPTD, and no other member of the Astro Group.  Failure to 
meet settlement obligations pursuant to the swap agreement would give the lender to JPTD the right to declare an event of default under 
the loan, which could result in the loan falling due some six months prior to its stated maturity in May 2012.  Details of the interest rates 
swaps are set out in Note 10 Derivative Financial Instruments and Note 26(c) Financial Risk Management: Liquidity Risk.

These various issues around possible debt default have the potential to affect the timing and availability of cash for future distributions to 
securityholders.

Should the lenders to JPTD and JPTA exercise their security rights upon a default, they would be entitled to assume effective control of 
those TK Operators.  This means that it would be likely that the assets and liabilities of JPTD and/or JPTA would no longer be included in 
the consolidated financial statements of the Astro Group from the date on which control of the TK Operator is lost.  Refer to Note 28 
Segment Reporting, which discloses the total assets, total liabilities and net liabilities of these TKs, for details of the primary financial 
impact of a potential default.  Should a default in either or both of these loans occur, income and expenses would be included in the Astro 
Group's consolidated financial statements up to the date on which control of the TK Operator is lost.  As an indication of the potential 
impact on the Astro Group's total Adjusted Operating Cash Flows for the year to 30 June 2011 of $32.7m, JPTD contributed $5.9m and 
JPTA contributed $3.2m (refer to Note 28 Segment Reporting).

Although a default under the loan to JPTD and/or JPTA and the potential consequences may affect the timing and availability of cash for 
future distributions to securityholders, the Directors do not expect it to affect the going concern status of the Astro Group.
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Distributions

Distributions declared and/or paid during the year ended 30 June 2011 were:
Year ended Year ended

Distribution 30/06/2011 30/06/2010
Final distribution
    Distribution cents per Stapled Security 20.00¢ 3.50¢
    Payment date 31/08/2011 30/08/2010
Half year distribution
    Distribution cents per Stapled Security 2.25¢1 3.50¢
    Payment date 25/02/2011 26/02/2010

Significant changes in the state of affairs

Environmental regulation

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year

Future developments and expected results of operations

Interests of the Responsible Entity

Responsible Entity’s fees

Year ended Year ended
30/06/2011 30/06/2010

$’000 $’000
AJT base fee – paid to Responsible Entity¹                -   1,570
Asset base fee – Japan Asset Manager 7,232 7,662
Transaction fees – Japan Asset Manager 1,235 416
TK distributions – TK Operator 115 70

8,582 9,718

¹ Relates to payments made prior to the Responsible Entity becoming part of the Astro Group on 7 April 2010.

1The half year distribution for the year ended 30 June 2011 of 2.25 cents per security was based on the number of securities on issue as 
at 31 December 2010.  Based on the number of securities on issue following the 10 to 1 consolidation of stapled securities completed on 
19 January 2011, the half year distribution would represent 22.5 cents per security.

Distributions per Stapled Security for the year ended 30 June 2011, after adjusting the half year distribution for the 10 to 1 consolidation of 
stapled securities completed on 19 January 2011, were 42.5 cents (Year ended 30 June 2010: 7.00 cents or 70 cents on a consolidated 
basis).

In the opinion of the Directors, other than the items already noted in the Directors‟ Report, there were no changes in the state of affairs of 
the Astro Group that occurred during the financial year under review.

Total fees paid or payable

The basis of fees paid to the Responsible Entity is set out in Note 31 Related Parties to the Consolidated Financial Statements.  Set out 
below are the fees paid or payable by the Astro Group to the Responsible Entity and Japan Asset Manager during the year:

The Directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance occurring since 30 June 2011 not otherwise dealt with in the financial report 
that has significantly or may significantly affect the operations of the Astro Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of 
the Astro Group in subsequent financial years.

To the best of their knowledge and belief after making due enquiry, the Directors have determined that the Astro Group has complied with 
all significant environmental regulations applicable to its operations in the jurisdictions it operates.

The following amounts are included in accounts payable as owed to the 
Japan Asset Manager at balance date relating to Asset Management Fees 1,354

In the opinion of the Directors, disclosure of any further information on future developments and results other than as already disclosed in 
this report or the financial report would be unreasonably prejudicial to the interests of the Astro Group.

1,907

At 30 June 2011, the Responsible Entity did not hold any securities in the Astro Group (30 June 2010: nil).

The Astro Group Distribution Reinvestment Plan (DRP) which was implemented on 6 May 2011 was not activated for the distribution for 
the six months ending 30 June 2011.
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Stapled securities on issue

Astro Group assets

Directors

The Directors of the Responsible Entity and AJCo (Directors) at any time during or since the period end are:

Qualifications and experience
Allan McDonald

Paula Dwyer

John Pettigrew

Director Listed Entity Date appointed Date ceased
Allan McDonald Ross Human Directions Limited 3 April 2000 14 February 2011

Billabong International Limited 4 July 2000 Continuing
22 October 2003 Continuing

Brookfield Australian Opportunities Fund; 1 January 2010 Continuing
Multiplex European Property Fund; and
Brookfield Prime Property Fund²

4 May 2011 Continuing

Paula Dwyer Tabcorp Holdings Limited 30 August 2005 Continuing
Suncorp Group Limited 26 April 2007 Continuing
Healthscope Limited 10 March 2010 12 October 2010
Fosters Group Limited 9 May 2011 Continuing

John Pettigrew Rubicor Group Limited 2 March 2007 Continuing

John was appointed as a Director of the Responsible Entity on 19 February 2005 and as a Director of 
AJCo on 20 March 2009.

Independent Non-Executive 
Chairman

Multiplex Property Trust; and     
Multiplex SITES Trust¹

Member of the Audit, Risk & 
Compliance Committee

There were 58,445,002 stapled securities on issue as at 30 June 2011 (30 June 2010: 508,212,161).  Each stapled security comprises 
one unit in AJT and one share in AJCo.  The Astro Group consolidated every 10 stapled securities into 1 stapled security with effect from 
19 January 2011.  Where the consolidation resulted in a fraction of a security being held by a securityholder, that fraction was rounded up 
to the nearest whole security.  Following the consolidation there were 50,821,741 stapled securities on issue.  As a result of the 
successful completion of a fully underwritten institutional placement on 14 March 2011, 7,623,261 new stapled securities were issued on 
18 March 2011.

Allan was appointed as a Director of the Responsible Entity on 19 February 2005 and as a Director of 
AJCo on 20 March 2009.

At 30 June 2011 the Astro Group held assets with a total value of $1,324,978,000 (30 June 2010: $1,660,529,000).  The basis for 
valuation of the assets is disclosed in Note 1 Statement of Significant Accounting Polices to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Name, independence status 
and special responsibilities

Allan has extensive experience in the investment and commercial banking fields and is presently 
associated with a number of companies as a consultant and company director.  Allan holds a Bachelor of 
Economics Degree from the University of Sydney and is a Fellow of the Australian Society of Certified 
Practicing Accountants, a Fellow of Chartered Secretaries Australia, a Fellow of the Australian Institute of 
Management and a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee

Chairman of the Audit, 
Risk & Compliance Committee
Member of the Remuneration 
Committee

Paula has extensive experience in the securities, investment management and investment banking 
sectors. Paula holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of Melbourne.  Paula is a 
Member of the Takeovers Panel and Vice President of the Baker IDI Heart and Diabetes Research 
Institute.  Paula is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Chartered Accountants, a Fellow of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors and a Fellow of the Financial Services Institute of Australia.

Brookfield Office Properties Inc. (dual listed on 
NYSE and TSE)

Directorships of other listed entities held by Directors during the three years preceding the end of the Financial Year are listed below:

1.  Director of the responsible entity, Brookfield Funds Management Limited.  
2.  Director of the responsible entity, Brookfield Capital Management Limited. 

1Appointed Chief Financial Officer on 1 January 2011.  Prior to this Mr Pettigrew was an Independent Non-Executive Director of the 
Responsible Entity and AJCo.

John has extensive financial and commercial experience with a number of major corporations and 35 
years involvement in the property industry.  John is a Fellow of the Australian Society of Certified 
Practicing Accountants, a Fellow of Chartered Secretaries Australia, a Fellow of the Australian Institute of 
Management and a Member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.  John was Chief Financial 
Officer and Company Secretary of the Stockland Group from 1977 and Finance Director from 1982 until 
March 2004. He has had a significant role in structuring and managing listed property trusts since 1980.

Independent Non-Executive 
Director

Paula was appointed as a Director of the Responsible Entity on 19 February 2005 and as a Director of 
AJCo on 20 March 2009.

Executive Director, Chief 
Financial Officer1
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Directors' Meetings

Director
H A H A H A H A

Allan McDonald 10 10 10 10 4 4 2 2
Paula Dwyer 10 10 10 10 4 4 2 2
John Pettigrew1 10 10 10 10 2 2 1 1

H – Indicates the number of meetings held while the relevant Director was a member of the Board/Committee
A – Indicates the number of those meetings attended by that Director 
1 Ceased to be a member of the Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee and the Remuneration Committee on 31 December 2010.

Directors’ relevant interests

Director Number of Stapled Securities
Allan McDonald 40,000
Paula Dwyer 20,000
John Pettigrew 15,000

Secretaries

The Company Secretaries of the Responsible Entity and AJCo at any time during or since the year end are:

Rohan Purdy

John Pettigrew

Ian Hay

Indemnities and Insurance Premiums

Indemnities

John was appointed as Company Secretary (alternate) of the Responsible Entity on 1 January 2011 and 
as Company Secretary (alternate) of AJCo on 1 January 2011.

Board

1Appointed Chief Financial Officer on 1 January 2011.  Prior to this Mr Pettigrew was an Independent Non-Executive Director of the 
Responsible Entity and AJCo.

Ian resigned as Company Secretary (alternate) of the Responsible Entity and as Company Secretary 
(alternate) of AJCo on 31 December 2010.Chief Financial Officer, 

Manager – Australia & 
Company Secretary (alternate)

  where the liability arises out of conduct involving a lack of good faith;

Except as set out below, no indemnity was given or insurance premium paid during or since the end of the Financial Year for a person 
who is or has been an officer or auditor of the Astro Group.

Under the Responsible Entity‟s Constitution, and by separate agreement with each current and former Director, the Responsible Entity 
indemnifies each person who is or has been a Director or Secretary of the Responsible Entity or of a wholly owned subsidiary of the 
Responsible Entity against any liability incurred by the person to another person in the discharge of their duties as an officer of the 
Responsible Entity or such other entity (as the case may be), except:

  where the liability is owed to the Responsible Entity or a related body corporate; and
 to the extent that the Responsible Entity is precluded by law from indemnifying the officer.

Board Compliance Committee Committee

The number of Directors' meetings (including meetings of the Committees of Directors) held during the year ended 30 June 2011, and the 
number of meetings attended by each Director, are as follows:

Rohan has extensive experience as a corporate lawyer and company secretary. Rohan has held positions 
as a senior lawyer at Babcock & Brown and the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX). Prior to this, 
Rohan specialised in commercial and corporations law, practising as a senior lawyer with a number of 
leading law firms in Australia. Rohan holds a Master of Laws from the University of Sydney and a 
Bachelor of Laws degree and Bachelor of Commerce degree from the Australian National University.

The names of the Directors in office and the relevant interests of each Director in stapled securities of the Astro Group as at the date of 
this report are shown below:

General Counsel & Company 
Secretary

Rohan was appointed as Company Secretary of the Responsible Entity on 16 April 2009 and as Company 
Secretary of AJCo on 20 March 2009.

Responsible Entity AJCo Audit, Risk & Remuneration

Executive Director, Chief 
Financial Officer1 & Company 
Secretary (alternate)
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No liability has arisen under these indemnities as at the date of this report.

Insurance premiums

Remuneration Report

    Base pay and benefits, including superannuation; and
    Short term incentives.

As part of its insurance arrangements, the Astro Group pays insurance premiums in respect of a Directors and Officers Liability insurance 
contract covering Directors and Officers of the Astro Group.  Under the terms of the Directors and Officers insurance contract, the Astro 
Group is prohibited from disclosing the nature of the liabilities indemnified and the amount of the insurance premium paid.

The Responsible Entity has agreed with each current and former Director to indemnify each such Director, to the extent permitted by law, 
for legal costs incurred by the Director in obtaining advice for, or conducting or defending an action, or appearing or preparing to appear 
in that action. This indemnity is also subject to the above exceptions.

The Responsible Entity‟s Constitution also provides that, to the extent permitted by law, the Responsible Entity indemnifies each person 
who is or has been a Director or Secretary of the Responsible Entity or of a wholly owned subsidiary of the Responsible Entity against 
any liability for costs and expenses incurred by that person in defending any proceedings in which judgement is given in that person‟s 
favour, or in which the person is acquitted or in connection with an application in relation to any proceedings in which the court grants 
relief to the person under the law.

AJCo‟s Constitution provides that AJCo indemnifies each person who is or has been a Director or Secretary on a full indemnity basis and 
to the full extent permitted by law against all losses, liabilities, costs, charges and expenses incurred by the person as an officer of AJCo 
or of a related body corporate.

The Astro Group aims to attract, retain and motivate highly skilled people to operate the Astro Group in the best interests of its 
securityholders.

The Remuneration Committee endeavours to ensure that the remuneration outcomes strike an appropriate balance between the interests 
of the Astro Group securityholders, and rewarding, retaining and motivating the Astro Group‟s executives and the Directors.

Executive remuneration

To determine the total annual remuneration for the executives, the Remuneration Committee conducts an assessment of each executive 
based on the individual‟s performance and achievements during the financial year and taking into account the overall performance and 
achievements of the Astro Group and prevailing remuneration rates of executives in similar positions.  This assessment is made in 
conjunction with advice from the Astro Group‟s Senior Advisor, Mr Eric Lucas, and is the basis for determining the total annual 
remuneration for that financial year.

The Astro Group has a formally constituted Remuneration Committee which is currently comprised of the Astro Group‟s two Independent 
Non-Executive Directors.  Its members during the financial year were Mr A McDonald (appointed Chair on 1 January 2011), Ms P Dwyer 
and Mr J Pettigrew who ceased as Chair and as a member on 31 December 2010.  The Remuneration Committee meets annually for the 
purposes of reviewing and making recommendations to the Astro Group Board on the level of remuneration of the senior executives and 
the Directors.

Under the Corporations Act 2001  (Cth) only disclosing entities that are listed companies are required to prepare a Remuneration Report.  
Accordingly, this report is only required to address remuneration disclosures applicable to AJCo, as AJT is not a listed company.  
Notwithstanding, this report addresses the remuneration disclosures of the Astro Group, not just AJCo.

This report outlines the remuneration philosophy and framework currently applicable to the Astro Group, in particular how this relates to 
the Astro Group‟s senior executives and Directors.

Remuneration Policy & Approach

The executive pay and reward framework has two components:

This report relates to the year ended 30 June 2011.  The comparative figures for the year ended 30 June 2010 relate to the period from 7 
April 2010 to 30 June 2010 because the Responsible Entity, which remunerates the Astro Group‟s executives and directors, only became 
a wholly owned subsidiary of AJCo and a part of the Astro Group on 7 April 2010.

The information provided in this remuneration report has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).
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2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Net profit attributable to equityholders ($'000) (22,004) (111,922) (365,642) 121,627 129,195
Earnings per security (cents)1 (41.52) (22.02) (71.94) 23.65 26.71
Distributions per security (cents)1 42.502 7.00 9.00 13.05 11.90
Security price ($) as at 30 June1 2.83 0.32 0.37 0.87 1.77

-    Base pay

-    Short term incentive

Executives
Mr J Pettigrew Executive Director, Chief Financial Officer1

Mr I Hay Chief Financial Officer (Resigned on 31 December 2010)

Non-Executive Directors
Mr F A McDonald Independent Chairman and Non-Executive Director
Ms P Dwyer Independent Non-Executive Director

Key Management Personnel

Key Management Personnel (KMP) are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of that entity.  The KMP of the Astro 
Group for the year ended 30 June 2011 were:

The following table sets out summary information about the Astro Group‟s earnings and movements in securityholder wealth for the five 
years to 30 June 2011:

1Unadjusted per security figures for 2010 and earlier years
2Distributions per security for the year ended 30 June 2011 have been adjusted to reflect the 10 to 1 consolidation of stapled securities 
completed on 19 January 2011

Base pay is determined by reference to appropriate benchmark information, taking into account an individual‟s responsibilities, 
performance, qualifications and experience.  There are no guaranteed base pay increases in any executives‟ contracts.

Based on the Remuneration Committee‟s assessment of the factors outlined above, the executives were granted an increase in base pay 
of 7% with effect from 1 July 2011.

Any short term incentive (STI) entitlement is entirely at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee and any discretionary STI is 
determined based on the results of the Remuneration Committee‟s assessment of each executive having regard to activities and 
transactions of the Astro Group during the financial year.  Any STI entitlement is paid in cash.  The maximum STI bonus in any year is 
30% of base salary.  An executive is not entitled to receive an STI bonus if they cease employment with the Astro Group prior to the 
payment date or provide or receive notice of termination of employment on or prior to the payment date.  Executives were granted an STI 
cash bonus as set out in Table 1.

1Appointed Chief Financial Officer on 1 January 2011.  Prior to this Mr Pettigrew was an Independent Non-Executive Director of the 
Responsible Entity and AJCo.

The Senior Advisor to the Astro Group, Mr Eric Lucas, is a contractor to the Astro Group and is paid a monthly fee of ¥100,000.  
Separately, the Japan Asset Manager employs Mr Lucas as its Chief Executive Officer and employs other executives who conduct the 
asset management activities in Japan.  The Japan Asset Manager is not a member of the Astro Group, and as such the remuneration 
relating to those individuals is not borne by the Astro Group or its securityholders.  Mr Lucas and the other executives of the Japan Asset 
Manager are not considered KMP of the Astro Group.

Details of the remuneration of the executives and the Non-Executive Directors are set out below.  Mr Rohan Purdy does not meet the 
criteria of a KMP however his remuneration is disclosed below in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001  (Cth) as he is one of the 
two executives in the Astro Group.

Although the performance of the Astro Group is taken into consideration in the assessment of each executive, the remuneration policy of 
the Astro Group is more focused on achievement of the Astro Group‟s internal financial and operational objectives.  The Astro Group 
regards achievement of these objectives as the appropriate criteria for determining remuneration rather than simply measuring relative 
performance against a market index or an external comparator group.
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Salary Total
Executives $ $ $ $ $
Mr J Pettigrew5 2011      112,500                -                  -            7,600      120,100 
Mr I Hay4 2011      137,110                -            1,047          7,600      145,757 

2010        51,606        15,000             340          4,645        71,591 
Mr R Purdy 2011      231,000        20,000          1,415        15,199      267,614 

2010        48,165        30,000             342          4,335        82,842 
Total remuneration 2011      480,610        20,000          2,462        30,399      533,471 

2010        99,771        45,000             682          8,980      154,433 

Fixed remuneration1

Executives % % Total
Mr J Pettigrew 100.00 -             100.00
Mr I Hay 100.00 -             100.00
Mr R Purdy 92.49 7.51 100.00

Executives Base remuneration per employment contract
Mr J Pettigrew  $  225,000 
Mr R Purdy  $  231,000 

Length of Contract  Open-ended

Frequency of base remuneration review  Annual

Benefits 

Incentive remuneration 

Termination of employment 



Super-       
annuation

Year1

Entitled to participate in Astro Group benefit plans that are made 
available

Eligible for an award of short term incentive remuneration (if any) 
as described above

For Mr Pettigrew, employment can be terminated by either party 
providing three months‟ written notice and the Astro Group may 
elect to pay Mr Pettigrew three months‟ salary in lieu of notice
For Mr Purdy, employment can be terminated by either party 
providing two months‟ written notice and the Astro Group may 
elect to pay Mr Purdy two months‟ salary in lieu of notice

Table 2: Remuneration components as a proportion of total remuneration on an annualised basis

5.  Appointed Chief Financial Officer on 1 January 2011.  Prior to this Mr Pettigrew was an Independent Non-Executive Director of the 
Responsible Entity.  The above table shows Mr Pettigrew's remuneration for the period 1 January 2011 to 30 June 2011.

1.  Comparative figures are for the period 7 April 2010 to 30 June 2010.  No executives' remuneration was incurred by the Astro Group 
before the Responsible Entity became part of the Astro Group on 7 April 2010.
2.  STI relates to the 12 month period ended 30 June 2011 and was granted on 16 June 2011 and paid on 24 June 2011.
3.  Astro Group employees receive salary continuance insurance.
4.  Mr I Hay resigned on 31 December 2010.

STI cash 
bonus

¹  Fixed remuneration consists of salary, non-monetary benefits and superannuation and for the purposes of this table is based on a 12 
month period to 30 June 2011.

Executive Employment Contracts

The base salaries for executives as at 30 June 2011, in accordance with their employment contracts are shown below:

The employment contracts for Mr Pettigrew and Mr Purdy contain the following conditions:

Remuneration of Executives

Table 1: Remuneration of Executives for the period ended 30 June 2011

STI cash 
bonus2

Non-
monetary 
benefits3
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Mr F A McDonald Independent Chairman and Non-Executive Director
Ms P Dwyer Independent Non-Executive Director
Mr J Pettigrew1 Independent Non-Executive Director (for period 1 July 2010 to 31 December 2010)

Board/Committee Role Fee per annum
Board Independent Chair $136,500

Director1 $96,500
Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee Chair $6,500

1 Executive director is not paid an additional fee for directorship

Total
Directors Year1 $ $ $
Mr F A McDonald 2011      136,500        12,285      148,785 

2010        31,307          2,818        34,125 
Ms P Dwyer 2011      103,000          9,270      112,270 

2010        23,624          2,126        25,750 
Mr J Pettigrew2 2011        58,000          5,220        63,220 

2010        22,133          1,992        24,125 
Total remuneration 2011      297,500        26,775      324,275 

2010        77,064          6,936        84,000 

Proceedings on behalf of AJCo

No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of AJCo with leave of the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 
2001  (Cth).

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001  (Cth) for leave to bring proceedings on behalf of 
AJCo, or to intervene in any proceedings to which AJCo is a party, for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of AJCo for all or part 
of those proceedings.

Remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors

The following persons were Directors of each of the Responsible Entity and AJCo during the financial year:

1Appointed Chief Financial Officer on 1 January 2011 and continued as a Director.  Prior to this Mr Pettigrew was an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Responsible Entity and AJCo.

The Astro Group Boards determine the remuneration structure for Non-Executive Directors based on recommendations from the 
Remuneration Committee. The Non-Executive Directors‟ individual fees, including committee fees, are annually reviewed by the 
Remuneration Committee taking into consideration the level of fees paid to non-executive directors by companies of a similar size and 
stature.  Fees paid to Non-Executive Directors must fall within the aggregate fee pool approved by securityholders.  The current 
aggregate maximum amount which may be paid to all Non-Executive Directors is $600,000 per annum, and the aggregate fees currently 
payable to the Non-Executive Directors per annum is $239,500 (excluding superannuation).  Based on the Remuneration Committee‟s 
annual review of Non-Executive Director fees conducted on 16 June 2011, there will be no change to the fees for the 12 month period 
commencing 1 July 2011.

The Non-Executive Directors receive a cash fee for service.  They do not receive any performance based remuneration or any retirement 
benefits other than statutory superannuation (which is included within total fees noted below).

Fees paid to the Non-Executive Directors are in respect of their services provided to the Responsible Entity and AJCo.

Fees payable to Non-Executive Directors are set out below:

Table 3: Remuneration of Directors for the period ended 30 June 2011

Short term - 
salary and 

fees
Post-employment-      
Superannuation

1 Comparative figures given for the year ended 30 June 2010 are for the period 7 April 2010 to 30 June 2010.  No directors' remuneration 
was incurred by the Astro Group before the Responsible Entity became part of the Astro Group on 7 April 2010.
2Appointed Chief Financial Officer on 1 January 2011.  Prior to this Mr Pettigrew was an Independent Non-Executive Director of the 
Responsible Entity and AJCo.  The above table shows Mr Pettigrew's remuneration for the period 1 July 2010 to 31 December 2010.

In addition to the above fees, all Non-Executive Directors receive reimbursement for reasonable travel, accommodation and other 
expenses incurred while undertaking Astro Group business.
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Auditor’s independence declaration

    the Auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001  (Cth) in relation to the audit; and

    the applicable Australian code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

Non audit services

Year ended Year ended
30/06/2011 30/06/2010

$ $
Tax advisory services 32,541 83,746
Taxation compliance services 199,209 253,144
Total non audit fees 231,750 336,890

Rounding

Basis of preparation

Dated 31 August 2011.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

F A McDonald
Director
Astro Japan Property Management Limited in its capacity as Responsible Entity of the Astro Japan Property Trust

The Astro Group is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 and in accordance with that Class Order, 
amounts in the financial report and the Directors‟ report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars unless otherwise stated.

The financial report for the Astro Group as at 30 June 2011 has been prepared on a going concern basis as the Directors, after reviewing 
AJT‟s going concern status, have concluded that the AJT has reasonable grounds to expect to be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable.  However, additional disclosure has been added to Note 1(a) Statement of Significant Accounting Policies: 
Basis of Preparation as to the ongoing risks associated with refinancing of debt due within 12 months of the date of this report.

All non-audit services have been reviewed by the audit committee to ensure they do not impact the impartiality and objectivity of the 
auditor; and

None of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants.

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for non-audit services provided by the auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, of the 
Astro Group, its related practices and non-related audit firms:

The Astro Group‟s lead Auditor has provided a written declaration under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001  (Cth) that to the best 
of his knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of:

The declaration is provided on page 12 and forms part of this Directors‟ Report.

The Astro Group may decide to employ the auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties 
where the auditor's expertise and experience with the company and/or the Astro Group are important.

The Directors have considered the position and, in accordance with advice received from the audit committee, are satisfied that the 
provision of the non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 
2001  (Cth). The Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services by the auditor, as set out below, did not compromise the 
auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001  (Cth) for the following reasons:
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 Auditor’s Independence Declaration

PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757
Darling Park Tower 2, 201 Sussex Street, GPO BOX 2650, Sydney NSW 1171
T +61 2 8266 0000, F +61 2 8266 9999, www.pwc.com.au
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professiona

Auditor’s independence declaration

As lead auditor for the audit of Astro Japan Property Trust for the year ended 30 June 2011,
I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there

(a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the
in relation to the audit

(b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of As
the period.

TJO Peel
Partner
PricewaterhouseCoopers

, ABN 52 780 433 757
Darling Park Tower 2, 201 Sussex Street, GPO BOX 2650, Sydney NSW 1171
T +61 2 8266 0000, F +61 2 8266 9999, www.pwc.com.au

under Professional Standards Legislation.

independence declaration

As lead auditor for the audit of Astro Japan Property Trust for the year ended 30 June 2011,
declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the
in relation to the audit; and

no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Astro Japan Property Trust and the entities it controlled during

As lead auditor for the audit of Astro Japan Property Trust for the year ended 30 June 2011,

no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001

no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

tro Japan Property Trust and the entities it controlled during

Sydney
31 August 2011
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 Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

f or the year ended 30 June 2011CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 30 June 2011

Note

Revenue
Property rental income 14(c) 111,598 117,725
Financing income 2 443 285

112,041 118,010
Other income
Share of net profit of associate 13 1,901 (578)
Gain on derivatives 3 23,712 7,642
Gain on disposal of investment property 14(b) 2,416 -
Other income 5 14

28,034 7,078
Total revenue and other income 140,075 125,088

Expenses
Property expenses 14(c) (34,097) (35,299)
Asset management fees 31(g) (7,232) (9,232)
Financing costs 2 (25,902) (23,889)
Fair value adjustments to investment property 14(a) (76,510) (150,662)
Impairment of goodwill 16 (5,000) (7,000)
Net foreign exchange loss (3,317) (105)
Professional fees (1,282) (1,657)
Other operating expenses 4 (4,028) (2,560)
Total expenses (157,368) (230,404)

Profit/(loss) before income tax (17,293) (105,316)
Income tax benefit/(expense) 5 (4,711) (6,606)
Profit/(loss) for the year (22,004) (111,922)

Other comprehensive income
Foreign exchange translation differences 24 (42,000) 9,056
Fair value movements on hedge instruments, net of tax 24 3,206 (4,437)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year (60,798) (107,303)

Profit/(loss) is attributable to:
Securityholders of AJT (18,245) (104,983)
Securityholders of other entities stapled to AJT (non-controlling interest) (3,759) (6,939)
External non-controlling interest - -
Profit/(loss) for the year (22,004) (111,922)

Total comprehensive income for the year is attributable to:
Securityholders of AJT (56,277) (99,714)
Securityholders of other entities stapled to AJT (non-controlling interest) (4,521) (7,545)
External non-controlling interest - (44)

(60,798) (107,303)

7 (34.43)¢ (206.57)¢

The Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements set out 
on pages 17 to 57 

Basic and diluted earnings/(losses) per ordinary Security available to 
securityholders of AJT

30 Jun 11
$'000

30 Jun 10
$'000

Page 13 AJA Stapled Group

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 30 June 2011

Note

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8 57,528 65,009
Restricted cash 8 41,981 55,479
Trade and other receivables 9 5,708 4,330
Derivative financial instruments 10 - 2,374
Investment property held for sale 14(a) - 45,568
Other assets 11 1,193 1,431
Total current assets 106,410 174,191

Non-current assets
Investment in associate accounted for using the equity method 13 5,427 6,094
Investment properties 14(a) 1,201,442 1,459,427
Deferred tax asset 12(a) 7,513 11,055
Property, plant and equipment 15 70 91
Intangible assets 16 3,034 8,046
Other assets 11 1,082 1,625
Total non-current assets 1,218,568 1,486,338
Total assets 1,324,978 1,660,529

Current liabilities
Payables 17 18,100 21,984
Provisions 18 317 31
Deferred lease incentive 19 1 3
Derivative financial instruments 10 22,922 31,783
Tenant deposits 34(c) 45,904 37,405
Distribution payable 20 11,689 17,787
Interest bearing debt 22 187,938 246,177
Current tax liabilities 21 1,547 1,456
Total current liabilities 288,418 356,626

Non-current liabilities
Deferred lease incentive 19 22 18
Derivative financial instruments 10 3,128 18,644
Tenant deposits 34(c) 34,892 58,424
Interest bearing debt 22 714,798 881,089
Deferred tax liabilities 12(b) 5,830 6,796
Total non-current liabilities 758,670 964,971
Total liabilities 1,047,088 1,321,597
Net assets 277,890 338,932

Equity
Equity attributable to securityholders of AJT
Contributed equity 23 610,612 588,509
Reserves 24 73,290 111,322
Retained profits/(losses) 25 (420,993) (379,624)
Total equity of securityholders 262,909 320,207

Equity attributable to other stapled securityholders
Contributed equity 23 27,333 26,441
Reserves 24 (1,368) (606)
Retained profits/(losses) 25 (10,698) (6,939)
Total equity of other stapled securityholders 15,267 18,896

Equity attributable to external non-controlling interest
Retained profits/(losses) 25 (286) (171)
Total equity of external non-controlling interest (286) (171)
Total Equity  277,890 338,932

The Consolidated Statements of Financial Position is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements set out on 
pages 17 to 57

30 Jun 11
$'000

30 Jun 10
$'000

Page 14 AJA Stapled Group

The Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements 
set out on pages 62 to 102
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 Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

 as at 30 June 2011CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 30 June 2011

Note

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8 57,528 65,009
Restricted cash 8 41,981 55,479
Trade and other receivables 9 5,708 4,330
Derivative financial instruments 10 - 2,374
Investment property held for sale 14(a) - 45,568
Other assets 11 1,193 1,431
Total current assets 106,410 174,191

Non-current assets
Investment in associate accounted for using the equity method 13 5,427 6,094
Investment properties 14(a) 1,201,442 1,459,427
Deferred tax asset 12(a) 7,513 11,055
Property, plant and equipment 15 70 91
Intangible assets 16 3,034 8,046
Other assets 11 1,082 1,625
Total non-current assets 1,218,568 1,486,338
Total assets 1,324,978 1,660,529

Current liabilities
Payables 17 18,100 21,984
Provisions 18 317 31
Deferred lease incentive 19 1 3
Derivative financial instruments 10 22,922 31,783
Tenant deposits 34(c) 45,904 37,405
Distribution payable 20 11,689 17,787
Interest bearing debt 22 187,938 246,177
Current tax liabilities 21 1,547 1,456
Total current liabilities 288,418 356,626

Non-current liabilities
Deferred lease incentive 19 22 18
Derivative financial instruments 10 3,128 18,644
Tenant deposits 34(c) 34,892 58,424
Interest bearing debt 22 714,798 881,089
Deferred tax liabilities 12(b) 5,830 6,796
Total non-current liabilities 758,670 964,971
Total liabilities 1,047,088 1,321,597
Net assets 277,890 338,932

Equity
Equity attributable to securityholders of AJT
Contributed equity 23 610,612 588,509
Reserves 24 73,290 111,322
Retained profits/(losses) 25 (420,993) (379,624)
Total equity of securityholders 262,909 320,207

Equity attributable to other stapled securityholders
Contributed equity 23 27,333 26,441
Reserves 24 (1,368) (606)
Retained profits/(losses) 25 (10,698) (6,939)
Total equity of other stapled securityholders 15,267 18,896

Equity attributable to external non-controlling interest
Retained profits/(losses) 25 (286) (171)
Total equity of external non-controlling interest (286) (171)
Total Equity  277,890 338,932

The Consolidated Statements of Financial Position is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements set out on 
pages 17 to 57

30 Jun 11
$'000

30 Jun 10
$'000

Page 14 AJA Stapled Group

The Consolidated Statements of Financial Position is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements set out 
on pages 62 to 102
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 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

 for the year ended 30 June 2011CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 30 June 2011

Note

Cash flows from operating activities
Property rental income received 107,243 117,795
Property expenses paid (33,747) (34,420)
Net property income received 73,496 83,375
Realised foreign exchange gains 4,925 4,279
Other non property expenses paid (12,097) (16,080)
Financing costs (29,955) (26,164)
Financing income 443 285
Japanese withholding and Australian income tax paid (2,663) (8,427)
GST/consumption tax received 1,183 502
GST/consumption tax paid (427) (2,133)
Net cash inflows / (outflows) from operating activities 29 34,905 35,637

Cash flows from investing activities
Investment in convertible note - (7,807)
Investment in associate - (1,350)
Capital expenditure (3,820) (5,500)
Purchase of plant, property and equipment (1) (6)
Payment for development costs - (31)
Proceeds from the sale of investment properties 56,457 -
Investment income from associate 904 271
Return of capital from associate 902 413
Repayment of tenant deposits (3,661) (11,103)
Net cash inflows / (outflows) from investing activities 50,781 (25,113)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of stapled securities 23,556 -
Stapled security issue and consolidation transaction costs (561) -
Proceeds from borrowings 165,984 -
Repayment of borrowings (255,782) (18,525)
Distributions paid (29,222) (43,198)
Interest received on capital hedges 4,847 6,041
Monetisation of capital hedges (2,904) (4,808)
Net cash inflows / (outflows) from financing activities (94,082) (60,490)

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents (8,396) (49,966)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period 120,488 161,045
Cash acquired on acquisition - 5,514
Effect on exchange rate fluctuations on cash held (12,583) 3,895
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period 8 99,509 120,488

The Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows are to be read in conjunction with the Notes of the Financial Statements set out on pages 17 
to 57

30 Jun 11
$'000

30 Jun 10
$'000

Page 15 AJA Stapled Group

The Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows are to be read in conjunction with the Notes of the Financial Statements set out on 
pages 62 to 102
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 Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

 for the year ended 30 June 2011
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 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

f or the year ended 30 June 2011
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2011

1. Statement of Significant Accounting Policies

For the purposes of these Notes:

(a) Basis of preparation

Ability to refinance debt facilities

The Japan Asset Manager is also investigating asset sales and/or alternate financing to partially replace the existing loans, whilst the 
Astro Group is evaluating whether the terms and costs of such refinancing and any capital injection required would be in the best interests 
of the Astro Group securityholders. In the event that a satisfactory solution cannot be found, one or both loans would be in default upon 
maturity, and the Japan Asset Manager would work with the lender to manage the situation in the interests of all parties.  As the loans are 
non-recourse, the Astro Group is not liable to make up any deficit between net liabilities and the loan amounts, however, there are some 
potential consequences which are outlined below.

Although a default under the loan to JPTD and/or JPTA and the potential consequences may affect the timing and availability of cash for 
future distributions to securityholders, the Directors do not expect it to affect the going concern status of the Astro Group.

Should the lenders to JPTD and JPTA exercise their security rights upon a default, they would be entitled to assume effective control of 
those TK Operators.  This means that it would be likely that the assets and liabilities of JPTD and/or JPTA would no longer be included in 
the consolidated financial statements of the Astro Group from the date on which control of the TK Operator is lost.  Refer to Note 28 
Segment Reporting, which discloses the total assets, total liabilities and net liabilities of these TKs, for details of the primary financial 
impact of a potential default.  Should a default in either or both of these loans occur, income and expenses would be included in the Astro 
Group's consolidated financial statements up to the date on which control of the TK Operator is lost.  As an indication of the potential 
impact on the Astro Group's total Adjusted Operating Cash Flows for the year to 30 June 2011 of $32.7m, JPTD contributed $5.9m and 
JPTA contributed $3.2m (refer to Note 28 Segment Reporting).

• references to „TK Operator‟ means each or any of the five Japanese special purpose companies through which the Astro Group invests 
in Japan, namely JPT Co. Ltd. (JPT), JPT Corporate Co. Ltd. (JPTC), JPT Scarlett Co. Ltd. (JPTS), JPT Direct Co. Ltd. (JPTD), and JPT 
August Co. Ltd (JPTA); and
• references to „TK‟ means the contractual relationship between a TK Operator and AJT, which is documented in a „TK Agreement‟.

At 30 June 2011, there were two loans requiring near term refinancing. In the financial report for the Astro Group as at 30 June 2011, 
current liabilities exceed current assets, resulting in a net current liability of $182 million.  This is due to the inclusion as a current liability 
of the senior loan to JPTD of $180 million, due to mature on 31 May 2012. Additionally, and whilst not being included as a current liability, 
there is a further senior loan to JPTA of $218 million which matures in August, 2012.

Given the high current loan to value ratios of these loans, it is likely that JPTD cannot be refinanced in full and it is all but certain that 
JPTA cannot be refinanced in full. The Japan Asset Manager is continuing negotiations with the current lender and other financial 
institutions. This remains a key priority for both the Responsible Entity and the Japan Asset Manager. 

On 12 November 2009, the units in AJT were stapled to the shares of AJCo (stapled securities) forming the Astro Japan Property Group 
("Astro Group"). It is not possible to trade or deal separately in either the shares or units which comprise the stapled securities. 

The entities forming the Astro Group are domiciled in Australia.

AJT has been deemed the parent entity of the Astro Group although it is not the legal owner of AJCo.  AJT has been deemed the parent 
entity of the Astro Group on the basis that it was in existence prior to AJCo and has greater net assets than AJCo.

The consolidated financial report of the Astro Group for the year ended 30 June 2011 comprises AJT and its controlled entities, and AJCo 
and its controlled entities (together referred to as the “Astro Group”). The two entities comprising the stapled group remain separate legal 
entities in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001  (Cth) and each is required to comply with the reporting and disclosure 
requirements of Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations.

The financial report was authorised for issue by the directors on 31 August 2011. The Responsible Entity has the power to amend and 
reissue this financial report.

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.  These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.  The financial statements are for the consolidated 
entity consisting of AJT and its controlled entities, and AJCo and its controlled entities. 

The consolidated financial report for the Astro Group as at 30 June 2011 has been prepared on a going concern basis as the directors of 
the Responsible Entity, after reviewing AJT‟s going concern status, have concluded that the AJT has reasonable grounds to expect to be 
able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2011

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars.

AJT, the parent entity of the Astro Group, has an obligation arising from agreements entered into with each TK Operator, to make 
additional equity contributions to refund tenant security deposits where the TK Operator has insufficient cash to meet this obligation.  
Generally, the deposit repayment obligation arises upon termination or expiry of a tenancy but some deposits represent prepaid capital 
expenditure or construction cost, the refund of which is made by offset against rents receivable over the term of a lease.  At 30 June 
2011, the Astro Group has an equity contribution obligation of $14.6m for JPTD (net of $9.3m for a construction cost deposit) and $14.1m 
for JPTA.

Should the lender assume control of the TK Operator upon loan default it is possible that the lender will seek to enforce the TK Operators 
right to call for additional equity contributions to fund repayment of tenant security deposits.  The Astro Group has obtained legal advice 
that it is only obliged to make additional equity contributions to fund repayment of tenant security deposits as and when they become due 
and payable and is not obliged to make any such equity contribution immediately upon the default of the loan itself. The possibility that a 
lender may claim such payment upon loan default cannot be dismissed but such claim is, in the opinion of the Astro Group's legal 
advisors, unlikely to be successful.

Historically, security deposits from incoming tenants have funded the repayment of security deposits to outgoing tenants. However, if a 
loan is in default, incoming security deposits would potentially be retained by the lender.  Accordingly, it is likely JPTD and JPTA would be 
unable to use these incoming tenant security deposits to fund such repayments, resulting in the Astro Group potentially being called upon 
to make additional equity contributions as and when obligations to refund deposits to tenants arise, as leases expire or are terminated.

The Japan Asset Manager has reviewed all other arrangements and documents to identify any other consequences which may arise from 
a possible loan default.  One such potential, but unlikely, consequence of a default under the loan to JPTD and/or JPTA arises from the 
fact that there is a common master lessee and asset manager for all TK Operators that hold properties in which the Astro Group has 
interests.  If as a consequence of a default under the loan to JPTD and/or JPTA, an action is taken by the lender or a trustee or tenant 
against either the master lessee or the Japan Asset Manager affecting its assets or corporate status (i.e. insolvency, bankruptcy or asset 
seizure type actions), a lender to another TK Operator would, under certain limited circumstances, have the right to exercise an event of 
default under the loan to the TK Operator.   The Directors consider this an unlikely scenario as all obligations under the loans to JPT, 
JPTC and JPTS are being satisfied, and the Japan Asset Manager and master lessee continue to meet their obligations with respect to 
all TK Operators.  In the unlikely event such a scenario did occur, the Astro Group and the Japan Asset Manager would work with the 
relevant lender to remedy the situation.  In addition, the Japan Asset Manager is currently taking steps to remove the risks arising from 
the common master lessee.

The Directors are not aware of any other consequences arising from the potential default of the loans to JPTD and/or JPTA.

The counterparty to interest rate swaps held by JPTD has early termination rights with varying trigger dates, commencing at the end of 
November 2011.  If the counterparty exercises its early termination right, it would result in the premature settlement of these swaps at the 
then prevailing market values. At 30 June 2011, the three swaps that may be terminated by the counterparty at the end of November 
2011 were out of the money by a total of approximately $7 million.  In the event that JPTD fails to meet any settlement payments upon the 
early termination of the swaps, the counterparty could terminate one remaining swap with a current termination cost of approximately $5 
million.  The position of the counterparty is unsecured and is solely against JPTD, and no other member of the Astro Group.  Failure to 
meet settlement obligations pursuant to the swap agreement would give the lender to JPTD the right to declare an event of default under 
the loan, which could result in the loan falling due some six months prior to its stated maturity in May 2012.  Details of the interest rates 
swaps are set out in Note 10 Derivative Financial Instruments and Note 26(c) Financial Risk Management: Liquidity Risk.

Although these various issues around possible debt default have some potential to affect the timing and availability of cash for future 
distributions to securityholders, the Directors believe that there are reasonable grounds to expect that the Astro Group will be able to pay 
its debts as and when they become due and payable.

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, 
other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, Urgent Issues Group Interpretations and the 
Corporations Act 2001 .

No adjustments have been made to the financial report relating to the recoverability and classification of the asset carrying amounts or 
the amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Astro Group not continue as a going concern.

The financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB).
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The financial report is presented in Australian dollars.

AJT, the parent entity of the Astro Group, has an obligation arising from agreements entered into with each TK Operator, to make 
additional equity contributions to refund tenant security deposits where the TK Operator has insufficient cash to meet this obligation.  
Generally, the deposit repayment obligation arises upon termination or expiry of a tenancy but some deposits represent prepaid capital 
expenditure or construction cost, the refund of which is made by offset against rents receivable over the term of a lease.  At 30 June 
2011, the Astro Group has an equity contribution obligation of $14.6m for JPTD (net of $9.3m for a construction cost deposit) and $14.1m 
for JPTA.

Should the lender assume control of the TK Operator upon loan default it is possible that the lender will seek to enforce the TK Operators 
right to call for additional equity contributions to fund repayment of tenant security deposits.  The Astro Group has obtained legal advice 
that it is only obliged to make additional equity contributions to fund repayment of tenant security deposits as and when they become due 
and payable and is not obliged to make any such equity contribution immediately upon the default of the loan itself. The possibility that a 
lender may claim such payment upon loan default cannot be dismissed but such claim is, in the opinion of the Astro Group's legal 
advisors, unlikely to be successful.

Historically, security deposits from incoming tenants have funded the repayment of security deposits to outgoing tenants. However, if a 
loan is in default, incoming security deposits would potentially be retained by the lender.  Accordingly, it is likely JPTD and JPTA would be 
unable to use these incoming tenant security deposits to fund such repayments, resulting in the Astro Group potentially being called upon 
to make additional equity contributions as and when obligations to refund deposits to tenants arise, as leases expire or are terminated.

The Japan Asset Manager has reviewed all other arrangements and documents to identify any other consequences which may arise from 
a possible loan default.  One such potential, but unlikely, consequence of a default under the loan to JPTD and/or JPTA arises from the 
fact that there is a common master lessee and asset manager for all TK Operators that hold properties in which the Astro Group has 
interests.  If as a consequence of a default under the loan to JPTD and/or JPTA, an action is taken by the lender or a trustee or tenant 
against either the master lessee or the Japan Asset Manager affecting its assets or corporate status (i.e. insolvency, bankruptcy or asset 
seizure type actions), a lender to another TK Operator would, under certain limited circumstances, have the right to exercise an event of 
default under the loan to the TK Operator.   The Directors consider this an unlikely scenario as all obligations under the loans to JPT, 
JPTC and JPTS are being satisfied, and the Japan Asset Manager and master lessee continue to meet their obligations with respect to 
all TK Operators.  In the unlikely event such a scenario did occur, the Astro Group and the Japan Asset Manager would work with the 
relevant lender to remedy the situation.  In addition, the Japan Asset Manager is currently taking steps to remove the risks arising from 
the common master lessee.

The Directors are not aware of any other consequences arising from the potential default of the loans to JPTD and/or JPTA.

The counterparty to interest rate swaps held by JPTD has early termination rights with varying trigger dates, commencing at the end of 
November 2011.  If the counterparty exercises its early termination right, it would result in the premature settlement of these swaps at the 
then prevailing market values. At 30 June 2011, the three swaps that may be terminated by the counterparty at the end of November 
2011 were out of the money by a total of approximately $7 million.  In the event that JPTD fails to meet any settlement payments upon the 
early termination of the swaps, the counterparty could terminate one remaining swap with a current termination cost of approximately $5 
million.  The position of the counterparty is unsecured and is solely against JPTD, and no other member of the Astro Group.  Failure to 
meet settlement obligations pursuant to the swap agreement would give the lender to JPTD the right to declare an event of default under 
the loan, which could result in the loan falling due some six months prior to its stated maturity in May 2012.  Details of the interest rates 
swaps are set out in Note 10 Derivative Financial Instruments and Note 26(c) Financial Risk Management: Liquidity Risk.

Although these various issues around possible debt default have some potential to affect the timing and availability of cash for future 
distributions to securityholders, the Directors believe that there are reasonable grounds to expect that the Astro Group will be able to pay 
its debts as and when they become due and payable.

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, 
other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, Urgent Issues Group Interpretations and the 
Corporations Act 2001 .

No adjustments have been made to the financial report relating to the recoverability and classification of the asset carrying amounts or 
the amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Astro Group not continue as a going concern.

The financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB).
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 Notes to the Consolidated Financial StatementsNOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2011

(b) Business combinations

(c) Changes in accounting policy

The following new standards and amendments to standards are mandatory for the first time for the financial year beginning 1 July 2010:
• AASB 2009-5 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project 
• AASB 2009-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions
• AASB 2009-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of Rights Issues
• AASB Interpretation 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments  and AASB 2009-13 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from Interpretation 19 , and
• AASB 2010-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project .

The adoption of these standards did not have any impact on the current period or any prior period and is not likely to affect future periods.

This includes applying the revised pronouncement to the comparatives in accordance with AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors . None of the items in the financial statements had to be restated as the result of applying this standard.

The Astro Group has elected to apply the following pronouncements to the annual reporting period beginning 1 July 2010:
• AASB 2010-4 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project

The financial report is prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of certain financial assets and 
liabilities (including derivative financial instruments) at fair value through profit or loss, other financial instruments, and investment 
property.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates.  It also requires management to exercise judgement in the process of applying the Astro Group‟s accounting policies. Areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are 
set out in Note 1(af).

The Astro Group is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100 (as amended) and in accordance with that Class Order, amounts in 
the financial report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, including business combinations involving entities 
or businesses under common control, regardless of whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity 
interests issued by the Astro Group. The consideration transferred also includes the fair value of any contingent consideration 
arrangement and the fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair 
values at the acquisition date.  On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Astro Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest‟s proportionate share of the acquiree‟s net identifiable assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value 
of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the Astro Group‟s share of the net identifiable assets acquired is 
recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired and the 
measurement of all amounts has been reviewed, the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.

Stapling arrangement
On the formation of the Astro Group on 12 November 2009, the acquisition method of accounting was applied to account for the “deemed 
acquisition” of AJCo by AJT.  AJT recognised goodwill as the difference between (i) the sum of the consideration transferred and any non-
controlling interest and (ii) the acquisition value of the identifiable net assets acquired.  Since the Astro Group measures its non-
controlling interest in AJCo at the proportionate share of AJCo‟s identifiable net assets, no goodwill arose.  Goodwill arose on the 
acquisition of the Responsible Entity by AJCo.

The consolidated financial information of the Astro Group incorporates the assets and liabilities of AJT and AJCo from the date of the 
formation of the Astro Group.  The results of AJCo will be included in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income of the Astro 
Group from the date of the formation of the Astro Group. The effects of all transactions between AJCo and other entities within the Astro 
Group are eliminated in full. The results and equity of AJCo are disclosed separately as a non-controlling interest in the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income and consolidated statements of financial position respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(d) Principles of consolidation

i) The Tokumei Kumiai (TK)

ii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions are eliminated in preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(e) Segment reporting

(f) Foreign currency

i) Functional and presentation currency

ii) Transactions and balances

iii) Foreign interest

(g) Investments in associates accounted for using the equity method

The financial information of the Astro Group incorporates the interest in 100% of the assets and liabilities arising from the contractual 
relationships with JPT Co., Ltd., JPT Scarlett Co., Ltd., JPT Direct Co., Ltd., JPT Corporate Co., Ltd., and JPT August Co., Ltd., all 
Japanese special purpose companies ("TK Operators").  These contractual relationships are known under Japanese commercial law as 
TKs.  Under the contractual relationships the Astro Group is entitled to 99% of the profits and losses of the businesses of the TKs.  Under 
Japanese commercial law a TK is not a legal entity but a contractual relationship or contractual relationships between one or more 
investors and the TK Operator.

The 1% of TK profit to which the TK Operator is entitled is shown as non-controlling interests in the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income, the TK Operator does not share in any TK losses.  The 1% of TK retained earnings to which the TK Operator is 
entitled is shown as non-controlling interests in the consolidated statements of financial position.

The financial information of the Astro Group incorporates the results of its interests in the TKs from the date on which the TK agreements 
were signed.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker.  The 
chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has 
been identified as the Board.

Items included in the financial statements of each of the consolidated entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”).  The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian 
dollars, which is Astro Group‟s functional and presentation currency.

JPT Direct Co. Ltd (JPTD) and JPT August Co. Ltd (JPTA) are in a net liability position at 30 June 2011.  If JPTD and/or JPTA were to 
default on the respective loans to these TKs the lender could exercise their security rights.  The lender would then assume effective 
control of these TKs and it would be likely that the Astro Group would lose control of JPTD and/or JPTA.  The Astro Group would no 
longer consolidate the results of its interests in the relevant TK from the date on which control of the relevant TK was lost.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the end of the reporting period are translated to Australian dollars at the foreign exchange 
rate ruling at that date.  Foreign exchange differences arising on translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.  Non-
monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at 
the date of the transaction.  Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are 
translated to Australian dollars at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.  Refer to Note 26a(ii) for 
details of the Astro Group‟s foreign exchange hedging policy.

The beneficial interests in the assets and liabilities arising from the TKs and the Associate are translated into Australian currency at rates 
of exchange current at the end of the reporting period (A$1 =¥86.18 (2010:A$1 =¥75.71)) , while their income and expenditures are 
translated at the average of rates ruling during the reporting period (A$1 =¥82.11 (2010:A$1 =¥80.51)).  Exchange differences arising on 
translation are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve.

Associates are all entities over which the Astro Group has significant influence but not control or joint control, generally accompanying a 
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.  The Astro Group‟s 30% economic interest in an associate is accounted for in 
the consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost.  The Astro Group‟s 
investment in associate includes goodwill (net of any accumulated impairment loss) identified on acquisition.

The Astro Group‟s share of its associate‟s post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income, and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in reserves.  The cumulative post-
acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment.

Dividends receivable from associate reduce the Astro Group‟s carrying amount of the investment.
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(d) Principles of consolidation

i) The Tokumei Kumiai (TK)

ii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions are eliminated in preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(e) Segment reporting

(f) Foreign currency

i) Functional and presentation currency

ii) Transactions and balances

iii) Foreign interest

(g) Investments in associates accounted for using the equity method

The financial information of the Astro Group incorporates the interest in 100% of the assets and liabilities arising from the contractual 
relationships with JPT Co., Ltd., JPT Scarlett Co., Ltd., JPT Direct Co., Ltd., JPT Corporate Co., Ltd., and JPT August Co., Ltd., all 
Japanese special purpose companies ("TK Operators").  These contractual relationships are known under Japanese commercial law as 
TKs.  Under the contractual relationships the Astro Group is entitled to 99% of the profits and losses of the businesses of the TKs.  Under 
Japanese commercial law a TK is not a legal entity but a contractual relationship or contractual relationships between one or more 
investors and the TK Operator.

The 1% of TK profit to which the TK Operator is entitled is shown as non-controlling interests in the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income, the TK Operator does not share in any TK losses.  The 1% of TK retained earnings to which the TK Operator is 
entitled is shown as non-controlling interests in the consolidated statements of financial position.

The financial information of the Astro Group incorporates the results of its interests in the TKs from the date on which the TK agreements 
were signed.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker.  The 
chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has 
been identified as the Board.

Items included in the financial statements of each of the consolidated entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”).  The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian 
dollars, which is Astro Group‟s functional and presentation currency.

JPT Direct Co. Ltd (JPTD) and JPT August Co. Ltd (JPTA) are in a net liability position at 30 June 2011.  If JPTD and/or JPTA were to 
default on the respective loans to these TKs the lender could exercise their security rights.  The lender would then assume effective 
control of these TKs and it would be likely that the Astro Group would lose control of JPTD and/or JPTA.  The Astro Group would no 
longer consolidate the results of its interests in the relevant TK from the date on which control of the relevant TK was lost.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the end of the reporting period are translated to Australian dollars at the foreign exchange 
rate ruling at that date.  Foreign exchange differences arising on translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.  Non-
monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at 
the date of the transaction.  Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are 
translated to Australian dollars at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.  Refer to Note 26a(ii) for 
details of the Astro Group‟s foreign exchange hedging policy.

The beneficial interests in the assets and liabilities arising from the TKs and the Associate are translated into Australian currency at rates 
of exchange current at the end of the reporting period (A$1 =¥86.18 (2010:A$1 =¥75.71)) , while their income and expenditures are 
translated at the average of rates ruling during the reporting period (A$1 =¥82.11 (2010:A$1 =¥80.51)).  Exchange differences arising on 
translation are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve.

Associates are all entities over which the Astro Group has significant influence but not control or joint control, generally accompanying a 
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.  The Astro Group‟s 30% economic interest in an associate is accounted for in 
the consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost.  The Astro Group‟s 
investment in associate includes goodwill (net of any accumulated impairment loss) identified on acquisition.

The Astro Group‟s share of its associate‟s post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income, and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in reserves.  The cumulative post-
acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment.

Dividends receivable from associate reduce the Astro Group‟s carrying amount of the investment.
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(h) Derivative financial instruments

(i) Non-current assets held for sale

(j) Property, plant & equipment

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost over estimated useful lives as follows:

Computer equipment 4 years
Office equipment 1 – 10 years
Fixtures and fittings 1 – 20 years

When the Astro Group‟s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured 
long-term receivables, the Astro Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf 
of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Astro Group and its associate are eliminated to the extent of the Astro Group‟s interest in 
the associate.  Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.  
Accounting policies of the associate have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Astro 
Group.

The Astro Group uses derivative financial instruments to economically hedge its exposure to foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk 
arising from operating, financing and investing activities.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value on the date the derivative contract is entered into and subsequently re-
measured to their fair value.  The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a 
hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged.

The Astro Group has designated all interest rate swap derivatives as hedges of highly probable forecast transactions (cash flow hedges).  
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in 
equity in the hedging reserve.  The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The Astro Group documents at inception of the hedging transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items as 
well as its risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions.  The Astro Group also documents its 
assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions have been 
and will continue to be highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of hedged items.

Fair value of various derivatives financial instruments used for hedging purposes is disclosed in Note 26a(ii).

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income in the periods when the hedged 
item will affect profit or loss (for instance when the forecast interest payment that is hedged takes place).

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold or terminated, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any 
cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised in profit or loss when the forecast transaction is 
ultimately recognised in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.  When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to 
occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately transferred to the profit or loss.

The cross currency derivative instrument (capital hedge) does not qualify for hedge accounting.  Changes in the fair value of any 
derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using standard market valuation techniques.  
The Astro Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each balance date.  
The fair value of interest-rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows. The fair value of forward 
exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange market rates at the end of the reporting period.

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather 
than through continuing use, and a sale is considered highly probable.  They are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair 
value less costs to sell, except for assets such as deferred tax assets and investment property that are carried at fair value.

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.  Subsequent costs are included in the asset‟s carrying amount or 
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Astro Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as a separate 
asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the reporting period in which 
they are incurred.
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(k) Investment property

• At each reporting date (i.e. 30 June and 31 December), independent valuations will be obtained on:
-  each of the top ten properties by value;
-  where required by a lender; and
-  other properties to ensure that not less than 75% of the portfolio by value is independently valued;

• All properties must be independently valued by external appraisers every three years.

Refer to note 1(af)(i) for further details of the significant estimates and assumptions used in property valuations.

(l) Intangible assets

i) Goodwill

ii) IT development and software

• At each reporting date, all property values not otherwise subject to independent valuation must be reviewed by the Japan Asset 
Manager.  If the Japan Asset Manager determines a material change in value has occurred, then an independent valuation must be 
obtained; and

Independent valuations are conducted by companies which have appropriate recognised professional qualifications and recent 
experience in the location and category of property being valued.

Costs incurred in developing products or systems and costs incurred in acquiring software and licenses that will contribute to future 
period financial benefits through revenue generation and/or cost reduction are capitalised to software and systems. Costs capitalised 
include external direct costs of materials and service and direct payroll and payroll related costs of employees‟ time spent on the project. 
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over 4 years.

IT development costs include only those costs directly attributable to the development phase and are only recognised following 
completion of technical feasibility and where the group has an intention and ability to use the asset.

Investment properties are properties which are held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both.  Subsequent to the 
initial recognition of investment properties at cost including transaction costs, investment properties are stated at fair value.  Under the 
revised valuation policy adopted 15 December 2010:  

The assets‟ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. An asset‟s carrying amount 
is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset‟s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in profit or loss.

The valuations are prepared by considering the aggregate of the net annual rents receivable from the properties and where relevant, 
associated costs.  A yield which reflects the specific risks inherent in the net cash flows is then applied to the net annual rentals to arrive 
at the property valuation.

Valuations reflect, amongst other things; the type of tenants actually in occupation or responsible for meeting lease commitments or likely 
to be in occupation after letting of vacant accommodation and the market‟s general perception of their credit-worthiness; the allocation of 
maintenance and insurance responsibilities between lessor and lessee; and the remaining economic life of the property.  It has been 
assumed that whenever rent reviews or lease renewals are pending with anticipated reversionary increases, all notices and where 
appropriate counter notices have been served validly and within the appropriate time.

Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value is recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Astro Group's share of the net identifiable assets of 
the acquired subsidiary/associate at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. 
Goodwill on acquisitions of associates is included in investments in associates. Goodwill is not amortised. Instead goodwill is tested for 
impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost 
less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the 
entity sold.

The fair values are based on market values, being the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on the date of 
valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm‟s length transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each 
acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2011

(k) Investment property

• At each reporting date (i.e. 30 June and 31 December), independent valuations will be obtained on:
-  each of the top ten properties by value;
-  where required by a lender; and
-  other properties to ensure that not less than 75% of the portfolio by value is independently valued;

• All properties must be independently valued by external appraisers every three years.

Refer to note 1(af)(i) for further details of the significant estimates and assumptions used in property valuations.

(l) Intangible assets

i) Goodwill

ii) IT development and software

• At each reporting date, all property values not otherwise subject to independent valuation must be reviewed by the Japan Asset 
Manager.  If the Japan Asset Manager determines a material change in value has occurred, then an independent valuation must be 
obtained; and

Independent valuations are conducted by companies which have appropriate recognised professional qualifications and recent 
experience in the location and category of property being valued.

Costs incurred in developing products or systems and costs incurred in acquiring software and licenses that will contribute to future 
period financial benefits through revenue generation and/or cost reduction are capitalised to software and systems. Costs capitalised 
include external direct costs of materials and service and direct payroll and payroll related costs of employees‟ time spent on the project. 
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over 4 years.

IT development costs include only those costs directly attributable to the development phase and are only recognised following 
completion of technical feasibility and where the group has an intention and ability to use the asset.

Investment properties are properties which are held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both.  Subsequent to the 
initial recognition of investment properties at cost including transaction costs, investment properties are stated at fair value.  Under the 
revised valuation policy adopted 15 December 2010:  

The assets‟ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. An asset‟s carrying amount 
is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset‟s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in profit or loss.

The valuations are prepared by considering the aggregate of the net annual rents receivable from the properties and where relevant, 
associated costs.  A yield which reflects the specific risks inherent in the net cash flows is then applied to the net annual rentals to arrive 
at the property valuation.

Valuations reflect, amongst other things; the type of tenants actually in occupation or responsible for meeting lease commitments or likely 
to be in occupation after letting of vacant accommodation and the market‟s general perception of their credit-worthiness; the allocation of 
maintenance and insurance responsibilities between lessor and lessee; and the remaining economic life of the property.  It has been 
assumed that whenever rent reviews or lease renewals are pending with anticipated reversionary increases, all notices and where 
appropriate counter notices have been served validly and within the appropriate time.

Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value is recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Astro Group's share of the net identifiable assets of 
the acquired subsidiary/associate at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. 
Goodwill on acquisitions of associates is included in investments in associates. Goodwill is not amortised. Instead goodwill is tested for 
impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost 
less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the 
entity sold.

The fair values are based on market values, being the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on the date of 
valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm‟s length transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each 
acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion.
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(m) Impairment of assets

(n) Cash and cash equivalents

(o) Contributed equity

(p) Revenue

i) Property rental income

ii) Disposal of assets

iii) Distribution income

iv) Financing income

(q) Expenses

i) Financing costs

Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank, cash on deposit, and cash in trust.  Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand 
and form an integral part of the Astro Group‟s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the 
purpose of the consolidated statements of cash flows.  Cash in trust relates to cash required to be reserved under debt covenants or by 
Trust Banks for tenant deposits, capital expenditure or interest payments.

Stapled securities are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new stapled securities or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from 
the proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new stapled securities or options for the acquisition of a business are 
not included in the cost of the acquisition as part of the purchase consideration.

If the entity reacquires its own equity instruments, for example, as the result of a security buy-back, those instruments are deducted from 
equity and the associated securities are cancelled. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and the consideration paid including any 
directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is recognised directly in equity.

Revenues are recognised at fair value of the consideration received net of the amount of recoverable goods and services tax (GST) or 
Japanese consumption tax payable to the taxation authority. Refer to Note 1(r) for further information.

Distribution income is recognised in profit or loss on the date the entity‟s right to receive payment is established.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss on a time proportionate basis, using the effective interest rate method.

All other revenue is recognised on an accruals basis.

Financing costs comprise interest payable on borrowings calculated using the effective interest rate method.

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, or 
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is 
recognised for the amount by which the asset‟s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher 
of an asset‟s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest 
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or 
groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible 
reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

Gain or loss on disposal of assets is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset at the date of disposal and the 
net proceeds from disposal and is included in profit or loss in the reporting period of disposal. Revenue obtained from the sale of 
properties is recognised when the significant risks and rewards have transferred to the buyer on exchange of unconditional contracts.

The Astro Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits 
will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the Astro Group‟s activities as described below. The Astro Group 
bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each 
arrangement.

Rental income from investment property is recognised in profit or loss on a straight line basis over the term of the lease.  Lease incentives 
granted are recognised as an asset within Investment Property and amortised over the term of the lease. The amortisation is recorded 
against property income.

Recovery of outgoings as specified in lease agreements is accrued on an estimated basis and adjusted when the actual amounts are 
invoiced to the respective tenants.
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ii) Responsible Entity’s and Japan Asset Manager’s remuneration

(r) Tax

i) Australian income tax - AJT

ii) Australian income tax - AJCo and other taxable entities

iii) Tax consolidation - Australia

iv) Japanese withholding tax

The Asset Management Fee payable to the Japan Asset Manager is subject to a payment cap whereby the Asset Management Fee 
(being the aggregate of the Base Fee and the Performance Fee) paid in any one year must not exceed 0.8% of the adjusted gross asset 
value of the TKs (includes investment properties at cost). Any excess will be carried forward into future years and will be payable to the 
extent to which the Asset Management Fee payable in any subsequent year to the Japan Asset Manager is less than the 0.8% cap.  Any 
excess which has been carried forward for at least three years is then payable and this payment of outstanding fees will not be capped.  
Accordingly, it is possible that the payment of the Asset Management Fee to the Japan Asset Manager within any year could exceed 
0.8% of the adjusted gross asset value the TKs, particularly after periods where there has been three years of cumulative out-
performance.

b) Tier 2 – 15% of the amount (denominated in Japanese Yen) equivalent to the amount the internal rate of return of the Japanese 
Investments exceeds the Asset Benchmark in excess of 1% out-performance.

b) Tier 2 – 15% of out performance of the Benchmark greater than 2% multiplied by total equity of AJT.

Under current Australian income tax legislation, AJT is not liable to income tax provided Securityholders are presently entitled to all of the 
AJT‟s taxable income at 30 June each year and any taxable gain derived from the sale of an asset is fully distributed to Securityholders.  
Tax allowances for building, plant and equipment depreciation are distributed to Securityholders in the form of tax deferred components of 
distributions.

The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period's taxable income based on the applicable 
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to 
unused tax losses.

In accordance with AJT's Constitution, the Responsible Entity and the Japan Asset Manager are entitled to receive an Asset 
Management Fee. The Asset Management Fee is made up of:

- An Asset Base Fee paid to the Japan Asset Manager equal to 0.40% per annum of the adjusted gross asset value of the TKs and an 
AJT Base Fee paid to the Responsible Entity equal to cost recovery.  Responsible Entity Base fees were recognised in profit or loss by 
the Astro Group up to 7 April 2010, being the date on which the Astro Group acquired control of the Responsible Entity (refer to Note 31), 
and the Responsible Entity Base fees after that date were eliminated on consolidation.

- A Performance Fee component payable to the Japan Asset Manager which comprises a potential fee in relation to the returns of AJT 
(AJT Performance Fee), and a potential fee in relation to the returns of AJT's assets (Asset Management Performance Fee).

AJCo and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entity have implemented the tax consolidation legislation. As a consequence, these 
entities are taxed as a single entity and the deferred tax assets and liabilities of these entities are set off in the consolidated financial 
statements.

Effective as of 1 April 2002, all foreign corporations and non-resident individuals that do not have permanent establishments in Japan are 
subject to 20% withholding tax on the distribution of profits under TK contracts.  The 20% withholding tax is the final Japanese tax on 
such distributed TK profits and such profits are not subject to any other Japanese taxes (assuming that such investor is not a resident 
of/does not have permanent establishment in Japan).

The amount of profit that is allocated to TK investors under a TK agreement is immediately deductible from the TK operator‟s taxable 
income regardless of whether a distribution to any TK investor is actually made at that time.  The 20% withholding tax described above 
however, is only imposed on an actual distribution of profit to investors.

- The AJT Performance Fee is only payable to the Japan Asset Manager.  The Japan Asset Manager is only entitled to 40% of the 
performance fee which is calculated in two tiers as follows:

- Asset Management Performance Fee payable to the Japan Asset Manager is calculated in two tiers as follows:

a) Tier 1 – 5% of the amount (denominated in Japanese Yen) equivalent to the amount the internal rate of return of the Japanese 
Investments exceeds the Asset Benchmark (which is 10%) up to 1% out-performance; and

a) Tier 1 – 5% of out performance of the ASX 200 Property Accumulation Index return (Benchmark) (up to 2%) multiplied by total equity of 
AJT; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2011

ii) Responsible Entity’s and Japan Asset Manager’s remuneration

(r) Tax

i) Australian income tax - AJT

ii) Australian income tax - AJCo and other taxable entities

iii) Tax consolidation - Australia

iv) Japanese withholding tax

The Asset Management Fee payable to the Japan Asset Manager is subject to a payment cap whereby the Asset Management Fee 
(being the aggregate of the Base Fee and the Performance Fee) paid in any one year must not exceed 0.8% of the adjusted gross asset 
value of the TKs (includes investment properties at cost). Any excess will be carried forward into future years and will be payable to the 
extent to which the Asset Management Fee payable in any subsequent year to the Japan Asset Manager is less than the 0.8% cap.  Any 
excess which has been carried forward for at least three years is then payable and this payment of outstanding fees will not be capped.  
Accordingly, it is possible that the payment of the Asset Management Fee to the Japan Asset Manager within any year could exceed 
0.8% of the adjusted gross asset value the TKs, particularly after periods where there has been three years of cumulative out-
performance.

b) Tier 2 – 15% of the amount (denominated in Japanese Yen) equivalent to the amount the internal rate of return of the Japanese 
Investments exceeds the Asset Benchmark in excess of 1% out-performance.

b) Tier 2 – 15% of out performance of the Benchmark greater than 2% multiplied by total equity of AJT.

Under current Australian income tax legislation, AJT is not liable to income tax provided Securityholders are presently entitled to all of the 
AJT‟s taxable income at 30 June each year and any taxable gain derived from the sale of an asset is fully distributed to Securityholders.  
Tax allowances for building, plant and equipment depreciation are distributed to Securityholders in the form of tax deferred components of 
distributions.

The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period's taxable income based on the applicable 
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to 
unused tax losses.

In accordance with AJT's Constitution, the Responsible Entity and the Japan Asset Manager are entitled to receive an Asset 
Management Fee. The Asset Management Fee is made up of:

- An Asset Base Fee paid to the Japan Asset Manager equal to 0.40% per annum of the adjusted gross asset value of the TKs and an 
AJT Base Fee paid to the Responsible Entity equal to cost recovery.  Responsible Entity Base fees were recognised in profit or loss by 
the Astro Group up to 7 April 2010, being the date on which the Astro Group acquired control of the Responsible Entity (refer to Note 31), 
and the Responsible Entity Base fees after that date were eliminated on consolidation.

- A Performance Fee component payable to the Japan Asset Manager which comprises a potential fee in relation to the returns of AJT 
(AJT Performance Fee), and a potential fee in relation to the returns of AJT's assets (Asset Management Performance Fee).

AJCo and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entity have implemented the tax consolidation legislation. As a consequence, these 
entities are taxed as a single entity and the deferred tax assets and liabilities of these entities are set off in the consolidated financial 
statements.

Effective as of 1 April 2002, all foreign corporations and non-resident individuals that do not have permanent establishments in Japan are 
subject to 20% withholding tax on the distribution of profits under TK contracts.  The 20% withholding tax is the final Japanese tax on 
such distributed TK profits and such profits are not subject to any other Japanese taxes (assuming that such investor is not a resident 
of/does not have permanent establishment in Japan).

The amount of profit that is allocated to TK investors under a TK agreement is immediately deductible from the TK operator‟s taxable 
income regardless of whether a distribution to any TK investor is actually made at that time.  The 20% withholding tax described above 
however, is only imposed on an actual distribution of profit to investors.

- The AJT Performance Fee is only payable to the Japan Asset Manager.  The Japan Asset Manager is only entitled to 40% of the 
performance fee which is calculated in two tiers as follows:

- Asset Management Performance Fee payable to the Japan Asset Manager is calculated in two tiers as follows:

a) Tier 1 – 5% of the amount (denominated in Japanese Yen) equivalent to the amount the internal rate of return of the Japanese 
Investments exceeds the Asset Benchmark (which is 10%) up to 1% out-performance; and

a) Tier 1 – 5% of out performance of the ASX 200 Property Accumulation Index return (Benchmark) (up to 2%) multiplied by total equity of 
AJT; and
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for the year ended 30 June 2011

v) Deferred Australian and Japanese tax

(s) Leases

(t) Distributions

(u) Goods and services tax and Japanese consumption tax

(v) Trade and other payables

(w) Provisions

Cash flows are included in the consolidated statements of cash flows on a gross basis.  The GST or consumption tax components of 
cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authorities are classified as 
operating cash flows.

Trade and other payables are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether or not billed to the 
Astro Group and are stated at cost.  Trade accounts payable are normally settled within 60 days.

A provision is recognised when there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow 
of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated.

If the effect is material, a provision is determined by discounting the expected future cash flows (adjusted for expected future risks) 
required to settle the obligation at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the liability, most closely matching the expected future payments.  The unwinding of the discount is treated as part of the 
expense related to the particular provision.  The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Distributions are paid within three months of each half year end.  The half year ends are 30 June and 31 December.  Distributions are 
accrued for when they are declared and no longer at the discretion of the entity.

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST) or Japanese consumption tax 
(consumption tax), except where the amount of GST or consumption tax incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office 
(“ATO”) or Japanese tax authority (“tax authorities”).  In these latter circumstances the GST or consumption tax is recognised as part of 
the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST or consumption tax included.  The net amount of GST or consumption tax 
recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authorities is included as a current asset or liability in the consolidated statements of financial 
position.

On a six monthly basis, once interest bearing debt service, required lender reserve payments and retentions for future tenant deposit 
liabilities have been made, the TK Operator will make cash distributions to the Astro Group.  For the most part these distributions can be 
expected to be of income for Japanese tax purposes, and thus subject to withholding tax at a rate of 20%, however, the cash available for 
distribution from the TK may exceed taxable profit for Japanese tax purposes and may therefore be made in part free from Japanese 
withholding tax as either a return of capital or (if capital has already been fully returned) as a loan from the TK to the Astro Group.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for timing differences at the tax rates expected to apply when assets are recovered or 
liabilities are settled based on the rate which are enacted or substantially enacted for each jurisdiction.  The relevant tax rate is applied to 
the cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable temporary differences to measure the deferred tax asset or liability.  The relevant rate 
currently enacted in Japan is 20% (2010: 20%), the relevant rate currently enacted in Australia is 30% (2010: 30%).

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available 
to utilise those temporary differences.  Deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised 
directly in equity.

Where the final tax outcome is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the deferred tax 
provisions in the period in which the determination is made.

The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires an 
assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement 
conveys a right to use the asset.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to the Astro Group as lessee are classified 
as operating leases (see Note 32). Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged 
to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
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(x) Employee benefits

i) Salaries, sick leave and annual leave

ii) Long service leave 

iii) Defined contribution plan

(y) Interest bearing debt

(z) Receivables

(aa) Tenant deposits

(ab) Earnings per stapled security

Liabilities for salaries, including non-monetary benefits, and annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period are provided for in respect of employees' services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.  The liability for annual leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits.  
Expenses for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken and are measured at the rates paid or payable.

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of expected 
future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the end of the reporting period using the projected unit 
credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of 
service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to 
maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Employees defined contribution funds receive fixed contributions from Astro Group companies and Astro Group‟s legal or constructive 
obligation is limited to these contributions.  Contributions to defined contribution funds are recognised as an expense as they become 
payable.  Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or reduction in the future payments is 
available.

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value of the consideration received less attributable transaction costs.  
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest bearing debt is stated at amortised cost with any difference between proceeds and redemption 
value being recognised in profit or loss over the period of the debt on an effective interest basis.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less provision for impairment.  Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off by reducing 
the carrying amount directly. An allowance account (provision for impairment of trade receivables) is used when there is objective 
evidence that the Astro Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. Significant 
financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in 
payments (more than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the impairment 
allowance is the difference between the asset‟s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 
original effective interest rate. Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are not discounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial.

Provision for impairment is booked when there is objective evidence that the Astro Group will not be able to collect all amounts due 
according to the original terms of the receivables.  An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the assets carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount based on the present value of estimated future cash flows.

The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss within other expenses. When a trade receivable for which an impairment 
allowance had been recognised becomes uncollectible in a subsequent period, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against other expenses in profit or loss.

Tenant deposit liabilities are recognised at fair value and classified as current or non-current based on the obligation to return the deposit 
to tenants which occurs upon termination of a lease and subject to the tenant fulfilling all lease obligations.  Where leases have no 
specific termination date, the relevant tenant deposit liability is classified as current.

Basic earnings per stapled security is determined by dividing net profit attributable to the Securityholders of the Astro Group by the 
weighted average number of stapled securities on issue during the reporting period.

Diluted earnings per stapled security is determined by dividing net profit attributable to the Securityholders of the Astro Group by the 
weighted average number of ordinary stapled securities and dilutive potential ordinary stapled securities on issue during the financial 
year.

Included within tenant deposit liabilities are deposits which are amortised against future rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term.  Amounts which will be amortised within one year are classified as current with the remainder classified as non-current.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2011

(x) Employee benefits

i) Salaries, sick leave and annual leave

ii) Long service leave 

iii) Defined contribution plan

(y) Interest bearing debt

(z) Receivables

(aa) Tenant deposits

(ab) Earnings per stapled security

Liabilities for salaries, including non-monetary benefits, and annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period are provided for in respect of employees' services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.  The liability for annual leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits.  
Expenses for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken and are measured at the rates paid or payable.

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of expected 
future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the end of the reporting period using the projected unit 
credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of 
service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to 
maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Employees defined contribution funds receive fixed contributions from Astro Group companies and Astro Group‟s legal or constructive 
obligation is limited to these contributions.  Contributions to defined contribution funds are recognised as an expense as they become 
payable.  Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or reduction in the future payments is 
available.

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value of the consideration received less attributable transaction costs.  
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest bearing debt is stated at amortised cost with any difference between proceeds and redemption 
value being recognised in profit or loss over the period of the debt on an effective interest basis.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less provision for impairment.  Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off by reducing 
the carrying amount directly. An allowance account (provision for impairment of trade receivables) is used when there is objective 
evidence that the Astro Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. Significant 
financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in 
payments (more than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the impairment 
allowance is the difference between the asset‟s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 
original effective interest rate. Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are not discounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial.

Provision for impairment is booked when there is objective evidence that the Astro Group will not be able to collect all amounts due 
according to the original terms of the receivables.  An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the assets carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount based on the present value of estimated future cash flows.

The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss within other expenses. When a trade receivable for which an impairment 
allowance had been recognised becomes uncollectible in a subsequent period, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against other expenses in profit or loss.

Tenant deposit liabilities are recognised at fair value and classified as current or non-current based on the obligation to return the deposit 
to tenants which occurs upon termination of a lease and subject to the tenant fulfilling all lease obligations.  Where leases have no 
specific termination date, the relevant tenant deposit liability is classified as current.

Basic earnings per stapled security is determined by dividing net profit attributable to the Securityholders of the Astro Group by the 
weighted average number of stapled securities on issue during the reporting period.

Diluted earnings per stapled security is determined by dividing net profit attributable to the Securityholders of the Astro Group by the 
weighted average number of ordinary stapled securities and dilutive potential ordinary stapled securities on issue during the financial 
year.

Included within tenant deposit liabilities are deposits which are amortised against future rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term.  Amounts which will be amortised within one year are classified as current with the remainder classified as non-current.
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(ac) Deferred lease incentive

(ad) Parent entity financial information

i) Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities

(ae) New accounting standards and UIG interpretations

The Astro Group, as lessee, recognises the aggregate benefit of incentives as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term, on a 
straight-line basis unless another systematic basis is representative of the time pattern of the lessee‟s benefit from the use of the leased 
asset.

Revised AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures and AASB 2009-12 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (effective 
from 1 January 2011)

In December 2009 the AASB issued a revised AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures . It is effective for accounting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2011 and must be applied retrospectively. The amendment simplifies the definition of a related party. The Astro Group will 
apply the amended standard from 1 July 2011. When the amendments are applied, the Astro Group will need to disclose any transactions 
between its subsidiaries and its associates.

The financial information for the parent entity, AJT, disclosed in note 34 has been prepared on the same basis as the consolidated 
financial statements, except as set out below.

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities are accounted for at cost in the financial statements of AJT. Dividends 
received from associates are recognised in the parent entity's profit or loss, rather than being deducted from the carrying amount of these 
investments.

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 June 2011 reporting periods.  
The Astro Group‟s assessment of the impact of these new standards and interpretations is set out below.

AASB 9 Financial Instruments  and AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9
(effective from 1 January 2013)

AASB 9 Financial Instruments  addresses the classification and measurement of financial assets and is likely to affect the Astro Group‟s 
accounting for its financial assets. The standard is not applicable until 1 January 2013 but is available for early adoption. The Astro Group 
is yet to assess its full impact. However, initial indications are that it is unlikely to have a material impact on the Astro Group.

AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards and AASB 2010-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements (effective from 1 July 2013)

On 30 June 2010 the AASB officially introduced a revised differential reporting framework in Australia. Under this framework, a two-tier 
differential reporting regime applies to all entities that prepare general purpose financial statements. The Astro Group is listed on the ASX 
and is not eligible to adopt the new Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements. The two standards will 
therefore have no impact on the financial statements of the entity.

AASB 2010-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures on Transfers of Financial Assets (effective for 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011)

Amendments made to AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures in November 2010 introduce additional disclosures in respect of risk 
exposures arising from transferred financial assets. The amendments will affect particularly entities that sell, factor, securitise, lend or 
otherwise transfer financial assets to other parties. They are not expected to have any significant impact on the Astro Group's 
disclosures. The Astro Group intends to apply the amendment from 1 July 2011.

AASB 2010-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets (effective from 1 
January 2012)

In December 2010, the AASB amended AASB 112 Income Taxes to provide a practical approach for measuring deferred tax liabilities 
and deferred tax assets when investment property is measured using the fair value model. AASB 112 requires the measurement of 
deferred tax assets or liabilities to reflect the tax consequences that would follow from the way management expects to recover or settle 
the carrying amount of the relevant assets or liabilities, that is through use or through sale. The amendment introduces a rebuttable 
presumption that investment property which is measured at fair value is recovered entirely by sale. The Astro Group will apply the 
amendment from 1 July 2012. It is currently evaluating the impact of the amendment.
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IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement  (effective 1 January 2013)

(af) Use of significant estimates and assumptions

AASB 2009-12 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards  (effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2011)

AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9  (effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2013]; and

The Astro Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom 
equal the related actual results. Critical accounting estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

In May 2011, the IASB issued a suite of five new and amended standards which address the accounting for joint arrangements, 
consolidated financial statements and associated disclosures. The AASB is expected to issue equivalent Australian standards shortly.

IFRS 10 replaces all of the guidance on control and consolidation in IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, and SIC-12 
Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. The core principle that a consolidated entity presents a parent and its subsidiaries as if they are 
a single economic entity remains unchanged, as do the mechanics of consolidation. However the standard introduces a single definition 
of control that applies to all entities. It focuses on the need to have both power and rights or exposure to variable returns before control is 
present. Power is the current ability to direct the activities that significantly influence returns. Returns must vary and can be positive, 
negative or both. There is also new guidance on participating and protective rights and on agent/principal relationships. While the Astro 
Group does not expect the new standard to have a significant impact on its composition, it has yet to perform a detailed analysis of the 
new guidance in the context of its various investees that may or may not be controlled under the new rules. 

IFRS 11 introduces a principles based approach to accounting for joint arrangements. The focus is no longer on the legal structure of joint 
arrangements, but rather on how rights and obligations are shared by the parties to the joint arrangement. Based on the assessment of 
rights and obligations, a joint arrangement will be classified as either a joint operation or joint venture. Joint ventures are accounted for 
using the equity method, and the choice to proportionately consolidate will no longer be permitted. Parties to a joint operation will account 
their share of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities in much the same way as under the previous standard. IFRS 11 also provides 
guidance for parties that participate in joint arrangements but do not share joint control. As the Astro Group is not party to any joint 
arrangements, this standard will not have any impact on its financial statements.

IFRS 12 sets out the required disclosures for entities reporting under the two new standards, IFRS 10 and IFRS 11, and replaces the 
disclosure requirements currently found in IAS 28. Application of this standard by the Astro Group will not affect any of the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements, but will impact the type of information disclosed in relation to the Astro Group's investments.

Amendments to IAS 28 provide clarification that an entity continues to apply the equity method and does not remeasure its retained 
interest as part of ownership changes where a joint venture becomes an associate, and vice versa. The amendments also introduce a 
“partial disposal” concept. The Astro Group is still assessing the impact of these amendments. 

These recently issued or amended standards are not expected to have a significant impact on the amounts recognised in these financial 
statements when they are restated on application of these new accounting standards.

The Astro Group does not expect to adopt the new standards before their operative date. They would therefore be first applied in the 
financial statements for the annual reporting period ending 30 June 2014.

IFRS 13 was released in May 2011. The AASB is expected to issue an equivalent Australian standard shortly. IFRS 13 explains how to 
measure fair value and aims to enhance fair value disclosures. The Astro Group has yet to determine which, if any, of its current 
measurement techniques will have to change as a result of the new guidance. It is therefore not possible to state the impact, if any, of the 
new rules on any of the amounts recognised in the financial statements.  However, application of the new standard will impact the type of 
information disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements , IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements , IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities  and 
IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures  (effective 1 July 2013)

In addition to the above, further amendments to accounting standards have been proposed as a result of the revision of related standards 
and the Annual Improvement Projects (for non-urgent changes). These amendments are set out below:
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IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement  (effective 1 January 2013)

(af) Use of significant estimates and assumptions

AASB 2009-12 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards  (effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2011)

AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9  (effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2013]; and

The Astro Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom 
equal the related actual results. Critical accounting estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

In May 2011, the IASB issued a suite of five new and amended standards which address the accounting for joint arrangements, 
consolidated financial statements and associated disclosures. The AASB is expected to issue equivalent Australian standards shortly.

IFRS 10 replaces all of the guidance on control and consolidation in IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, and SIC-12 
Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. The core principle that a consolidated entity presents a parent and its subsidiaries as if they are 
a single economic entity remains unchanged, as do the mechanics of consolidation. However the standard introduces a single definition 
of control that applies to all entities. It focuses on the need to have both power and rights or exposure to variable returns before control is 
present. Power is the current ability to direct the activities that significantly influence returns. Returns must vary and can be positive, 
negative or both. There is also new guidance on participating and protective rights and on agent/principal relationships. While the Astro 
Group does not expect the new standard to have a significant impact on its composition, it has yet to perform a detailed analysis of the 
new guidance in the context of its various investees that may or may not be controlled under the new rules. 

IFRS 11 introduces a principles based approach to accounting for joint arrangements. The focus is no longer on the legal structure of joint 
arrangements, but rather on how rights and obligations are shared by the parties to the joint arrangement. Based on the assessment of 
rights and obligations, a joint arrangement will be classified as either a joint operation or joint venture. Joint ventures are accounted for 
using the equity method, and the choice to proportionately consolidate will no longer be permitted. Parties to a joint operation will account 
their share of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities in much the same way as under the previous standard. IFRS 11 also provides 
guidance for parties that participate in joint arrangements but do not share joint control. As the Astro Group is not party to any joint 
arrangements, this standard will not have any impact on its financial statements.

IFRS 12 sets out the required disclosures for entities reporting under the two new standards, IFRS 10 and IFRS 11, and replaces the 
disclosure requirements currently found in IAS 28. Application of this standard by the Astro Group will not affect any of the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements, but will impact the type of information disclosed in relation to the Astro Group's investments.

Amendments to IAS 28 provide clarification that an entity continues to apply the equity method and does not remeasure its retained 
interest as part of ownership changes where a joint venture becomes an associate, and vice versa. The amendments also introduce a 
“partial disposal” concept. The Astro Group is still assessing the impact of these amendments. 

These recently issued or amended standards are not expected to have a significant impact on the amounts recognised in these financial 
statements when they are restated on application of these new accounting standards.

The Astro Group does not expect to adopt the new standards before their operative date. They would therefore be first applied in the 
financial statements for the annual reporting period ending 30 June 2014.

IFRS 13 was released in May 2011. The AASB is expected to issue an equivalent Australian standard shortly. IFRS 13 explains how to 
measure fair value and aims to enhance fair value disclosures. The Astro Group has yet to determine which, if any, of its current 
measurement techniques will have to change as a result of the new guidance. It is therefore not possible to state the impact, if any, of the 
new rules on any of the amounts recognised in the financial statements.  However, application of the new standard will impact the type of 
information disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements , IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements , IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities  and 
IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures  (effective 1 July 2013)

In addition to the above, further amendments to accounting standards have been proposed as a result of the revision of related standards 
and the Annual Improvement Projects (for non-urgent changes). These amendments are set out below:

Page 28 AJA Stapled Group
73Astro Japan Property Group • Annual Report



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2011

i) Property valuations

ii) Deferred Japanese withholding tax

iii) Fair value of derivative financial instruments

iv) Estimated impairment of goodwill

v) Cash flow forecasting relating to going concern

2. Net financing costs

Financing income
Interest income 443 285
Financing costs
Interest on borrowings including amortisation of upfront borrowing costs 25,902 23,889

3. Gain/(loss) on derivatives

Gain
Net gain on capital hedges 20,957 5,660
Net gain on distribution hedges 2,755 1,982
Net Gain/(loss) 23,712 7,642

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available 
to utilise those temporary differences. 

In recognising the deferred tax asset, management have undertaken an exercise of assessing future Japanese taxable profit. Based on 
this exercise, management believe it probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can 
be utilised, and in doing so meets the recognition criteria under the relevant accounting standards.

The fair value of investment property has been updated to reflect market conditions at the end of the reporting period.  While this 
represents best expert estimates as at the end of the reporting period, if investment property is sold in future the price achieved may be 
higher or lower than the most recent valuation, or higher or lower then the fair value recorded in the consolidated financial statements.  
This is particularly relevant in periods of market illiquidity or uncertainty.  Refer to Note 14 for details of key assumptions used by the 
Astro Group in determining the fair value of its interest in investment properties.

At 30 June 2011, the Astro Group has an unrecognised deferred tax asset relating to investment properties, and to a lesser extent, 
interest rate swaps. These balances have not been recognised since they do not meet the recognition criteria under AASB 112 Income 
Taxes. Astro Group will assess the unrecognised deferred tax asset at future reporting dates, which may result in the deferred tax asset 
being subsequently recognised.

The fair value of derivative assets and liabilities are based on assumptions of future events and involve significant estimates. The basis of 
valuation for the Astro Group‟s derivatives are set out in note 1(h) of the 30 June 2011 consolidated annual financial statements. The 
future fair values of derivatives reported at 30 June 2011 may differ in future reporting periods if there is volatility in market rates, indexes, 
equity prices or foreign exchanges rates.

The Astro Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 
1(l)(i). The recoverable amount of goodwill has been determined based on fair value less cost to sell calculations. These calculations 
require the use of assumptions. Refer to note 16(a) for details of these assumptions and the potential impact of changes to the 
assumptions.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the Astro Group and that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances.

30 Jun 10
$'000

30 Jun 11
$'000

The Astro Group has forecast future cash flows, for the period of twelve months from the date of authorisation of this financial report, in 
order to support the Astro Group's going concern status.  This forecast required the use of assumptions and estimates.  Future 
distributions from the TKs were based on forecasts provided by the Japan Asset Manager which assume no distributions will be made 
from JPT Direct Co. Ltd (JPTD) and JPT August Co. Ltd (JPTA) after the maturity of the bank loans to each.  An estimate has been made 
as to the JPY/A$ exchange rate prevailing at the date which the distributions will be paid from the TKs.  The cash obligation by AJT (the 
parent entity) to refund security deposits to tenants subsequent to the maturity of the bank loans to JPTD and JPTA has been forecast for 
non-cancellable leases based on the termination date of the lease and for cancellable leases based on past experience of the proportion 
of tenants expected to vacate during the specified period.
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4. Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses includes the following:
Accounting fees 541 565
Audit fees (Refer Note 6) 734 687
Regulatory and registrar costs 168 250
Employee expenses & directors fees1 1,134 338
Defined contribution plan 76 18
Insurance 371 100
Miscellaneous Expenses 267 69
Legal claim (Refer Note 18) 294 -
Internalisation expenses - 226
Investor and public relations 53 121
Rent & premises expenses 283 76
Travel & accommodation 60 60
Bank charges 47 50

4,028 2,560

5. Income tax benefit/(expense)

a)   Income tax expense/(benefit)
Current Australian tax 524 -
Current Japanese withholding tax 2,275 2,685
Deferred Australian tax (7) -
Deferred Japanese withholding tax 1,919 3,921

4,711 6,606

b)   Reconciliation of tax expense
Profit/(loss) before income tax (17,293) (105,317)
Tax expense/(benefit) at the prima facie Australian tax rate of 30% (5,188) (31,595)
Tax effect of (profit)/loss attributed to entities not subject to tax 4,215 29,274
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible/(assessable) in calculating taxable income:
Goodwill impairment 1,500 2,100
Overhead costs 2 221

529 -
Adjustments for current tax of prior periods (5) -
Japanese withholding tax on distributions from TKs 2,275 2,685
Deferred Japanese tax liability on investment properties (168) (2,168)
Deferred Japanese tax asset on investment properties 2,087 6,089
Deferred Australian tax asset on audit accrual (7) -
Deferred Australian tax asset on lease incentive (7) -
Deferred Australian tax asset on employee entitlements (8) -
Deferred Australian tax liability on prepayments 15 -
Income tax expense/(benefit) 4,711 6,606

The Astro Group is a party to one type of foreign exchange derivative: cross-currency swaps (capital hedges) with the final forward 
foreign exchange contract (distribution hedge) having been monetised in December 2010. At 30 June 2011 the net unrealised fair value 
loss position of the foreign exchange derivatives is AUD $11.6m (30 June 2010: AUD $28.2m unrealised fair value loss position).  The 
net unrealised fair value position is collateralised by Japanese Yen posted with the counterparty.  At 30 June 2011 the Australian Dollar 
equivalent of the collateral cash is $19.9m (30 June 2010: $26.1m).

At the end of the reporting period, the foreign exchange derivative contracts contain an annual early termination and repayment option 
that can be exercised by either party (i.e. the Astro Group or the external counterparty), a common feature for derivative contracts. The 
early termination date in those contracts is 15 August each year up to but excluding the actual termination date. The notice period to 
exercise the early termination option is 5 or 10 business days preceding the early termination date, depending on the particular derivative 
contract.  Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Astro Group and the external counterparty have amended the cross-currency 
swaps to replace the annual termination and repayment option with mandatory termination of all outstanding hedges if ¥/A$ rises to 73 
between now and February 2012 and to 75 from that date to the termination of the facility in August 2014.

On 8 April 2011 the Astro Group monetised 50% of the capital hedge instrument due to mature in 2016, with the remaining 50% being 
monetised on 4 May 2011.  The total loss of $2,904,000 realised on this monetisation was cash-settled from the collateral held in 
Japanese Yen which was posted with the counterparty on 12 August 2009.

1Comparative figures are for the period 7 April 2010 to 30 June 2010.  No employee expenses or directors fees were incurred by the 
Astro Group before the Responsible Entity became part of the Astro Group on 7 April 2010.

30 Jun 11
$'000

30 Jun 10
$'000
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4. Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses includes the following:
Accounting fees 541 565
Audit fees (Refer Note 6) 734 687
Regulatory and registrar costs 168 250
Employee expenses & directors fees1 1,134 338
Defined contribution plan 76 18
Insurance 371 100
Miscellaneous Expenses 267 69
Legal claim (Refer Note 18) 294 -
Internalisation expenses - 226
Investor and public relations 53 121
Rent & premises expenses 283 76
Travel & accommodation 60 60
Bank charges 47 50

4,028 2,560

5. Income tax benefit/(expense)

a)   Income tax expense/(benefit)
Current Australian tax 524 -
Current Japanese withholding tax 2,275 2,685
Deferred Australian tax (7) -
Deferred Japanese withholding tax 1,919 3,921

4,711 6,606

b)   Reconciliation of tax expense
Profit/(loss) before income tax (17,293) (105,317)
Tax expense/(benefit) at the prima facie Australian tax rate of 30% (5,188) (31,595)
Tax effect of (profit)/loss attributed to entities not subject to tax 4,215 29,274
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible/(assessable) in calculating taxable income:
Goodwill impairment 1,500 2,100
Overhead costs 2 221

529 -
Adjustments for current tax of prior periods (5) -
Japanese withholding tax on distributions from TKs 2,275 2,685
Deferred Japanese tax liability on investment properties (168) (2,168)
Deferred Japanese tax asset on investment properties 2,087 6,089
Deferred Australian tax asset on audit accrual (7) -
Deferred Australian tax asset on lease incentive (7) -
Deferred Australian tax asset on employee entitlements (8) -
Deferred Australian tax liability on prepayments 15 -
Income tax expense/(benefit) 4,711 6,606

The Astro Group is a party to one type of foreign exchange derivative: cross-currency swaps (capital hedges) with the final forward 
foreign exchange contract (distribution hedge) having been monetised in December 2010. At 30 June 2011 the net unrealised fair value 
loss position of the foreign exchange derivatives is AUD $11.6m (30 June 2010: AUD $28.2m unrealised fair value loss position).  The 
net unrealised fair value position is collateralised by Japanese Yen posted with the counterparty.  At 30 June 2011 the Australian Dollar 
equivalent of the collateral cash is $19.9m (30 June 2010: $26.1m).

At the end of the reporting period, the foreign exchange derivative contracts contain an annual early termination and repayment option 
that can be exercised by either party (i.e. the Astro Group or the external counterparty), a common feature for derivative contracts. The 
early termination date in those contracts is 15 August each year up to but excluding the actual termination date. The notice period to 
exercise the early termination option is 5 or 10 business days preceding the early termination date, depending on the particular derivative 
contract.  Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Astro Group and the external counterparty have amended the cross-currency 
swaps to replace the annual termination and repayment option with mandatory termination of all outstanding hedges if ¥/A$ rises to 73 
between now and February 2012 and to 75 from that date to the termination of the facility in August 2014.

On 8 April 2011 the Astro Group monetised 50% of the capital hedge instrument due to mature in 2016, with the remaining 50% being 
monetised on 4 May 2011.  The total loss of $2,904,000 realised on this monetisation was cash-settled from the collateral held in 
Japanese Yen which was posted with the counterparty on 12 August 2009.

1Comparative figures are for the period 7 April 2010 to 30 June 2010.  No employee expenses or directors fees were incurred by the 
Astro Group before the Responsible Entity became part of the Astro Group on 7 April 2010.

30 Jun 11
$'000

30 Jun 10
$'000
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c)   Amounts recognised directly in equity

150 2,219

6. Auditor's remuneration

Audit services:
Auditors of the Astro Group
PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia:
 - Audit and review of financial reports 466,475 413,604
 - Australian financial services license audit 5,225 5,000
 - Compliance plan audit 8,500 -
PricewaterhouseCoopers Japan:
 - Audit and review of financial reports 254,184 247,992

734,384 666,596
Other services:
Auditors of the Astro Group
PricewaterhouseCoopers:
 - Tax advisory services 32,541 83,746
 - Taxation compliance services 199,209 253,144

231,750 336,890
Non-PricewaterhouseCoopers audit firms
Ernst & Young Australia:
 - Compliance plan audit - 20,000
 - Administration fee - 240

- 20,240
Total 966,134 1,023,726

7. Earnings/(losses) per stapled security

Basic and diluted (34.43¢) (206.57¢)

(18,245) (104,983)

52,993,848 50,821,741

Basic and diluted (41.52¢) (220.22¢)

(22,004) (111,922)

52,993,848 50,821,741

Profit/(loss) attributable to Securityholders of AJT used in calculating basic and diluted earnings per security 
($'000)

Profit/(loss) attributable to Securityholders of the Astro Group used in calculating basic and diluted earnings 
per security ($'000)

The alternative earnings/(losses) per stapled security measure shown below is based upon the  profit/(loss) attributable to Securityholders 
of the Astro Group:

Weighted average number of Securities used as denominator in calculating basic and diluted earnings per 
Security1

The weighted average number of Securities used as denominator in calculating basic and diluted earnings/(losses) per Securities shown 
above is based on the number of Securities on issue during the period.

Weighted average number of Securities used as denominator in calculating basic and diluted earnings per 
Security1

The weighted average number of Securities used as denominator in calculating basic and diluted earnings/(losses) per Securities shown 
above is based on the number of Securities on issue during the period.

1 The June 2010 weighted average number of securities and EPSs have been adjusted for the stapled security consolidation effective of 
19 January 2011.  Refer to note 23(a) for further details on the stapled security consolidation.

30 Jun 11
$'000

30 Jun 10
$'000

30 Jun 11
$'000

30 Jun 10
$'000

Net deferred tax arising in the reporting period and not recognised in net profit or loss but directly 
credited to equity 

30 Jun 10
$

30 Jun 11
$
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8. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank1 57,528 65,009
Restricted cash2 41,981 55,479

99,509 120,488

9. Trade and other receivables

Current
Rent receivable 2,639 2,383
Consumption tax and GST receivable - 348
Other receivables 3,069 1,599

5,708 4,330

10. Derivative financial instruments

Current assets
Distribution hedges at fair value - 2,374

- 2,374

Current liabilities
Capital hedges at fair value 11,558 30,573
Interest rate swaps at fair value 11,364 1,209

22,922 31,783

Non-current liability
Interest rate swaps at fair value 3,128 18,644

11. Other assets

Current
Prepayments 1,193 1,431

Non-current
Prepayments 909 1,427
Other non-current assets 173 198

1,082 1,625

12. Deferred taxes

(a) Deferred tax assets
The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:
Interest rate swaps - 163
Investment properties 7,491 10,892
Employee entitlements 8 -
Audit accrual 7 -
Lease incentive 7 -

7,513 11,055

Movements:
Opening balance at beginning of year 11,055 19,062
(Debited)/Credited to equity (150) (2,219)
(Debited)/Credited to the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (2,065) (6,089)
Foreign currency translation differences (1,327) 301
Closing balance at the end of the year 7,513 11,055
Deferred tax expected to be recovered within 12 months 16 3,907
Deferred tax expected to be recovered after more than 12 months 7,497 7,148

Cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and the Consolidated 
Statements of Financial Position
1  Cash at bank includes a balance of $33,851,000 retained within the TKs for operational purposes (30 June 2010: $42,897,000).
2  Restricted cash includes cash in trust (e.g. tenant security deposits), lender reserves (e.g. cash required under loan agreements for 
items such as capital expenditure and repairs) and $19,925,000 (30 June 2010: $26,053,000) of cash posted as collateral with the foreign 
exchange hedging counterparty.

Refer to Note 26 Financial Risk Management for further details of the risk exposures relating to derivative financial instruments.

30 Jun 11
$'000

30 Jun 10
$'000
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8. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank1 57,528 65,009
Restricted cash2 41,981 55,479

99,509 120,488

9. Trade and other receivables

Current
Rent receivable 2,639 2,383
Consumption tax and GST receivable - 348
Other receivables 3,069 1,599

5,708 4,330

10. Derivative financial instruments

Current assets
Distribution hedges at fair value - 2,374

- 2,374

Current liabilities
Capital hedges at fair value 11,558 30,573
Interest rate swaps at fair value 11,364 1,209

22,922 31,783

Non-current liability
Interest rate swaps at fair value 3,128 18,644

11. Other assets

Current
Prepayments 1,193 1,431

Non-current
Prepayments 909 1,427
Other non-current assets 173 198

1,082 1,625

12. Deferred taxes

(a) Deferred tax assets
The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:
Interest rate swaps - 163
Investment properties 7,491 10,892
Employee entitlements 8 -
Audit accrual 7 -
Lease incentive 7 -

7,513 11,055

Movements:
Opening balance at beginning of year 11,055 19,062
(Debited)/Credited to equity (150) (2,219)
(Debited)/Credited to the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (2,065) (6,089)
Foreign currency translation differences (1,327) 301
Closing balance at the end of the year 7,513 11,055
Deferred tax expected to be recovered within 12 months 16 3,907
Deferred tax expected to be recovered after more than 12 months 7,497 7,148

Cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and the Consolidated 
Statements of Financial Position
1  Cash at bank includes a balance of $33,851,000 retained within the TKs for operational purposes (30 June 2010: $42,897,000).
2  Restricted cash includes cash in trust (e.g. tenant security deposits), lender reserves (e.g. cash required under loan agreements for 
items such as capital expenditure and repairs) and $19,925,000 (30 June 2010: $26,053,000) of cash posted as collateral with the foreign 
exchange hedging counterparty.

Refer to Note 26 Financial Risk Management for further details of the risk exposures relating to derivative financial instruments.

30 Jun 11
$'000

30 Jun 10
$'000
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(b) Deferred tax liabilities
The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:
Investment properties 5,815 6,796
Prepayments 15 -

5,830 6,796
Movements:
Opening balance at beginning of year 6,796 8,829
Foreign currency translation differences (813) 135
(Credited) to the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (153) (2,168)
Closing balance at the end of the year 5,830 6,796
Deferred tax expected to be settled within 12 months 15 -
Deferred tax to be settled after more than 12 months 5,815 6,796

13. Investments in associate accounted for using the equity method

Carrying amounts
Spring Investment Co., Ltd. 30% 5,427 6,094

The Japan Asset Manager is incorporated in Japan and has a 31 December reporting date.

Movements in carrying amounts
Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial period 6,094 6,566
Share of net profit/(loss) of associate 1,901 (578)
Effect of changes in exchange rates (762) (560)
Distribution received (904) (271)
Return of capital - preferred entitlement paid down (902) (413)
Additional investment - 1,350

5,427 6,094
Share of associate’s profits1

Income 3,205 12,929
Expenses (1,304) (13,507)
Share of Associate's net profit recognised 1,901 (578)

30 Jun 10
$'000

30 Jun 11
$'000

The Astro Group has a 30% economic interest in Spring Investment Co. Ltd, ("Japan Asset Manager").  The investment is held in 
Japanese Yen. The initial interest is 30%, reducing to 25% over time once the preferred entitlement is paid in full. Until the preferred 
entitlement is fully paid, the Astro Group's share of profit from Spring Investment Co. Ltd, ("Japan Asset Manager") is calculated as the 
lower of 100% of the net profit of the Spring TK or 30% of the adjusted net profit of the Spring TK (adjusted net profit is calculated by 
adding back the bonus expenses for the period to the net profit of the Spring TK). Preferred entitlement refers to a preferred distribution 
commencing 1 January 2012 from the Japan Asset Manager, capped at ¥90 million per year, payable until a total of ¥314 million has 
been paid. The Japan Asset Manager has voluntarily begun preferred entitlement payments prior to 1 January 2012, and as at 30 June 
2011 the balance of the preferred entitlement was ¥206m. The economic interest in the Japan Asset Manager may also vary to the extent 
to which it participates in any future capital raising by the Japan Asset Manager.

Asset Management

30 Jun 11
$'000

30 Jun 10
$'000

At 30 June 2011, the Astro Group has an unrecognised deferred tax asset of $53,509,000 (30 June 2010: $57,027,000) relating to 
investment properties, interest rate swaps, investment in associate and impairment of goodwill.  These balances have not been 
recognised since they do not meet the recognition criteria under AASB 112 Income Taxes.  The Astro Group will assess the 
unrecognised deferred tax asset at future reporting dates, which may result in the deferred tax asset being subsequently recognised.

In recognising the $7,513,000 of deferred tax asset, management have undertaken an exercise of assessing future Japanese taxable 
profit.  Based on this exercise, management believe it probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
difference can be utilised, and in doing so meets the recognition criteria under the relevant accounting standards.

Principal 
Activity

Economic 
interestName of company

1  Based on the formula for the Astro Group's entitlement to the Japan Asset Manager's profit under the Spring TK Agreement as outlined 
above, the Astro Group is entitled to 30% of the adjusted net profit of the Spring TK for the year ended 30 June 2011, with the entitlement 
to 30% of the adjusted net profit of the Spring TK for the half year ended 31 December 2010 being capped at $914,000 (¥72.7m) by 
agreement between the Japan Asset Manager and AJCo.  The above summary of financial performance represents 30% of the 
associate's income and expenses adjusted for bonus expenses for the year ended 30 June 2011, and adjusted for the entitlement to 30% 
of the adjusted net profit of the Spring TK for the half year ended 31 December 2010 being capped at $914,000 (¥72.7m). The Astro 
Group's entitlement to the Japan Asset Manager's profit for the period to 30 June 2010 was 100% of the net profit as this was the lower of 
the two options.
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Summarised financial position of associate2

Current assets 1,294 130
Non-current assets 2,008 2,948
Total assets 3,302 3,078
Current liabilities 375 68
Total liabilities 375 68
Net assets as reported by associate 2,927 3,010

14. Investment properties

Investment properties at fair value 1,201,442 1,504,995
a)   Reconciliation
Reconciliation of the carrying amount of investment properties is set out below:
Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 1,459,427 1,551,177
Capital expenditure 3,820 5,500
Disposals (10,398) -
Change in fair value of investment properties (76,510) (139,450)
Foreign currency translation differences (174,897) 42,200
Carrying amount of non-current investment property at the end of the year 1,201,442 1,459,427
Investment property held for sale at the beginning of the year 45,568 56,780
Disposals (43,643) -
Change in fair value of investment properties - (11,212)
Foreign currency translation differences (1,925) -
Investment property held for sale at the end of the year - 45,568
Total investment properties at fair value 1,201,442 1,504,995

b)   Reconciliation of gain on disposal
Disposal proceeds (less disposal costs) 45,721 10,736 56,457
Fair value of properties at 30 June 2010 (45,568) (10,857) (56,425)
Foreign currency translation differences 1,925 459 2,384
Gain on disposal 2,078 338 2,416

c)   Amounts recognised in net profit for investment property
Property rental income 111,598 117,725
Property expenses (34,097) (35,299)

77,501 82,426

d)   Valuation basis

2011 2010
Discount rate
Terminal yield
Capitalisation rate
Vacancy rate
The above assumptions have been taken from the independent valuation reports for the relevant period.

e)   Assets pledged as security
Refer to Note 22(a) for information on assets pledged as security.

On 29 September 2010 two office properties, Kokusai Nihombashi and Prime Tsukiji, in which the Astro Group held interests were sold.  
Following the disposals, $55,508,000 of debt was repaid by JPT Scarlett Co. Ltd, the TK Operator which held those properties.

0.00% - 47.00%

Kokusai 
Nihombashi

$'000
Prime Tsukiji

$'000
Total
$'000

4.70% - 6.80%

At the reporting date the key assumptions used by the Astro Group in determining fair value were in the following ranges for the Astro 
Group‟s portfolio of properties:

30 Jun 11
$'000

30 Jun 10
$'000

4.80% - 8.00%

4.70% - 7.30%
4.90% - 7.70%

2  The above summary of financial position of associate represents 30% of the associates assets and liabilities.

4.90% - 7.50%

0.00% - 32.00%
4.70% - 7.50%

The basis of valuation of investment properties is fair value, being amounts for which the properties could be exchanged between willing 
parties in an arm‟s length transaction, based on current prices in an active market for similar properties in the same location and condition 
and subject to similar leases.  The Directors‟ assessment of fair value was based upon independent assessments made by Japanese 
Licensed Real Estate Appraisers and assessments made by the Japan Asset Manager in accordance with the Astro Group valuation 
policy. Further detail is provided in Note 1 „Statement of Significant Accounting Policies‟.

30 Jun 11
$'000

30 Jun 10
$'000
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Summarised financial position of associate2

Current assets 1,294 130
Non-current assets 2,008 2,948
Total assets 3,302 3,078
Current liabilities 375 68
Total liabilities 375 68
Net assets as reported by associate 2,927 3,010

14. Investment properties

Investment properties at fair value 1,201,442 1,504,995
a)   Reconciliation
Reconciliation of the carrying amount of investment properties is set out below:
Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 1,459,427 1,551,177
Capital expenditure 3,820 5,500
Disposals (10,398) -
Change in fair value of investment properties (76,510) (139,450)
Foreign currency translation differences (174,897) 42,200
Carrying amount of non-current investment property at the end of the year 1,201,442 1,459,427
Investment property held for sale at the beginning of the year 45,568 56,780
Disposals (43,643) -
Change in fair value of investment properties - (11,212)
Foreign currency translation differences (1,925) -
Investment property held for sale at the end of the year - 45,568
Total investment properties at fair value 1,201,442 1,504,995

b)   Reconciliation of gain on disposal
Disposal proceeds (less disposal costs) 45,721 10,736 56,457
Fair value of properties at 30 June 2010 (45,568) (10,857) (56,425)
Foreign currency translation differences 1,925 459 2,384
Gain on disposal 2,078 338 2,416

c)   Amounts recognised in net profit for investment property
Property rental income 111,598 117,725
Property expenses (34,097) (35,299)

77,501 82,426

d)   Valuation basis

2011 2010
Discount rate
Terminal yield
Capitalisation rate
Vacancy rate
The above assumptions have been taken from the independent valuation reports for the relevant period.

e)   Assets pledged as security
Refer to Note 22(a) for information on assets pledged as security.

On 29 September 2010 two office properties, Kokusai Nihombashi and Prime Tsukiji, in which the Astro Group held interests were sold.  
Following the disposals, $55,508,000 of debt was repaid by JPT Scarlett Co. Ltd, the TK Operator which held those properties.

0.00% - 47.00%

Kokusai 
Nihombashi

$'000
Prime Tsukiji

$'000
Total
$'000

4.70% - 6.80%

At the reporting date the key assumptions used by the Astro Group in determining fair value were in the following ranges for the Astro 
Group‟s portfolio of properties:

30 Jun 11
$'000

30 Jun 10
$'000

4.80% - 8.00%

4.70% - 7.30%
4.90% - 7.70%

2  The above summary of financial position of associate represents 30% of the associates assets and liabilities.

4.90% - 7.50%

0.00% - 32.00%
4.70% - 7.50%

The basis of valuation of investment properties is fair value, being amounts for which the properties could be exchanged between willing 
parties in an arm‟s length transaction, based on current prices in an active market for similar properties in the same location and condition 
and subject to similar leases.  The Directors‟ assessment of fair value was based upon independent assessments made by Japanese 
Licensed Real Estate Appraisers and assessments made by the Japan Asset Manager in accordance with the Astro Group valuation 
policy. Further detail is provided in Note 1 „Statement of Significant Accounting Policies‟.

30 Jun 11
$'000

30 Jun 10
$'000

Page 34 AJA Stapled Group

79Astro Japan Property Group • Annual Report



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2011

f)   Beneficial interest

15. Property, plant and equipment

Year ended 30 June 2010
Opening net book amount - - - -
PP&E acquired in business combinations 61 16 13 90
Additions 6 - - 6
Disposals - - - -
Depreciation (4) (1) - (5)
Closing net book amount 63 15 13 91

At 30 June 2010
Cost 67 16 13 96
Accumulated Depreciation (4) (1) - (5)
Net book amount 63 15 13 91

Year ended 30 June 2011
Opening net book amount 63 15 13 91
Additions - - 1 1
Disposals - - - -
Depreciation (19) (2) (1) (22)
Closing net book amount 44 13 13 70

At 30 June 2011
Cost 67 16 14 97
Accumulated Depreciation (23) (3) (1) (27)
Net book amount 44 13 13 70

16. Intangible assets

Year ended 30 June 2010
Opening balance - - -
Goodwill resulting from business combinations - 15,000 15,000
Internal development costs acquired through business combinations 17 - 17
Additions - internal development 31 - 31
Impairment charge - (7,000) (7,000)
Amortisation charge (2) - (2)
Closing net book amount 46 8,000 8,046

At 30 June 2010
Cost 48 15,000 15,048
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (2) (7,000) (7,002)
Net book amount 46 8,000 8,046

Year ended 30 June 2011
Opening balance 46 8,000 8,046
Impairment charge - (5,000) (5,000)
Amortisation charge (12) - (12)
Closing net book amount 34 3,000 3,034

At 30 June 2011
Cost 48 15,000 15,048
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (14) (12,000) (12,014)
Net book amount 34 3,000 3,034

Goodwill
$'000

Total
$'000

Software       
$'000

The Astro Group holds interests in the investment properties arising from the contractual relationship between AJT and the TK Operator.  
The beneficial ownership of the investment properties is held in the name of the applicable TK Operator.

Total
$'000

Computer 
Equipment

$'000

Office 
Equipment

$'000

Fixtures and 
Fittings

$'000
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17. Payables

Current
Property rental income received in advance 6,833 9,942
Interest payable 3,825 4,290
Fees payable to related parties (Refer to Note 31) 1,354 1,907
Accruals and accounts payable 5,463 5,845
Net consumption tax and GST payable 625 -

18,100 21,984

18. Provisions

Legal Claim 291 -
Annual leave accrual 26 31

317 31

Legal claim
Movements in the legal claim provision during the financial period are set out below:

Carrying amount at start of year - -
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss:
Additional provisions recognised 291 -
Amounts used during the period - -
Carrying amount at end of year 291 -

Annual leave accrual

In May 2011 a claim was made against JPT Co. Ltd, (JPT).  The claim relates to an alleged loss suffered by the purchaser of Shinjuku 
Sanei, a property which was sold by JPT in May 2009.  After taking legal advice on the matter a provision of $291,000 has been 
recognised, with the remainder of the claim ($71,000) which is being disputed by the Japan Asset Manager classed as a contingent 
liability.

The entire annual leave obligation is presented as current as the Astro Group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement.  
However, based on past experience, the Astro Group does not expect all employees to take the full amount of accrued leave within the 
next 12 months.

30 Jun 11
$'000

The recoverable amount of the goodwill is based on fair value less costs to sell calculated on a net present value basis.  AJPML operates 
on a cost recovery basis and is forecast to make $nil profit for the foreseeable future.  To calculate the net present value of goodwill the 
management of the Astro Group has adopted a methodology which assumes a “market” level of base fee income to arrive at a theoretical 
recurring profit after tax level and then calculates the net present value based on a discount rate of 12%, this rate is based upon the ten 
year risk-free rate plus an equity risk premium.  The theoretical "market" value of base fees (27.5bps) to calculate the value of goodwill is 
based upon a reasonable market rate for Responsible Entity fees as evidenced in the market.  Budgeted cash flows are projected over a 
ten year period as management fees are assumed to be receivable for at least that time period.  The valuation assumes nil growth in the 
gross asset value from financial year 2012 onward based on a long-term growth trend adjusted for future divestments and an increase in 
AJPML‟s overheads of 2.5% per annum based upon budgeted figures.

Legal claim      
30 Jun 11 

$'000

Legal claim      
30 Jun 10 

$'000

Goodwill is the value attributed by the Board for the value of AJT's Australian management rights acquired from the Babcock & Brown 
Group.  All of the goodwill is attributable to the Astro Group's investment in AJPML.

30 Jun 10
$'000

Management have deemed it appropriate to impair goodwill by $5,000,000 to a carrying value of $3,000,000 to reflect a decrease in the 
calculated recoverable amount of the goodwill. This has been driven by the value of the Astro Group's investment properties falling 9.1% 
during the period, as a result of both divestments and revaluations, reducing the adjusted gross asset value and the assumption that 
asset specific loans to JPT Direct Co. Ltd and JPT August Co. Ltd due to mature in May 2012 and August 2012 respectively will not be 
refinanced.

a) Impairment test for goodwill
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17. Payables

Current
Property rental income received in advance 6,833 9,942
Interest payable 3,825 4,290
Fees payable to related parties (Refer to Note 31) 1,354 1,907
Accruals and accounts payable 5,463 5,845
Net consumption tax and GST payable 625 -

18,100 21,984

18. Provisions

Legal Claim 291 -
Annual leave accrual 26 31

317 31

Legal claim
Movements in the legal claim provision during the financial period are set out below:

Carrying amount at start of year - -
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss:
Additional provisions recognised 291 -
Amounts used during the period - -
Carrying amount at end of year 291 -

Annual leave accrual

In May 2011 a claim was made against JPT Co. Ltd, (JPT).  The claim relates to an alleged loss suffered by the purchaser of Shinjuku 
Sanei, a property which was sold by JPT in May 2009.  After taking legal advice on the matter a provision of $291,000 has been 
recognised, with the remainder of the claim ($71,000) which is being disputed by the Japan Asset Manager classed as a contingent 
liability.

The entire annual leave obligation is presented as current as the Astro Group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement.  
However, based on past experience, the Astro Group does not expect all employees to take the full amount of accrued leave within the 
next 12 months.

30 Jun 11
$'000

The recoverable amount of the goodwill is based on fair value less costs to sell calculated on a net present value basis.  AJPML operates 
on a cost recovery basis and is forecast to make $nil profit for the foreseeable future.  To calculate the net present value of goodwill the 
management of the Astro Group has adopted a methodology which assumes a “market” level of base fee income to arrive at a theoretical 
recurring profit after tax level and then calculates the net present value based on a discount rate of 12%, this rate is based upon the ten 
year risk-free rate plus an equity risk premium.  The theoretical "market" value of base fees (27.5bps) to calculate the value of goodwill is 
based upon a reasonable market rate for Responsible Entity fees as evidenced in the market.  Budgeted cash flows are projected over a 
ten year period as management fees are assumed to be receivable for at least that time period.  The valuation assumes nil growth in the 
gross asset value from financial year 2012 onward based on a long-term growth trend adjusted for future divestments and an increase in 
AJPML‟s overheads of 2.5% per annum based upon budgeted figures.

Legal claim      
30 Jun 11 

$'000

Legal claim      
30 Jun 10 

$'000

Goodwill is the value attributed by the Board for the value of AJT's Australian management rights acquired from the Babcock & Brown 
Group.  All of the goodwill is attributable to the Astro Group's investment in AJPML.

30 Jun 10
$'000

Management have deemed it appropriate to impair goodwill by $5,000,000 to a carrying value of $3,000,000 to reflect a decrease in the 
calculated recoverable amount of the goodwill. This has been driven by the value of the Astro Group's investment properties falling 9.1% 
during the period, as a result of both divestments and revaluations, reducing the adjusted gross asset value and the assumption that 
asset specific loans to JPT Direct Co. Ltd and JPT August Co. Ltd due to mature in May 2012 and August 2012 respectively will not be 
refinanced.

a) Impairment test for goodwill
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19. Deferred lease incentive

Current 1 3
Non-current 22 18

23 21

Movements in the deferred lease incentive during the financial period are set out below:

Carrying amount at start of year 21 -
Acquired in business combinations - 27
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss:
Additional provisions recognised 2 -
Amounts used during the period - (6)
Carrying amount at end of year 23 21

20. Distribution/dividends paid and payable

Half year distribution paid 11,435 17,787
Final distribution payable at year end 11,689 17,787

23,124 35,574

Ordinary Securities

No dividends have been paid or declared for the financial year 2011 from the AJCo Group (2010: $nil)

Franked dividends

Franking credits available for subsequent financial years based on a tax rate of 30% (2010 - 30%) 173 -

21. Current tax liabilities

Japanese withholding tax 1,223 1,456
Australian income tax 324 -

1,547 1,456

Deferred 
lease 

incentive       
30 Jun 11 

$'000

The franked portions of any final dividends declared after 30 June 2011 may be franked out of existing franking credits or out of franking 
credits arising from the payment of income tax in the year ending 30 June 2012.

The above amounts represent the balance of the franking account as at the end of the reporting period, adjusted for franking credits that 
will arise from the payment of the amount of the provision for income tax.

30 Jun 11
$'000

30 Jun 10
$'000

30 Jun 11
$'000

30 Jun 10
$'000

The final distribution for the year ended 30 June 2011 of 20.00 cents per security (2010: 3.50 cents) is payable on or around 31 August 
2011 (2010 – 30 August 2010).

The half year distribution for the year ended 30 June 2011 of 2.25 cents per security based on the number of securities on issue as at 31 
December 2010 (2010: 3.50 cents) was paid on 25 February 2011 (2010: 26 February 2010).  Based on the number of securities on issue 
following the 10 to 1 consolidation of stapled securities completed on 19 January 2011, the half year distribution would represent 22.5¢ 
per security.

Deferred 
lease 

incentive       
30 Jun 10 

$'000

The Astro Group received the benefit of an initial rent-free period upon signing the lease for the office premises in Sydney. This lease 
incentive benefit has been deferred and is being recognised over the term of the 5 year lease. The aggregate benefit of the lease 
incentive is recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the term of the lease.
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22. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Current
Secured bank loans 187,938 246,177
Non current
Secured bank loans 714,798 881,089

a)   Assets pledged as security

Investment properties at fair value 1,201,442 1,504,995

b)   Financing facilities
The Astro Group has no undrawn lines of credit.

23. Contributed equity
58,445,002 securities on issue (2010 - 508,212,161) 508,212,161 508,212,161
Movements in number of securities
Number at beginning of financial year 508,212,161 508,212,161

10 to 1 consolidation of stapled securities (457,390,420) -
Issue of stapled securities 7,623,261 -
Number at end of financial year 58,445,002 508,212,161

Management is in discussions with the common lender to JPT Direct Co. Ltd and JPT August Co. Ltd with regard to these loans maturing 
in May 2012 and August 2012 respectively.  Given the high current loan to value ratios of these loans, it is likely that JPTD cannot be 
refinanced in full and it is all but certain that JPTA cannot be refinanced in full. The Japan Asset Manager is continuing negotiations with 
the current lender and other financial institutions. This remains a key priority for both the Responsible Entity and the Japan Asset 
Manager.  Management is also investigating asset sales and/or alternate financing to partially replace the existing loans, whilst evaluating 
whether the terms and costs of such refinancing and any capital injection required would be in the best interests of the Astro Group 
securityholders. In the event that a satisfactory solution cannot be found, one or both loans will be in default upon maturity, and the Japan 
Asset Manager would work with the lender to manage the situation in the interests of all parties. There are no cross collateral obligations 
from the Astro Group to the lender, so the lender has no recourse to assets beyond those held by the relevant TK Operator other than 
with respect to the contingent liability for security deposit repayments discussed in Note 34(c).  Further detail of the impact on the Astro 
Group of a default on the loans to JPTD in May 2012 and/or JPTA in August 2012 is given in Note 1(a).

On 31 March 2011 the refinancing of a senior loan to JPT Corporate Co. Ltd due to mature in December 2012 was completed, with the 
closing of a new senior loan of ¥17.583 billion (approx. A$204 million at the time of refinancing), maturing in March 2016.  This new loan 
was provided by the existing lender and as part of the refinancing JPT Corporate Co. Ltd repaid ¥2.5 billion (approx. A$29 million) of the 
existing loan from the proceeds of the Astro Group institutional placement completed on 14 March 2011 plus a portion of existing Astro 
Group cash reserves.

The bank loans are secured by pledge over the investment properties.  The bank loans are non-recourse and the Astro Group is not 
liable to make up any deficit between net liabilities and the loan amount other than as set out in Note 1 and Note 28 in relation to 
unfunded tenant security deposits. 

The carrying amount of assets pledged as security for non-current interest bearing debt are:

30 Jun 11
No. of Units

30 Jun 11
$'000

30 Jun 10
$'000

Secured bank loans are denominated in JPY and are interest-only loans with principal repayable on maturity in respect of JPT Direct Co. 
Ltd and JPT August Co. Ltd, and interest and quarterly instalment payments for JPT Co. Ltd (¥11.8m per quarter increasing to ¥148.4m 
per quarter as of January 2012), JPT Scarlett Co. Ltd (¥51.6m per quarter) and JPT Corporate Co. Ltd (¥125m per quarter). The 
weighted average term to expiry is 2.8 years (2010: 2.2 years).  After interest rate swaps, 44.45% (2010: 57.16%) of the loans are fixed at 
a rate of 3.35% p.a. (2010: 2.40% p.a.), with the remaining 55.55% (2010: 42.84%) floating debt with a current rate of 1.59% p.a (2010: 
1.54% p.a.), refer to note 26 for analysis of bank loan maturities.

On 22 December 2010 the refinancing of a senior loan to JPT Scarlett Co. Ltd due to mature in December 2010 was completed, with the 
closing of a new senior loan of ¥13.73 billion (approx. A$165 million at the time of refinancing), maturing in April 2015.  The new lender, a 
major international bank, is unrelated to the previous lender.

30 Jun 10
No. of Units
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22. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Current
Secured bank loans 187,938 246,177
Non current
Secured bank loans 714,798 881,089

a)   Assets pledged as security

Investment properties at fair value 1,201,442 1,504,995

b)   Financing facilities
The Astro Group has no undrawn lines of credit.

23. Contributed equity
58,445,002 securities on issue (2010 - 508,212,161) 508,212,161 508,212,161
Movements in number of securities
Number at beginning of financial year 508,212,161 508,212,161

10 to 1 consolidation of stapled securities (457,390,420) -
Issue of stapled securities 7,623,261 -
Number at end of financial year 58,445,002 508,212,161

Management is in discussions with the common lender to JPT Direct Co. Ltd and JPT August Co. Ltd with regard to these loans maturing 
in May 2012 and August 2012 respectively.  Given the high current loan to value ratios of these loans, it is likely that JPTD cannot be 
refinanced in full and it is all but certain that JPTA cannot be refinanced in full. The Japan Asset Manager is continuing negotiations with 
the current lender and other financial institutions. This remains a key priority for both the Responsible Entity and the Japan Asset 
Manager.  Management is also investigating asset sales and/or alternate financing to partially replace the existing loans, whilst evaluating 
whether the terms and costs of such refinancing and any capital injection required would be in the best interests of the Astro Group 
securityholders. In the event that a satisfactory solution cannot be found, one or both loans will be in default upon maturity, and the Japan 
Asset Manager would work with the lender to manage the situation in the interests of all parties. There are no cross collateral obligations 
from the Astro Group to the lender, so the lender has no recourse to assets beyond those held by the relevant TK Operator other than 
with respect to the contingent liability for security deposit repayments discussed in Note 34(c).  Further detail of the impact on the Astro 
Group of a default on the loans to JPTD in May 2012 and/or JPTA in August 2012 is given in Note 1(a).

On 31 March 2011 the refinancing of a senior loan to JPT Corporate Co. Ltd due to mature in December 2012 was completed, with the 
closing of a new senior loan of ¥17.583 billion (approx. A$204 million at the time of refinancing), maturing in March 2016.  This new loan 
was provided by the existing lender and as part of the refinancing JPT Corporate Co. Ltd repaid ¥2.5 billion (approx. A$29 million) of the 
existing loan from the proceeds of the Astro Group institutional placement completed on 14 March 2011 plus a portion of existing Astro 
Group cash reserves.

The bank loans are secured by pledge over the investment properties.  The bank loans are non-recourse and the Astro Group is not 
liable to make up any deficit between net liabilities and the loan amount other than as set out in Note 1 and Note 28 in relation to 
unfunded tenant security deposits. 

The carrying amount of assets pledged as security for non-current interest bearing debt are:

30 Jun 11
No. of Units

30 Jun 11
$'000

30 Jun 10
$'000

Secured bank loans are denominated in JPY and are interest-only loans with principal repayable on maturity in respect of JPT Direct Co. 
Ltd and JPT August Co. Ltd, and interest and quarterly instalment payments for JPT Co. Ltd (¥11.8m per quarter increasing to ¥148.4m 
per quarter as of January 2012), JPT Scarlett Co. Ltd (¥51.6m per quarter) and JPT Corporate Co. Ltd (¥125m per quarter). The 
weighted average term to expiry is 2.8 years (2010: 2.2 years).  After interest rate swaps, 44.45% (2010: 57.16%) of the loans are fixed at 
a rate of 3.35% p.a. (2010: 2.40% p.a.), with the remaining 55.55% (2010: 42.84%) floating debt with a current rate of 1.59% p.a (2010: 
1.54% p.a.), refer to note 26 for analysis of bank loan maturities.

On 22 December 2010 the refinancing of a senior loan to JPT Scarlett Co. Ltd due to mature in December 2010 was completed, with the 
closing of a new senior loan of ¥13.73 billion (approx. A$165 million at the time of refinancing), maturing in April 2015.  The new lender, a 
major international bank, is unrelated to the previous lender.

30 Jun 10
No. of Units
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Movements in contributed equity
Balance at 1 July 2009 614,950 - 614,950
AJT capital reduction (26,441) - (26,441)
Shares in AJCo issued during stapling - 26,441 26,441
Balance at 30 June 2010 588,509 26,441 614,950

Balance at 1 July 2010 588,509 26,441 614,950
10 to 1 consolidation of stapled securities transaction costs (44) (3) (47)
Issue of stapled securities, net of issue costs 22,147 895 23,042
Balance at 30 June 2011 610,612 27,333 637,945

The Astro Group's securities have no par value and the Astro Group does not have a limited amount of authorised capital.

a) Consolidation of stapled securities

b) Equity raising

24. Reserves
Foreign currency translation reserve 88,555 130,555
Hedging reserve – cash flow hedges (16,633) (19,839)

71,922 110,716

Total      
$'000

On 11 March 2011 the Astro Group undertook a fully underwritten institutional placement of 7,623,261 new stapled securities at an issue 
price of $3.09 per stapled security.  A total of approximately $23,556,000 was raised with total transaction costs of $514,000.

At the Annual General Meeting on 10 November 2010 securityholders voted in favour of a consolidation of the Astro Group stapled 
securities.  The Astro Group consolidated every 10 stapled securities into 1 stapled security with effect from 19 January 2011.  Where the 
consolidation resulted in a fraction of a security being held by a securityholder, that fraction was rounded up to the nearest whole security.  
Following the consolidation there were 50,821,741 stapled securities on issue.

• on a poll, each securityholder who is present in person has one vote for each security they hold.  Also, each person present as a proxy, 
attorney or duly appointed corporate representative of a securityholder has one vote for each security held by the securityholder that the 
person represents.

30 Jun 11
$'000

30 Jun 10
$'000

At General Meetings of securityholders of AJCo:

• on a show of hands each securityholder who is present in person and each other person who is present as a proxy, attorney or duly 
appointed corporate representative of a securityholder has one vote; and

• on a poll, each securityholder who is present in person has one vote for each dollar of the value of securities in AJT held by the 
securityholder.  Also, each person present as proxy, attorney or duly appointed corporate representative of a securityholder has one vote 
for each dollar of value of the securities in AJT held by the securityholder that the person represents.

At General Meetings of securityholders of AJT:

It is generally expected that General Meetings of securityholders of AJT and General Meetings of securityholders of AJCo will be held 
concurrently where proposed resolutions relate to the two entities.  Voting rights of securityholders at General Meetings are outlined 
below.

In accordance with the Constitution of each of AJT and AJCo each securityholder is entitled to receive distributions as declared from time 
to time. In accordance with AJT's Constitution, each security in AJT represents a right to an individual security in AJT and does not 
extend to a right to the underlying assets of the AJT.

The Astro Group‟s securities are classified as equity and issue costs are recognised as a reduction of the proceeds of issues.

Stapled 
securityholders' 

interest      
$'000

AJT        
$'000

• on a show of hands each securityholder who is present in person and each other person who is present as a proxy, attorney or duly 
appointed corporate representative of a securityholder has one vote; and
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$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Foreign currency translation reserve
Balance at 1 July 2009 121,499 - - 121,499
Net foreign exchange translation adjustments, net of tax 9,662 (606) - 9,056
Balance at 30 June 2010 131,161 (606) - 130,555

Balance at 1 July 2010 131,161 (606) - 130,555
Net foreign exchange translation adjustments, net of tax (41,238) (762) - (42,000)
Balance at 30 June 2011 89,923 (1,368) - 88,555

Hedging reserve 
Balance at 1 July 2009 (15,402) - - (15,402)
Revaluation (2,218) - - (2,218)
Deferred tax recognised directly in equity (2,219) - - (2,219)
Balance at 30 June 2010 (19,839) - - (19,839)

Balance at 1 July 2010 (19,839) - - (19,839)
Revaluation 3,356 - - 3,356
Deferred tax recognised directly in equity (150) - - (150)
Balance at 30 June 2011 (16,633) - - (16,633)

Total Balance at 30 June 2010 111,322 (606) - 110,716
Total Balance at 30 June 2011 73,290 (1,368) - 71,922

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

25. Retained profits/(losses)
Balance at 1 July 2009 (239,111) - - (239,111)
Net profit/(loss) for the year (104,983) (6,939) - (111,922)
Adjustment for non-controlling interest of movement in reserves 44 - (44) -
Distributions paid and payable to stapled securityholders (35,574) - - (35,574)
Distributions paid and payable to non-controlling interests - - (127) (127)
Balance at 30 June 2010 (379,624) (6,939) (171) (386,734)

Balance at 1 July 2010 (379,624) (6,939) (171) (386,734)
Net profit/(loss) for the year (18,245) (3,759) - (22,004)
Distributions paid and payable to stapled securityholders (23,124) - - (23,124)
Distributions paid and payable to non-controlling interests - - (115) (115)
Balance at 30 June 2011 (420,993) (10,698) (286) (431,977)

26. Financial risk management

AJT

Stapled 
securityholders' 

interest

External non-
controlling 

interests

The Astro Group Boards have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Astro Group‟s risk management framework.  
The Boards have established an Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee (ARCC), which is responsible for monitoring the identification and 
management of key risks to the business.  The ARCC meets regularly and reports to the Boards on its activities.

Stapled 
securityholders' 

interest

External non-
controlling 

interests Total

This note presents information about the Astro Group‟s exposure to each of the above risks, the Astro Group‟s objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk and the Astro Group‟s management of capital.  Further quantitative disclosures are included 
through these consolidated financial statements.

The Astro Group‟s activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk, and equity 
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the interests in foreign operations, 
where their functional currency is different to the presentation currency of the reporting entity.

The Astro Group‟s principal financial instruments comprise cash, receivables, derivative financial instruments, payables, tenant deposits, 
distributions payable and interest bearing debt.

Total

The hedging reserve is used to record gains or losses on a hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge that are recognised directly in equity.  
Amounts are recognised in profit and loss when the associated hedge transaction effects profit and loss.

AJT

Page 40 AJA Stapled Group

 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

84 Astro Japan Property Group • Annual Report



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2011

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Foreign currency translation reserve
Balance at 1 July 2009 121,499 - - 121,499
Net foreign exchange translation adjustments, net of tax 9,662 (606) - 9,056
Balance at 30 June 2010 131,161 (606) - 130,555

Balance at 1 July 2010 131,161 (606) - 130,555
Net foreign exchange translation adjustments, net of tax (41,238) (762) - (42,000)
Balance at 30 June 2011 89,923 (1,368) - 88,555

Hedging reserve 
Balance at 1 July 2009 (15,402) - - (15,402)
Revaluation (2,218) - - (2,218)
Deferred tax recognised directly in equity (2,219) - - (2,219)
Balance at 30 June 2010 (19,839) - - (19,839)

Balance at 1 July 2010 (19,839) - - (19,839)
Revaluation 3,356 - - 3,356
Deferred tax recognised directly in equity (150) - - (150)
Balance at 30 June 2011 (16,633) - - (16,633)

Total Balance at 30 June 2010 111,322 (606) - 110,716
Total Balance at 30 June 2011 73,290 (1,368) - 71,922

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

25. Retained profits/(losses)
Balance at 1 July 2009 (239,111) - - (239,111)
Net profit/(loss) for the year (104,983) (6,939) - (111,922)
Adjustment for non-controlling interest of movement in reserves 44 - (44) -
Distributions paid and payable to stapled securityholders (35,574) - - (35,574)
Distributions paid and payable to non-controlling interests - - (127) (127)
Balance at 30 June 2010 (379,624) (6,939) (171) (386,734)

Balance at 1 July 2010 (379,624) (6,939) (171) (386,734)
Net profit/(loss) for the year (18,245) (3,759) - (22,004)
Distributions paid and payable to stapled securityholders (23,124) - - (23,124)
Distributions paid and payable to non-controlling interests - - (115) (115)
Balance at 30 June 2011 (420,993) (10,698) (286) (431,977)

26. Financial risk management

AJT

Stapled 
securityholders' 

interest

External non-
controlling 

interests

The Astro Group Boards have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Astro Group‟s risk management framework.  
The Boards have established an Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee (ARCC), which is responsible for monitoring the identification and 
management of key risks to the business.  The ARCC meets regularly and reports to the Boards on its activities.

Stapled 
securityholders' 

interest

External non-
controlling 

interests Total

This note presents information about the Astro Group‟s exposure to each of the above risks, the Astro Group‟s objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk and the Astro Group‟s management of capital.  Further quantitative disclosures are included 
through these consolidated financial statements.

The Astro Group‟s activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk, and equity 
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the interests in foreign operations, 
where their functional currency is different to the presentation currency of the reporting entity.

The Astro Group‟s principal financial instruments comprise cash, receivables, derivative financial instruments, payables, tenant deposits, 
distributions payable and interest bearing debt.

Total

The hedging reserve is used to record gains or losses on a hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge that are recognised directly in equity.  
Amounts are recognised in profit and loss when the associated hedge transaction effects profit and loss.

AJT
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a) Market Risk

(i) Interest rate risk

As at reporting date, the Astro Group had the following interest bearing assets and liabilities:

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
  - Balances held in Australia 1.39% 31,470 0.92% 32,130
  - Balances held in Japan 0.02% 68,039 0.04% 88,358
Total cash and cash equivalents 99,509 120,488

Liabilities
Interest bearing debt
  - fixed 3.94% 158,713 - -
  - floating 1.59% 755,256 1.54% 1,135,769
Total interest bearing debt 2.00% 913,969 1.54% 1,135,769

Interest rate risk managed by:
  - Fixed debt 3.94% (158,713) - -
  - Interest rate swaps (notional principal amount) 2.98% (247,560) 2.40% (649,176)
Total interest rate risk management 3.35% (406,273) 2.40% (649,176)
Total exposure to cash flow interest rate risk 0.91% 507,696 0.39% 486,593

There have been no other significant changes in the types of financial risks or the Astro Group‟s risk management program (including 
methods used to measure the risks) since the prior year.

Market risk refers to the potential for changes in the value of the Astro Group‟s financial instruments or revenue streams from changes in 
market prices.  There are various types of market risks to which the Astro Group is exposed including those associated with interest 
rates, currency rates and equity market price.

The Astro Group‟s interest rate risk primarily arises from external borrowings.  The Astro Group‟s guidelines are to fix interest rates for 
between 50% to 100% of its borrowings.

Until recently the Astro Group has had a policy of hedging substantially all anticipated JPY distributions back to AUD, however the Board 
views the benefits of this policy – providing medium term predictability as to the AUD level of distributions despite short-term exchange 
rate movements – to have been outweighed by market uncertainty as to potential hedge terminations.   The Board continues to review the 
hedging policy to achieve a balance between these considerations.

The Astro Group uses different methods to measure different types of risk to which it is exposed.  These methods include sensitivity 
analysis in the case of interest rate and foreign exchange risks, ageing analysis for credit risk and cash flow forecasting for liquidity risk.

Weighted 
avg interest 

rate %

An analysis of maturities is provided in Note 26(c).

Weighted 
avg interest 

rate %
Balance

$'000
Balance

$'000

Interest rate risk refers to the potential fluctuations in the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument because of changes in 
market interest rates.

30 June 2011 30 June 2010

The Astro Group manages its interest rate risk by using fixed rate debt, or interest rate swaps to fix interest rates.  Interest rate swaps 
have the economic effect of converting variable rate borrowings to fixed rates.  Under the interest rate swaps the Astro Group agrees with 
other parties to exchange, at specified intervals (mainly quarterly), the difference between fixed contract rates and floating rate interest 
amounts calculated by reference to agreed notional principal amounts.  The Astro Group is willing to forego the potential economic benefit 
that could result in a falling interest rate environment to protect its downside risks and improve the predictability of cash flows generated 
from assets by fixing rates.

The Board has established Treasury Guidelines outlining principles for overall risk management and policies covering specific areas, 
such as mitigating foreign exchange, interest rate and liquidity risks.  

The Astro Group‟s Treasury Guidelines provides a framework for managing the financial risks of the Astro Group with a key philosophy of 
risk mitigation.  Derivatives are exclusively used for hedging purposes, not as trading or other speculative instruments.  The Astro Group 
uses derivative financial instruments such as foreign exchange contracts, cross currency swaps and interest rate swaps to hedge certain 
risk exposures.
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Interest Rate Sensitivity

Net profit/(loss)
Cash and cash equivalents 44 30 (44) (30)
Capital hedge (622) (1,346) 629 1,374
Impact on total net profit/(loss) (578) (1,316) 585 1,344
Impact on other components of equity - - - -

Net profit/(loss)
Cash and cash equivalents 185 215 (185) (215)
Capital hedge 352 840 (354) (847)
Interest bearing debt (1,015) (973) 1,015 973
Impact on total net profit/(loss) (478) 82 476 (89)
Interest rate swap 1,982 2,960 (1,981) (2,993)
Impact on other components of equity 1,982 2,960 (1,981) (2,993)

(ii) Currency risk

Maturity
2011
One - five years 7,600,000 101.9 7.34% 1.42%
Greater than five years - - - -
2010
One - five years 7,600,000 101.9 7.34% 1.42%
Greater than five years 1,500,000 101.9 7.08% 1.69%

2010
$'000

The Astro Group‟s principal activity is investing in interests in Japanese real estate.  As a result, the Astro Group is exposed to currency 
risk with respect to movements in the AUD/JPY exchange rate.

Currency risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a currency that is not the 
Astro Group‟s functional currency, AUD, and from net investments in foreign operations. The risk is measured using cash flow forecasting 
and sensitivity analysis.

The Astro Group seeks to mitigate the effect of currency exposure on the consolidated statement of financial position by borrowing in 
JPY.

Capital hedges
Under the revised Treasury guidelines hedging is to be undertaken for a maximum individual term of 10 years with no minimum proportion 
of the Astro Group‟s net investment in JPY denominated assets.

At balance date the Astro Group had cross currency interest rate swap hedges with an Australian dollar notional principal amount of 
$74,605,000 (2010: $89,330,000) with staggered settlement dates between August 2011 and August 2014.  Interest is paid at six monthly 
intervals.

At reporting date if Japanese interest rates had been 20bps higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the impact on the 
Astro Group would be:

Increase by 50 bps Decrease by 50 bps

2010
$'000

The contracts require settlement of net interest payables quarterly.  The settlement dates coincide with the dates on which interest is 
payable on the underlying debt.  The contracts are settled on a net basis.  The fair value of the interest rate swaps at 30 June 2011 is 
$11,364,000 current liability (30 June 2010: $1,209,000) and $3,128,000 non-current liability (30 June 2010: $18,644,000).

The gain or loss from re-measuring the instruments at fair value is deferred in equity in the hedging reserve, to the extent the hedge is 
effective, and re-classified into profit and loss when the hedged interest expense is recognised.  There is no ineffective portion to these 
hedges recognised in profit or loss.

Swaps and fixed interest debt currently represent approximately 45% (2010: 57%) of the TKs borrowings and have an average term to 
expiry of 3.8 years (2010:  2.3 years).  The fixed interest rates are between 2.61% and 3.94% (2010: between 1.53% and 3.37%) and the 
variable rates are between 1.20% and 2.15% (2010: 0.84% to 2.26%).

At reporting date if Australian interest rates had been 50bps higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the impact on the 
Astro Group would be:

Decrease by 20 bps

2011
$'000

2010
$'000

2011
$'000

2010
$'000

These capital hedging arrangements as set out below are economic hedges and do not qualify for hedge accounting.  Their fair value at 
30 June 2011 is $11,558,000 current liability (30 June 2010: $30,573,000).

Japanese
interest rate

Astro Group 
sell

¥'000

2011
$'000

Average
exchange 

rate
Australian

interest rate

2011
$'000

Increase by 20 bps
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Interest Rate Sensitivity

Net profit/(loss)
Cash and cash equivalents 44 30 (44) (30)
Capital hedge (622) (1,346) 629 1,374
Impact on total net profit/(loss) (578) (1,316) 585 1,344
Impact on other components of equity - - - -

Net profit/(loss)
Cash and cash equivalents 185 215 (185) (215)
Capital hedge 352 840 (354) (847)
Interest bearing debt (1,015) (973) 1,015 973
Impact on total net profit/(loss) (478) 82 476 (89)
Interest rate swap 1,982 2,960 (1,981) (2,993)
Impact on other components of equity 1,982 2,960 (1,981) (2,993)

(ii) Currency risk

Maturity
2011
One - five years 7,600,000 101.9 7.34% 1.42%
Greater than five years - - - -
2010
One - five years 7,600,000 101.9 7.34% 1.42%
Greater than five years 1,500,000 101.9 7.08% 1.69%

2010
$'000

The Astro Group‟s principal activity is investing in interests in Japanese real estate.  As a result, the Astro Group is exposed to currency 
risk with respect to movements in the AUD/JPY exchange rate.

Currency risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a currency that is not the 
Astro Group‟s functional currency, AUD, and from net investments in foreign operations. The risk is measured using cash flow forecasting 
and sensitivity analysis.

The Astro Group seeks to mitigate the effect of currency exposure on the consolidated statement of financial position by borrowing in 
JPY.

Capital hedges
Under the revised Treasury guidelines hedging is to be undertaken for a maximum individual term of 10 years with no minimum proportion 
of the Astro Group‟s net investment in JPY denominated assets.

At balance date the Astro Group had cross currency interest rate swap hedges with an Australian dollar notional principal amount of 
$74,605,000 (2010: $89,330,000) with staggered settlement dates between August 2011 and August 2014.  Interest is paid at six monthly 
intervals.

At reporting date if Japanese interest rates had been 20bps higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the impact on the 
Astro Group would be:

Increase by 50 bps Decrease by 50 bps

2010
$'000

The contracts require settlement of net interest payables quarterly.  The settlement dates coincide with the dates on which interest is 
payable on the underlying debt.  The contracts are settled on a net basis.  The fair value of the interest rate swaps at 30 June 2011 is 
$11,364,000 current liability (30 June 2010: $1,209,000) and $3,128,000 non-current liability (30 June 2010: $18,644,000).

The gain or loss from re-measuring the instruments at fair value is deferred in equity in the hedging reserve, to the extent the hedge is 
effective, and re-classified into profit and loss when the hedged interest expense is recognised.  There is no ineffective portion to these 
hedges recognised in profit or loss.

Swaps and fixed interest debt currently represent approximately 45% (2010: 57%) of the TKs borrowings and have an average term to 
expiry of 3.8 years (2010:  2.3 years).  The fixed interest rates are between 2.61% and 3.94% (2010: between 1.53% and 3.37%) and the 
variable rates are between 1.20% and 2.15% (2010: 0.84% to 2.26%).

At reporting date if Australian interest rates had been 50bps higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the impact on the 
Astro Group would be:

Decrease by 20 bps

2011
$'000

2010
$'000

2011
$'000

2010
$'000

These capital hedging arrangements as set out below are economic hedges and do not qualify for hedge accounting.  Their fair value at 
30 June 2011 is $11,558,000 current liability (30 June 2010: $30,573,000).

Japanese
interest rate

Astro Group 
sell

¥'000

2011
$'000

Average
exchange 

rate
Australian

interest rate

2011
$'000

Increase by 20 bps
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Capital hedging arrangements:

Maturity date
August 2011 14,725 1,500,000 101.9 6.19%
August 2012 20,614 2,100,000 101.9 6.01%
August 2013 16,688 1,700,000 101.9 5.86%
August 2014 22,578 2,300,000 101.9 5.69%
Total 74,605 7,600,000 101.9 5.92%

Distribution hedges

Year 1 25% to 100%
Years 2 - 3 25% to 75%
Years 4 - 10 0% to 50%

During the year, this policy was amended so that the Astro Group no longer intends to hedge distributions.

At balance date the details of outstanding balances are:

Maturity
2011
Less than one year - -
One - five years - -
2010
Less than one year 2,433,582 68
One - five years - -

Currency sensitivity

Net profit/(loss)
Cash and cash equivalents (2,052) (2,370) 2,508 2,896
Capital hedge 6,957 11,702 (8,502) (14,281)
Distribution hedges - 3,037 - (3,723)
Impact on total net profit/(loss) 4,905 12,369 (5,994) (15,108)
Cash and cash equivalents (6,185) (8,033) 7,560 9,818
Trade and other receivables (519) (368) 634 450
Trade and other payables 1,635 1,955 (1,998) (2,389)
Impact on other components of equity (5,069) (6,446) 6,196 7,879

b) Credit risk

Cash and other cash equivalents 99,509 120,488
Trade and other receivables 5,708 4,330
Derivative financial instruments - current - 2,374

105,217 127,192

Astro Group 
purchase 

$'000

Astro Group 
sell        

¥'000
Exchange 

rate
Interest rate 

spread

At reporting date if the AUD/JPY foreign exchange rate had been 10% higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the impact 
on the Astro Group would be:

AJT sell
¥'000

Decrease by 10%

2010
$'000

Credit risk represents the loss that would be recognised if counterparties failed to perform as contracted.

Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.  The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting 
date was:

2011
$'000

30 Jun 10
$'000

Average
exchange 

rate

30 Jun 11
$'000

Previously the Astro Group had adopted guidelines of arranging foreign exchange forward hedges on a rolling basis equivalent to the 
following percentages of forecast distributable income from the TKs:

Where entities have a right of set-off and intend to settle on a net basis under netting arrangements, this set-off has been recognised in 
the consolidated financial statements on a net basis.  Details of the Astro Group‟s contingent liabilities are disclosed in Note 27.

These distribution hedging arrangements are economic hedges and do not qualify for hedge accounting.  Their fair value at 30 June 2011 
is $nil (30 June 2010: $2,374,000 current asset).  The final distribution hedge due to mature in February 2011 was monetised during 
December 2010.

Increase by 10%

2011
$'000

2010
$'000
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At balance date there were no other significant concentrations of credit risk.    

Impairment losses
The ageing of trade and other receivables at reporting date is detailed below:

Not past due 5,185 3,763
Past due 0-30 days 393 471
Past due 31- 60 days 47 28
Past due 61+ days 83 68
Total 5,708 4,330

c) Liquidity risk

Non derivative financial liabilities
Payables (18,100) - - - (18,100) (18,100)
Tenant deposits (45,904) (4,512) (13,717) (16,663) (80,796) (80,796)
Distribution payable (11,689) - - - (11,689) (11,689)
Current tax liabilities (1,547) - - - (1,547) (1,547)

(77,240) (4,512) (13,717) (16,663) (112,132) (112,132)
Interest bearing debt
Principal1 (191,485) (233,239) (489,245) - (913,969) -
Interest (18,133) (12,807) (24,066) - (55,006) -

(209,618) (246,046) (513,311) - (968,975) (902,736)
Non-current derivative financial instruments (assets and liabilities)
Net settled (interest rate swaps) (1,304) (951) (1,036) - (3,291) (3,128)
Current derivative financial instruments (assets and liabilities)
Net settled (interest rate swaps)2 (11,364) - - - (11,364) (11,364)
Gross settled
- Inflow 19,647 24,225 42,321 - 86,193 -
- Outflow (18,546) (25,229) (47,170) - (90,945) -

1,101 (1,004) (4,849) - (4,752) (22,922)

The Astro Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to a single tenant.  Initial and ongoing credit evaluation is performed 
on the financial condition of tenants and, where appropriate, an allowance for doubtful receivables is raised. No allowance has been 
recognised for the consumption tax, GST and distribution receivable from the taxation authorities and related parties respectively.  Based 
on historical experience, there is no evidence of default from these counterparties which would indicate that an allowance was necessary.

30 Jun 10
$'000

30 Jun 11
$'000

Tenants pay rent in accordance with agreed payment terms, which is generally one month in advance. Trade and other receivables have 
been aged according to their due date in the above ageing analysis.  Based on past experience, the Astro Group believes that no 
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of rent receivables not past due and past due.  The rent receivables past due are not 
significant and the Astro Group holds security for the rent receivables in the form of a right of set-off against the liability for tenant 
deposits in the event a tenant defaults.

1The Astro Group has $179,572,000 of Japanese debt due to mature in May 2012 and $218,155,000 due to mature in August 2012. 
Given the high current loan to value ratios of these loans, it is likely that JPTD cannot be refinanced in full and it is all but certain that 
JPTA cannot be refinanced in full.  Refer to Note 1(a) and Note 26(d) for detail of negotiations on the refinance of this debt.

2011 - $'000

1 to 2
years

2The interest rate swap contract contains an early termination and repayment option that can be exercised by either party (i.e. The Astro 
Group or the external counterparty).  The early termination date in those contracts is the fifth anniversary of the trade date and annually 
thereafter.  The notice period to exercise the early termination option being 5 days preceding the early termination date.  As the earliest 
termination dates of the interest rate swap contracts entered into by JPT Direct Co. Ltd are all within one year of the reporting date the 
cash flow associated with these contracts is classified as less than one year.  Refer to Note 1(a) for further details relating to this.

Trade and other receivables consist of rent, consumption tax, GST, distributions and other receivables.  At balance date none (2010: 8%) 
of the Astro Group‟s receivables were due from Japanese and Australian tax authorities in respect of consumption tax and GST.

The Astro Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash including working capital and other reserves.

The following are the undiscounted contractual cash flows of derivatives and non derivative financial liabilities shown at their nominal 
amount.

The Astro Group is also exposed to credit risk arising from transactions in cross currency swaps, interest rate swaps and foreign 
exchange contracts.  The Treasury Guidelines outlines the counterparty credit risk management policy, including limits per financial 
institution.  Derivative counterparties and cash transactions are limited to financial institutions that meet minimum credit rating criteria in 
accordance with guidelines.

Less than
1 year

2 to 5
years

Carrying
amount

More than
5 years

Contractual
cash flows
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At balance date there were no other significant concentrations of credit risk.    

Impairment losses
The ageing of trade and other receivables at reporting date is detailed below:

Not past due 5,185 3,763
Past due 0-30 days 393 471
Past due 31- 60 days 47 28
Past due 61+ days 83 68
Total 5,708 4,330

c) Liquidity risk

Non derivative financial liabilities
Payables (18,100) - - - (18,100) (18,100)
Tenant deposits (45,904) (4,512) (13,717) (16,663) (80,796) (80,796)
Distribution payable (11,689) - - - (11,689) (11,689)
Current tax liabilities (1,547) - - - (1,547) (1,547)

(77,240) (4,512) (13,717) (16,663) (112,132) (112,132)
Interest bearing debt
Principal1 (191,485) (233,239) (489,245) - (913,969) -
Interest (18,133) (12,807) (24,066) - (55,006) -

(209,618) (246,046) (513,311) - (968,975) (902,736)
Non-current derivative financial instruments (assets and liabilities)
Net settled (interest rate swaps) (1,304) (951) (1,036) - (3,291) (3,128)
Current derivative financial instruments (assets and liabilities)
Net settled (interest rate swaps)2 (11,364) - - - (11,364) (11,364)
Gross settled
- Inflow 19,647 24,225 42,321 - 86,193 -
- Outflow (18,546) (25,229) (47,170) - (90,945) -

1,101 (1,004) (4,849) - (4,752) (22,922)

The Astro Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to a single tenant.  Initial and ongoing credit evaluation is performed 
on the financial condition of tenants and, where appropriate, an allowance for doubtful receivables is raised. No allowance has been 
recognised for the consumption tax, GST and distribution receivable from the taxation authorities and related parties respectively.  Based 
on historical experience, there is no evidence of default from these counterparties which would indicate that an allowance was necessary.

30 Jun 10
$'000

30 Jun 11
$'000

Tenants pay rent in accordance with agreed payment terms, which is generally one month in advance. Trade and other receivables have 
been aged according to their due date in the above ageing analysis.  Based on past experience, the Astro Group believes that no 
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of rent receivables not past due and past due.  The rent receivables past due are not 
significant and the Astro Group holds security for the rent receivables in the form of a right of set-off against the liability for tenant 
deposits in the event a tenant defaults.

1The Astro Group has $179,572,000 of Japanese debt due to mature in May 2012 and $218,155,000 due to mature in August 2012. 
Given the high current loan to value ratios of these loans, it is likely that JPTD cannot be refinanced in full and it is all but certain that 
JPTA cannot be refinanced in full.  Refer to Note 1(a) and Note 26(d) for detail of negotiations on the refinance of this debt.

2011 - $'000

1 to 2
years

2The interest rate swap contract contains an early termination and repayment option that can be exercised by either party (i.e. The Astro 
Group or the external counterparty).  The early termination date in those contracts is the fifth anniversary of the trade date and annually 
thereafter.  The notice period to exercise the early termination option being 5 days preceding the early termination date.  As the earliest 
termination dates of the interest rate swap contracts entered into by JPT Direct Co. Ltd are all within one year of the reporting date the 
cash flow associated with these contracts is classified as less than one year.  Refer to Note 1(a) for further details relating to this.

Trade and other receivables consist of rent, consumption tax, GST, distributions and other receivables.  At balance date none (2010: 8%) 
of the Astro Group‟s receivables were due from Japanese and Australian tax authorities in respect of consumption tax and GST.

The Astro Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash including working capital and other reserves.

The following are the undiscounted contractual cash flows of derivatives and non derivative financial liabilities shown at their nominal 
amount.

The Astro Group is also exposed to credit risk arising from transactions in cross currency swaps, interest rate swaps and foreign 
exchange contracts.  The Treasury Guidelines outlines the counterparty credit risk management policy, including limits per financial 
institution.  Derivative counterparties and cash transactions are limited to financial institutions that meet minimum credit rating criteria in 
accordance with guidelines.

Less than
1 year

2 to 5
years

Carrying
amount

More than
5 years

Contractual
cash flows
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Non derivative financial liabilities
Payables (21,984) - - - (21,984) (21,984)
Tenant deposits (37,405) (10,116) (19,014) (29,294) (95,829) (95,829)
Distribution payable (17,787) - - - (17,787) (17,787)
Current tax liabilities (1,456) - - - (1,456) (1,456)

(78,632) (10,116) (19,014) (29,294) (137,056) (137,056)
Interest bearing debt
Principal (243,252) (217,034) (675,484) - (1,135,770) -
Interest (14,969) (13,760) (12,362) - (41,091) -

(258,221) (230,794) (687,846) - (1,176,861) (1,127,266)
Non-current derivative financial instruments (assets and liabilities)
Net settled (interest rate swaps) (5,494) (4,062) (10,064) (3,853) (23,473) (18,644)
Current derivative financial instruments (assets and liabilities)
Gross settled
- Inflow 42,284 20,689 69,674 16,288 148,935 -
- Outflow (33,904) (1,633) (72,849) (50,694) (159,080) -

8,380 19,056 (3,175) (34,406) (10,145) (29,408)

d) Capital risk management

e) Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

Less than
1 year

1 to 2
years

2 to 5
years

More than
5 years

The weighted average interest rate of the Astro Group‟s debt was 2.37% at 30 June 2011 (30 June 2010: 2.03%).

The Astro Group operates under conservative interest rate hedging guidelines, which require interest rates to be fixed for between 50% to 
100% of debt.  As at 30 June 2011 the average duration of interest rate hedging was 3.9 years (30 June 2010: 2.3 years).

Fair values
The carrying amount of all financial assets and liabilities recognised are not materially different from the fair values.

The following methods and assumptions are used to determine the Net Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities.

Recognised Financial Instruments

Cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and payables
The carrying amount represents fair value because their short-term to maturity means no discounting is required.

Interest-bearing liabilities
The Astro Group's financial assets and liabilities included in current and non-current liabilities on the consolidated statements of financial 
position are carried at amounts that approximate fair value.

Investments and securities
For financial instruments traded in organised financial markets, fair value is the current quoted market bid price for an asset or offer price 
for a liability. For investments where there is no quoted market price, a reasonable estimate of the fair value is determined by reference to 
the current market value of another instrument which is substantially the same or is calculated based on a discounted cash flow valuation 
method or the underlying net asset base of the investment/security.

Derivative financial instruments
The fair value of interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows.  The 
fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange market rates.  This value is then discounted back 
to period end date.  The fair value of derivative equity contracts is determined based on the current quoted market bid price.

Management is in discussions with the common lender to JPTD and JPTA with regard to the maturity of the loans in these TKs.  Given 
the high current loan to value ratios of these loans, it is likely that JPTD cannot be refinanced in full and it is all but certain that JPTA 
cannot be refinanced in full. The Japan Asset Manager is continuing negotiations with the current lender and other financial institutions. 
This remains a key priority for both the Responsible Entity and the Japan Asset Manager.  Management is also investigating asset sales 
and/or alternate financing to partially replace the existing loans, whilst evaluating whether the terms and costs of such refinancing and any 
capital injection required would be in the best interests of the Astro Group securityholders. In the event that a satisfactory solution cannot 
be found, one or both loans will be in default upon maturity, and the Japan Asset Manager would work with the lender to manage the 
situation in the interests of all parties. There are no cross collateral obligations from the Astro Group to the lender, so the lender has no 
recourse to assets beyond those held by the relevant TK Operator other than with respect to the liability for security deposit repayments 
discussed in Note 34(c).  Further detail of the impact on the Astro Group of a default on the loans to JPTD in May 2012 and/or JPTA in 
August 2012 is given in Note 1(a).

The Astro Group maintains its capital structure with the objective to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, to increase the 
returns for Securityholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure.  The capital structure of the Astro Group consists of interest 
bearing debt, as listed in Note 22, and equity as listed in Note 23. The analysis of each of these categories of capital is provided in these 
Notes.

2010 - $'000

To achieve the optimal capital structure, the Board may use the following strategies; amend the distribution policy of the Astro Group; 
issue new securities through a private or public placement; activate the Distribution Reinvestment Plan (DRP); issue securities under a 
Security Purchase Plan (SPP); conduct an on-market buyback of securities, acquire debt, and dispose of investment properties.

The Astro Group targets gearing (interest bearing debt / investment properties) within a long-term target range of 50% to 60%.  At 30 
June 2011, the gearing ratio is 76.1% (30 June 2010: 75.5%). The increase in gearing is the result of the investment property 
devaluations during the year.  The Board is actively seeking methods to reduce the gearing to within its preferred long-term target range. 
For reference, if the assets and liabilities of JPTD and JPTA were no longer to be consolidated by the Astro Group, the gearing ratio 
would be approximately 60.8%.

Contractual
cash flows

Carrying
amount
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Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets
Assets at fair value through profit or loss

Distribution hedges - - - -
Total assets - - - -

Liabilities
Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Capital hedges - 11,558 - 11,558
Liabilities at fair value through reserves

Interest rate swaps - 14,492 - 14,492
Total liabilities - 26,050 - 26,050

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets
Assets at fair value through profit or loss

Distribution hedges - 2,374 - 2,374
Total assets - 2,374 - 2,374

Liabilities
Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Capital hedges - 30,573 - 30,573
Liabilities at fair value through reserves

Interest rate swaps - 19,854 - 19,854
Total liabilities - 50,427 - 50,427

27. Contingencies

Contingent Assets

AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures  requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value 
measurement hierarchy: 

2010 - $'000

(a) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1)

Fair values
The carrying amount of all financial assets and liabilities recognised are not materially different from the fair values.

The following methods and assumptions are used to determine the Net Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities.

Recognised Financial Instruments

Cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and payables
The carrying amount represents fair value because their short-term to maturity means no discounting is required.

Interest-bearing liabilities
The Astro Group's financial assets and liabilities included in current and non-current liabilities on the consolidated statements of financial 
position are carried at amounts that approximate fair value.

Investments and securities
For financial instruments traded in organised financial markets, fair value is the current quoted market bid price for an asset or offer price 
for a liability. For investments where there is no quoted market price, a reasonable estimate of the fair value is determined by reference to 
the current market value of another instrument which is substantially the same or is calculated based on a discounted cash flow valuation 
method or the underlying net asset base of the investment/security.

Derivative financial instruments
The fair value of interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows.  The 
fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange market rates.  This value is then discounted back 
to period end date.  The fair value of derivative equity contracts is determined based on the current quoted market bid price.

(c) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (level 3).

(b) inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or 
indirectly (derived from prices) (level 2),and

2011 - $'000

The following tables present the Astro Group's assets and liabilities measured and recognised at fair value at 30 June 2011 and 30 June 
2010.

In the opinion of the Directors of the Responsible Entity there were no contingent assets at end of the reporting period.

Page 46 AJA Stapled Group

 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

90 Astro Japan Property Group • Annual Report



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2011

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets
Assets at fair value through profit or loss

Distribution hedges - - - -
Total assets - - - -

Liabilities
Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Capital hedges - 11,558 - 11,558
Liabilities at fair value through reserves

Interest rate swaps - 14,492 - 14,492
Total liabilities - 26,050 - 26,050

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets
Assets at fair value through profit or loss

Distribution hedges - 2,374 - 2,374
Total assets - 2,374 - 2,374

Liabilities
Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Capital hedges - 30,573 - 30,573
Liabilities at fair value through reserves

Interest rate swaps - 19,854 - 19,854
Total liabilities - 50,427 - 50,427

27. Contingencies

Contingent Assets

AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures  requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value 
measurement hierarchy: 

2010 - $'000

(a) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1)

Fair values
The carrying amount of all financial assets and liabilities recognised are not materially different from the fair values.

The following methods and assumptions are used to determine the Net Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities.

Recognised Financial Instruments

Cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and payables
The carrying amount represents fair value because their short-term to maturity means no discounting is required.

Interest-bearing liabilities
The Astro Group's financial assets and liabilities included in current and non-current liabilities on the consolidated statements of financial 
position are carried at amounts that approximate fair value.

Investments and securities
For financial instruments traded in organised financial markets, fair value is the current quoted market bid price for an asset or offer price 
for a liability. For investments where there is no quoted market price, a reasonable estimate of the fair value is determined by reference to 
the current market value of another instrument which is substantially the same or is calculated based on a discounted cash flow valuation 
method or the underlying net asset base of the investment/security.

Derivative financial instruments
The fair value of interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows.  The 
fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange market rates.  This value is then discounted back 
to period end date.  The fair value of derivative equity contracts is determined based on the current quoted market bid price.

(c) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (level 3).

(b) inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or 
indirectly (derived from prices) (level 2),and

2011 - $'000

The following tables present the Astro Group's assets and liabilities measured and recognised at fair value at 30 June 2011 and 30 June 
2010.

In the opinion of the Directors of the Responsible Entity there were no contingent assets at end of the reporting period.
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Contingent Liabilities

The Astro Group had contingent liabilities at 30 June 2011 in respect of:

i) Claims

28. Segment reporting

Segment reporting note

17,555 13,332 14,622 17,687 10,300 - 73,496
Capital expenditure on investment properties (777) (1,012) (1,758) (27) (246) - (3,820)
Asset management fees paid (1,476) (1,536) (1,236) (1,775) (1,240) - (7,263)
Interest payment & upfront borrowing costs (3,944) (9,851) (5,198) (5,576) (5,362) - (29,931)
Accounting and administration (290) (350) (481) (712) (259) (2,620) (4,712)
Realised foreign exchange gains - - - - - 4,925 4,925
Adjusted Operating Cash flow 11,068 583 5,949 9,597 3,193 2,305 32,695

Reconciliation to PBT
Adjusted Operating Cash flow 11,068 583 5,949 9,597 3,193 2,305 32,695

(22,687) (4,592) (14,551) (10,328) (24,352) - (76,510)
Unrealised gain/(loss) on derivatives - - - - - 16,839 16,839
Unrealised FX gain/(loss) - - - - - (3,114) (3,114)
Movements in accruals and prepayments 758 8,902 (183) 1,630 821 (218) 11,710
Amortisation of borrowing costs (854) (868) (524) (1,364) (569) - (4,179)
Depreciation - - - - - (34) (34)
Financing income - - - - - 418 418
Interest received on cross currency swaps - - - - - 4,649 4,649
Gain/(loss) on monetisation of capital hedges - - - - - (2,904) (2,904)
Capital expenditure on investment properties 777 1,012 1,758 27 246 - 3,820
Impairment of goodwill - - - - - (5,000) (5,000)
Gain on disposal of investment property - 2,416 - - - - 2,416
Share of associate's profit/(loss) - - - - - 1,901 1,901
Profit/(loss) Before Tax (10,938) 7,453 (7,551) (438) (20,661) 14,842 (17,293)

JPTA TK
$'000

Australia and 
Consolidation 

adjustments
$'000

JPTD TK
$'000

JPTS TK
$'000

Total
$'000

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the „chief operating decision maker‟ that are used 
to make strategic decisions. The chief operating decision maker has been determined to be the Board of the Responsible Entity. The 
chief operating decision maker considers the business from a business unit perspective and has identified six reportable segments. The 
five TK's are considered more appropriate segments rather than retail, office and residential as each of the five TK‟s (which constitute the 
majority of the Astro Group results) are monitored on an entity-by-entity basis, (each entity contains investment properties that are 
secured against specific borrowings) and the residual business unit includes the operations of AJT, AJCo, and the Responsible Entity, as 
well as consolidation adjustments.  

In the opinion of the Directors of the Responsible Entity there were no further contingent liabilities at end of the reporting period, other 
than those disclosed in the Parent Entity Financial Information at note 34 (c). 

Fair value adjustment to investment 
properties

The segment information provided to the chief operating decision maker for the reportable segments for the year ended 30 June 2011, 
and reconciliation to Profit Before Tax, are as follows:

30 June 2011
JPTC TK

$'000

In May 2011 a claim was made against JPT Co. Ltd, (JPT).  The claim relates to an alleged loss suffered by the purchaser of Shinjuku 
Sanei, a property which was sold by JPT in May 2009.  After taking legal advice on the matter a provision of $291,000 has been 
recognised, with the remainder of the claim ($71,000) which is being disputed by the Japan Asset Manager classed as a contingent 
liability.

The chief operating decision maker assesses the performance of each operating segment based on an adjusted operating cash flow 
basis.  This measure excludes non-operating and non-cash items such as unrealised fair value adjustments on investment properties and 
unrealised derivative & foreign exchange gains/losses, but includes items such as capital expenditure on investment properties and 
realised hedge income. Gearing is considered within each of the business units due to the non-recourse nature of debt contained within 
each TK.

JPT TK
$'000

Net operating cash flows from investment 
properties
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Segment reporting note

18,668 19,822 14,154 18,316 12,415 - 83,375
Capital expenditure on investment properties (887) (1,337) (3,117) (102) (57) - (5,500)
Asset management and base fees paid (1,543) (1,783) (1,238) (1,788) (1,244) (1,570) (9,166)
Interest payment & upfront borrowing costs (6,346) (3,077) (5,096) (3,039) (5,911) - (23,469)
Accounting and administration (627) (400) (551) (647) (341) (4,224) (6,790)
Realised foreign exchange gains - - - - - 4,279 4,279
Adjusted Operating Cash flow 9,265 13,225 4,152 12,740 4,862 (1,515) 42,729

Reconciliation to PBT
Adjusted Operating Cash flow 9,265 13,225 4,152 12,740 4,862 (1,515) 42,729

(24,731) (17,314) (21,959) (37,606) (49,052) - (150,662)
Unrealised gain/(loss) on derivatives - - - - - 1,169 1,169
Unrealised FX gain/(loss) - - - - - 1,317 1,317
Movements in accruals and prepayments 5,315 (1,878) (930) (374) (727) 2,407 3,813
Amortisation of borrowing costs (466) (534) (534) (503) (580) - (2,617)
Depreciation - - - - - (7) (7)
Financing income - - - - - 247 247
Interest received on cross currency swaps - - - - - 5,581 5,581
Gain/(loss) on monetisation of capital hedges - - - - - (4,808) (4,808)
Capital expenditure on investment properties 887 1,337 3,117 102 57 - 5,500
Impairment of goodwill - - - - - (7,000) (7,000)
Share of associate's profit/(loss) - - - - - (578) (578)
Profit/(loss) Before Tax (9,730) (5,164) (16,154) (25,641) (45,440) (3,187) (105,316)

Total Segment Assets and Liabilities
Investment properties 297,947 260,881 190,324 290,807 161,483 - 1,201,442
Cash 20,801 12,573 10,643 15,037 8,986 31,469 99,509
Total Segment Assets 323,799 279,152 202,213 307,100 172,138 40,576 1,324,978
Interest bearing debt (151,796) (154,241) (179,135) (200,086) (217,478) - (902,736)
Tenant deposits (21,391) (12,615) (23,934) (8,544) (14,312) - (80,796)
Derivative financial instruments - - (11,364) - (3,128) (11,558) (26,050)
Total Segment Liabilities (185,180) (177,958) (218,793) (213,990) (237,743) (13,424) (1,047,088)
Net Assets/(Liabilities) 138,619 101,194 (16,580) 93,110 (65,605) 27,152 277,890

Total Segment Assets and Liabilities
Investment properties 363,557 357,372 230,915 342,483 210,668 - 1,504,995
Cash 24,091 22,857 12,792 18,343 10,275 32,130 120,488
Total Segment Assets 390,267 388,588 245,671 364,173 222,202 49,628 1,660,529
Interest bearing debt (172,475) (237,247) (203,328) (267,293) (246,923) - (1,127,266)
Tenant deposits (24,544) (15,632) (28,077) (9,518) (18,058) - (95,829)
Derivative financial instruments - (879) (14,095) - (4,879) (30,573) (50,426)
Total Segment Liabilities (212,378) (263,094) (253,076) (283,542) (275,031) (34,476) (1,321,597)
Net Assets/(Liabilities) 177,889 125,494 (7,405) 80,631 (52,829) 15,152 338,932

JPT TK
$'000

The amounts provided to the chief operating decision maker with respect to the total assets and liabilities are measured in a manner 
consistent with that of the financial statements and as such no reconciliation is required.

JPTD TK
$'000

JPTC TK
$'000

JPTD TK
$'000

JPTC TK
$'000

JPTA TK
$'000

Total
$'00030 June 2011

30 June 2010

JPTS TK
$'000

JPTS TK
$'000

Australia and 
Consolidation 

adjustments
$'000

Total
$'000

Australia and 
Consolidation 

adjustments
$'000

JPTA TK
$'000

JPTA TK
$'000

Australia and 
Consolidation 

adjustments
$'000

Total
$'00030 June 2010

JPT TK
$'000

JPT TK
$'000

JPTS TK
$'000

Net operating cash flows from investment 
properties

Fair value adjustment to investment 
properties

JPTC TK
$'000

JPTD TK
$'000
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Segment reporting note

18,668 19,822 14,154 18,316 12,415 - 83,375
Capital expenditure on investment properties (887) (1,337) (3,117) (102) (57) - (5,500)
Asset management and base fees paid (1,543) (1,783) (1,238) (1,788) (1,244) (1,570) (9,166)
Interest payment & upfront borrowing costs (6,346) (3,077) (5,096) (3,039) (5,911) - (23,469)
Accounting and administration (627) (400) (551) (647) (341) (4,224) (6,790)
Realised foreign exchange gains - - - - - 4,279 4,279
Adjusted Operating Cash flow 9,265 13,225 4,152 12,740 4,862 (1,515) 42,729

Reconciliation to PBT
Adjusted Operating Cash flow 9,265 13,225 4,152 12,740 4,862 (1,515) 42,729

(24,731) (17,314) (21,959) (37,606) (49,052) - (150,662)
Unrealised gain/(loss) on derivatives - - - - - 1,169 1,169
Unrealised FX gain/(loss) - - - - - 1,317 1,317
Movements in accruals and prepayments 5,315 (1,878) (930) (374) (727) 2,407 3,813
Amortisation of borrowing costs (466) (534) (534) (503) (580) - (2,617)
Depreciation - - - - - (7) (7)
Financing income - - - - - 247 247
Interest received on cross currency swaps - - - - - 5,581 5,581
Gain/(loss) on monetisation of capital hedges - - - - - (4,808) (4,808)
Capital expenditure on investment properties 887 1,337 3,117 102 57 - 5,500
Impairment of goodwill - - - - - (7,000) (7,000)
Share of associate's profit/(loss) - - - - - (578) (578)
Profit/(loss) Before Tax (9,730) (5,164) (16,154) (25,641) (45,440) (3,187) (105,316)

Total Segment Assets and Liabilities
Investment properties 297,947 260,881 190,324 290,807 161,483 - 1,201,442
Cash 20,801 12,573 10,643 15,037 8,986 31,469 99,509
Total Segment Assets 323,799 279,152 202,213 307,100 172,138 40,576 1,324,978
Interest bearing debt (151,796) (154,241) (179,135) (200,086) (217,478) - (902,736)
Tenant deposits (21,391) (12,615) (23,934) (8,544) (14,312) - (80,796)
Derivative financial instruments - - (11,364) - (3,128) (11,558) (26,050)
Total Segment Liabilities (185,180) (177,958) (218,793) (213,990) (237,743) (13,424) (1,047,088)
Net Assets/(Liabilities) 138,619 101,194 (16,580) 93,110 (65,605) 27,152 277,890

Total Segment Assets and Liabilities
Investment properties 363,557 357,372 230,915 342,483 210,668 - 1,504,995
Cash 24,091 22,857 12,792 18,343 10,275 32,130 120,488
Total Segment Assets 390,267 388,588 245,671 364,173 222,202 49,628 1,660,529
Interest bearing debt (172,475) (237,247) (203,328) (267,293) (246,923) - (1,127,266)
Tenant deposits (24,544) (15,632) (28,077) (9,518) (18,058) - (95,829)
Derivative financial instruments - (879) (14,095) - (4,879) (30,573) (50,426)
Total Segment Liabilities (212,378) (263,094) (253,076) (283,542) (275,031) (34,476) (1,321,597)
Net Assets/(Liabilities) 177,889 125,494 (7,405) 80,631 (52,829) 15,152 338,932

JPT TK
$'000

The amounts provided to the chief operating decision maker with respect to the total assets and liabilities are measured in a manner 
consistent with that of the financial statements and as such no reconciliation is required.

JPTD TK
$'000

JPTC TK
$'000

JPTD TK
$'000

JPTC TK
$'000

JPTA TK
$'000

Total
$'00030 June 2011

30 June 2010

JPTS TK
$'000

JPTS TK
$'000

Australia and 
Consolidation 

adjustments
$'000

Total
$'000

Australia and 
Consolidation 

adjustments
$'000

JPTA TK
$'000

JPTA TK
$'000

Australia and 
Consolidation 

adjustments
$'000

Total
$'00030 June 2010

JPT TK
$'000
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Net operating cash flows from investment 
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Fair value adjustment to investment 
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JPTC TK
$'000

JPTD TK
$'000
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29. Notes to the consolidated statements of cash flows

Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash flows from operating activities

Profit/(Loss) for the period (22,004) (111,922)
Adjustments for non cash items and items classified as investing or financing activities
Unrealised foreign exchange gain 3,114 (1,316)
Unrealised fair value adjustment to derivatives (16,989) (3,387)
Fair value adjustments to investment property 76,510 150,662
Equity accounting for investments in associate (1,901) 578
Interest received on cross currency swaps (4,649) (5,581)
Realised loss on monetisation of capital hedges 2,904 4,808
Depreciation expense 34 7
Impairment of goodwill 5,000 7,000
Gain on disposal of investment property (2,416) -
Net cash provided by operating activities before changes in asset and liabilities 39,603 40,849
Change in assets and liabilities during the financial period
Increase/(decrease) in Japanese withholding tax and Australian income tax payable 425 (5,826)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other receivables (2,223) 10,246
Increase/(decrease) in other assets 2,294 (586)
Increase/(decrease) in payables (5,194) (9,046)
Net cash from operating activities after changes in assets and liabilities 34,905 35,637

30. Director and executive disclosures

(a)  Key Management Personnel

Name Position Employer
Ian Hay1

(b)  Remuneration of Key Management Personnel

i) Directors
The names of each person holding the position of Director of the Responsible Entity and also AJCo during the financial year were Mr F A 
McDonald, Ms P Dwyer, and Mr J Pettigrew.

ii) Other key management personnel
The following individuals had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling activities of the Astro Group, directly or 
indirectly, during the financial year:

Chief Financial Officer The Responsible Entity
1 Mr I Hay resigned on 31 December 2010.  Mr J Pettigrew was appointed Chief Financial Officer on 1 January 2011.  Prior to this Mr 
Pettigrew was an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Responsible Entity.

30 Jun 11
$'000

30 Jun 10
$'000

The Senior Advisor to the Astro Group, Mr Eric Lucas, is a contractor to the Astro Group and is paid a monthly fee of ¥100,000.  
Separately, the Japan Asset Manager employs Mr Lucas as its Chief Executive Officer and employs the other executives who conduct 
the asset management activities in Japan.  The Japan Asset Manager is not a subsidiary of the Astro Group, and as such the 
remuneration relating to those individuals is not borne by the Astro Group or its securityholders.  Mr Lucas and the other executives of the 
Japan Asset Manager are not considered KMP of the Astro Group.

The Astro Group aims to attract, retain and motivate highly skilled people to operate the Astro Group in the best interests of its 
securityholders.

JPT Direct Co. Ltd (JPTD) and JPT August Co. Ltd (JPTA) are in a net liability position as at 30 June 2011, however the bank loans are 
non-recourse beyond the relevant TK.  The Astro Group is not liable to make up any deficit between net liabilities and the loan amount, 
however, AJT has a provision for JPTD and JPTA and a contingent liability in relation to the other TKs arising from an obligation under 
the TK agreements entered into with the TK Operators, to make additional equity contributions to refund security deposits to tenants upon 
expiration or termination of leases where the TK has insufficient cash to meet this obligation.  Further details of AJT's contingent liability 
are given in Note 34(c).  Further detail on the Astro Group's going concern status and the impact of a potential default on the bank loans 
to JPTD in May 2012 and/or JPTA in August 2012 is given in Note 1(a).  As disclosed in Note 1(d) if JPTD and/or JPTA were to default 
on the respective loans the lender to these TKs would exercise their security rights.  This would mean the lender could assume effective 
control of the TKs and it would be likely the Astro Group would lose control of JPTD and/or JPTA.  The Astro Group would no longer 
consolidate the results of its interests in the relevant TK from the date on which control of the relevant TK was lost. 
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Short-term employee benefits¹ 548 144
Post-employment benefits¹ 42 12

(c)  Directors loans and other transactions

There were no loans or other transactions made to or from the directors of the company during the year.

(d) Key management personnel compensation - Remuneration Report

    Base pay and benefits, including superannuation; and
    Short term incentives.

The Astro Group has a formally constituted Remuneration Committee which is currently comprised of the Astro Group‟s two Independent 
Non-Executive Directors.  Its members during the financial year were Mr A McDonald (appointed Chair on 1 January 2011), Ms P Dwyer 
and Mr J Pettigrew who ceased as Chair and as a member on 31 December 2010.  The Remuneration Committee meets annually for the 
purposes of reviewing and making recommendations to the Astro Group Board on the level of remuneration of the senior executives and 
the Directors.

30 Jun 11
$'000

Remuneration Policy & Approach

Under the Corporations Act 2001  (Cth) only disclosing entities that are listed companies are required to prepare a Remuneration Report.  
Accordingly, this report is only required to address remuneration disclosures applicable to AJCo, as AJT is not a listed company.  
Notwithstanding, this report addresses the remuneration disclosures of the Astro Group, not just AJCo.

This report outlines the remuneration philosophy and framework currently applicable to the Astro Group, in particular how this relates to 
the Astro Group‟s senior executives and Directors.

The executive pay and reward framework has two components:

The Remuneration Committee endeavours to ensure that the remuneration outcomes strike an appropriate balance between the interests 
of the Astro Group securityholders, and rewarding, retaining and motivating the Astro Group‟s executives and the Directors.

Executive remuneration

This report relates to the year ended 30 June 2011.  The comparative figures for the year ended 30 June 2010 relate to the period from 7 
April 2010 to 30 June 2010 because the Responsible Entity, which remunerates the Astro Group‟s executives and directors, only became 
a wholly owned subsidiary of AJCo and a part of the Astro Group on 7 April 2010.

The information provided in this remuneration report has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

The Astro Group aims to attract, retain and motivate highly skilled people to operate the Astro Group in the best interests of its 
securityholders.

¹  Comparative figures are for the period 7 April 2010 to 30 June 2010.  No key management personnel remuneration was incurred by the 
Astro Group before the Responsible Entity became part of the Astro Group on 7 April 2010.

30 Jun 10
$'000

The Astro Group has a formally constituted Remuneration Committee which is currently comprised of the Astro Group‟s two Independent 
Non-Executive Directors.  Its members during the financial year were Mr A McDonald (appointed Chair on 1 January 2011), Ms P Dwyer 
and Mr J Pettigrew who ceased as Chair and as a member on 31 December 2010.  The Remuneration Committee meets annually for the 
purposes of reviewing and making recommendations to the Astro Group Boards on the level of remuneration of the senior executives and 
the Directors.

The Remuneration Committee endeavours to ensure that the remuneration outcomes strike an appropriate balance between the interests 
of the Astro Group securityholders, and rewarding, retaining and motivating the Astro Group‟s executives and the Directors.  
Remuneration of Key Management Personnel is set out below:

To determine the total annual remuneration for the executives, the Remuneration Committee conducts an assessment of each executive 
based on the individual‟s performance and achievements during the financial year and taking into account the overall performance and 
achievements of the Astro Group and prevailing remuneration rates of executives in similar positions.  This assessment is made in 
conjunction with advice from the Astro Group‟s Senior Advisor, Mr Eric Lucas, and is the basis for determining the total annual 
remuneration for that financial year.
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Short-term employee benefits¹ 548 144
Post-employment benefits¹ 42 12

(c)  Directors loans and other transactions

There were no loans or other transactions made to or from the directors of the company during the year.

(d) Key management personnel compensation - Remuneration Report

    Base pay and benefits, including superannuation; and
    Short term incentives.

The Astro Group has a formally constituted Remuneration Committee which is currently comprised of the Astro Group‟s two Independent 
Non-Executive Directors.  Its members during the financial year were Mr A McDonald (appointed Chair on 1 January 2011), Ms P Dwyer 
and Mr J Pettigrew who ceased as Chair and as a member on 31 December 2010.  The Remuneration Committee meets annually for the 
purposes of reviewing and making recommendations to the Astro Group Board on the level of remuneration of the senior executives and 
the Directors.

30 Jun 11
$'000

Remuneration Policy & Approach

Under the Corporations Act 2001  (Cth) only disclosing entities that are listed companies are required to prepare a Remuneration Report.  
Accordingly, this report is only required to address remuneration disclosures applicable to AJCo, as AJT is not a listed company.  
Notwithstanding, this report addresses the remuneration disclosures of the Astro Group, not just AJCo.

This report outlines the remuneration philosophy and framework currently applicable to the Astro Group, in particular how this relates to 
the Astro Group‟s senior executives and Directors.

The executive pay and reward framework has two components:

The Remuneration Committee endeavours to ensure that the remuneration outcomes strike an appropriate balance between the interests 
of the Astro Group securityholders, and rewarding, retaining and motivating the Astro Group‟s executives and the Directors.

Executive remuneration

This report relates to the year ended 30 June 2011.  The comparative figures for the year ended 30 June 2010 relate to the period from 7 
April 2010 to 30 June 2010 because the Responsible Entity, which remunerates the Astro Group‟s executives and directors, only became 
a wholly owned subsidiary of AJCo and a part of the Astro Group on 7 April 2010.

The information provided in this remuneration report has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

The Astro Group aims to attract, retain and motivate highly skilled people to operate the Astro Group in the best interests of its 
securityholders.

¹  Comparative figures are for the period 7 April 2010 to 30 June 2010.  No key management personnel remuneration was incurred by the 
Astro Group before the Responsible Entity became part of the Astro Group on 7 April 2010.

30 Jun 10
$'000

The Astro Group has a formally constituted Remuneration Committee which is currently comprised of the Astro Group‟s two Independent 
Non-Executive Directors.  Its members during the financial year were Mr A McDonald (appointed Chair on 1 January 2011), Ms P Dwyer 
and Mr J Pettigrew who ceased as Chair and as a member on 31 December 2010.  The Remuneration Committee meets annually for the 
purposes of reviewing and making recommendations to the Astro Group Boards on the level of remuneration of the senior executives and 
the Directors.

The Remuneration Committee endeavours to ensure that the remuneration outcomes strike an appropriate balance between the interests 
of the Astro Group securityholders, and rewarding, retaining and motivating the Astro Group‟s executives and the Directors.  
Remuneration of Key Management Personnel is set out below:

To determine the total annual remuneration for the executives, the Remuneration Committee conducts an assessment of each executive 
based on the individual‟s performance and achievements during the financial year and taking into account the overall performance and 
achievements of the Astro Group and prevailing remuneration rates of executives in similar positions.  This assessment is made in 
conjunction with advice from the Astro Group‟s Senior Advisor, Mr Eric Lucas, and is the basis for determining the total annual 
remuneration for that financial year.
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2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Net profit attributable to equityholders ($'000) (22,004) (111,922) (365,642) 121,627 129,195
Earnings per security (cents)1 (41.52) (22.02) (71.94) 23.65 26.71
Distributions per security (cents)1 42.502 7.00 9.00 13.05 11.90
Security price ($) as at 30 June1 2.83 0.32 0.37 0.87 1.77

-    Base pay

-    Short term incentive

Executives
Mr J Pettigrew Executive Director, Chief Financial Officer1

Mr I Hay Chief Financial Officer (Resigned on 31 December 2010)

Non-Executive Directors
Mr F A McDonald Independent Chairman and Non-Executive Director
Ms P Dwyer Independent Non-Executive Director

Base pay is determined by reference to appropriate benchmark information, taking into account an individual‟s responsibilities, 
performance, qualifications and experience.  There are no guaranteed base pay increases in any executives‟ contracts.

Based on the Remuneration Committee‟s assessment of the factors outlined above, the executives were granted an increase in base pay 
of 7% with effect from 1 July 2011.

1Unadjusted per security figures for 2010 and earlier years
2Distributions per security for the year ended 30 June 2011 have been adjusted to reflect the 10 to 1 consolidation of stapled securities 
completed on 19 January 2011

Any short term incentive (STI) entitlement is entirely at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee and any discretionary STI is 
determined based on the results of the Remuneration Committee‟s assessment of each executive having regard to activities and 
transactions of the Astro Group during the financial year.  Any STI entitlement is paid in cash.  The maximum STI bonus in any year is 
30% of base salary.  An executive is not entitled to receive an STI bonus if they cease employment with the Astro Group prior to the 
payment date or provide or receive notice of termination of employment on or prior to the payment date.  Executives were granted an STI 
cash bonus as set out in Table 1.

The following table sets out summary information about the Astro Group‟s earnings and movements in securityholder wealth for the five 
years to 30 June 2011:

Although the performance of the Astro Group is taken into consideration in the assessment of each executive, the remuneration policy of 
the Astro Group is more focused on achievement of the Astro Group‟s internal financial and operational objectives.  The Astro Group 
regards achievement of these objectives as the appropriate criteria for determining remuneration rather than simply measuring relative 
performance against a market index or an external comparator group.

Key Management Personnel

Key Management Personnel (KMP) are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of that entity.  The KMP of the Astro 
Group for the year ended 30 June 2011 were:

1Appointed Chief Financial Officer on 1 January 2011.  Prior to this Mr Pettigrew was an Independent Non-Executive Director of the 
Responsible Entity and AJCo.

The Senior Advisor to the Astro Group, Mr Eric Lucas, is a contractor to the Astro Group and is paid a monthly fee of ¥100,000.  
Separately, the Japan Asset Manager employs Mr Lucas as its Chief Executive Officer and employs other executives who conduct the 
asset management activities in Japan.  The Japan Asset Manager is not a member of the Astro Group, and as such the remuneration 
relating to those individuals is not borne by the Astro Group or its securityholders.  Mr Lucas and the other executives of the Japan Asset 
Manager are not considered KMP of the Astro Group.

Details of the remuneration of the executives and the Non-Executive Directors are set out below.  Mr Rohan Purdy does not meet the 
criteria of a KMP however his remuneration is disclosed below in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001  (Cth) as he is one of the 
two executives in the Astro Group.
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Salary Total
Executives $ $ $ $ $
Mr J Pettigrew5 2011      112,500                -                  -             7,600      120,100 
Mr I Hay4 2011      137,110                -            1,047           7,600      145,757 

2010        51,606        15,000             340           4,645        71,591 
Mr R Purdy 2011      231,000        20,000          1,415         15,199      267,614 

2010        48,165        30,000             342           4,335        82,842 
Total remuneration 2011      480,610        20,000          2,462         30,399      533,471 

2010        99,771        45,000             682           8,980      154,433 

Fixed remuneration1

Executives % % Total
Mr J Pettigrew 100.00 -             100.00
Mr I Hay 100.00 -             100.00
Mr R Purdy 92.49 7.51 100.00

Executives Base remuneration per employment contract
Mr J Pettigrew  $  225,000 
Mr R Purdy  $  231,000 

Length of Contract  Open-ended

Frequency of base remuneration review  Annual

Benefits 

Incentive remuneration 

Termination of employment 



Table 1: Remuneration of Executives for the period ended 30 June 2011

For Mr Purdy, employment can be terminated by either party 
providing two months‟ written notice and the Astro Group may 
elect to pay Mr Purdy two months‟ salary in lieu of notice

The base salaries for executives as at 30 June 2011, in accordance with their employment contracts are shown below:

The employment contracts for Mr Pettigrew and Mr Purdy contain the following conditions:

Entitled to participate in Astro Group benefit plans that are made 
available

For Mr Pettigrew, employment can be terminated by either party 
providing three months‟ written notice and the Astro Group may 
elect to pay Mr Pettigrew three months‟ salary in lieu of notice

Executive Employment Contracts

Eligible for an award of short term incentive remuneration (if any) 
as described above

3.  Astro Group employees receive salary continuance insurance.
4.  Mr I Hay resigned on 31 December 2010.
5.  Appointed Chief Financial Officer on 1 January 2011.  Prior to this Mr Pettigrew was an Independent Non-Executive Director of the 
Responsible Entity.  The above table shows Mr Pettigrew's remuneration for the period 1 January 2011 to 30 June 2011.

Table 2: Remuneration components as a proportion of total remuneration on an annualised basis
STI cash 

bonus

¹  Fixed remuneration consists of salary, non-monetary benefits and superannuation and for the purposes of this table is based on a 12 
month period to 30 June 2011

Remuneration of Executives

STI cash 
bonus2

Non-
monetary 
benefits3

Super-       
annuation

Year1

1.  Comparative figures are for the period 7 April 2010 to 30 June 2010.  No executives' remuneration was incurred by the Astro Group 
before the Responsible Entity became part of the Astro Group on 7 April 2010.
2.  STI relates to the 12 month period ended 30 June 2011 and was granted on 16 June 2011.
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Salary Total
Executives $ $ $ $ $
Mr J Pettigrew5 2011      112,500                -                  -             7,600      120,100 
Mr I Hay4 2011      137,110                -            1,047           7,600      145,757 

2010        51,606        15,000             340           4,645        71,591 
Mr R Purdy 2011      231,000        20,000          1,415         15,199      267,614 

2010        48,165        30,000             342           4,335        82,842 
Total remuneration 2011      480,610        20,000          2,462         30,399      533,471 

2010        99,771        45,000             682           8,980      154,433 

Fixed remuneration1

Executives % % Total
Mr J Pettigrew 100.00 -             100.00
Mr I Hay 100.00 -             100.00
Mr R Purdy 92.49 7.51 100.00

Executives Base remuneration per employment contract
Mr J Pettigrew  $  225,000 
Mr R Purdy  $  231,000 

Length of Contract  Open-ended

Frequency of base remuneration review  Annual

Benefits 

Incentive remuneration 

Termination of employment 



Table 1: Remuneration of Executives for the period ended 30 June 2011

For Mr Purdy, employment can be terminated by either party 
providing two months‟ written notice and the Astro Group may 
elect to pay Mr Purdy two months‟ salary in lieu of notice

The base salaries for executives as at 30 June 2011, in accordance with their employment contracts are shown below:

The employment contracts for Mr Pettigrew and Mr Purdy contain the following conditions:

Entitled to participate in Astro Group benefit plans that are made 
available

For Mr Pettigrew, employment can be terminated by either party 
providing three months‟ written notice and the Astro Group may 
elect to pay Mr Pettigrew three months‟ salary in lieu of notice

Executive Employment Contracts

Eligible for an award of short term incentive remuneration (if any) 
as described above

3.  Astro Group employees receive salary continuance insurance.
4.  Mr I Hay resigned on 31 December 2010.
5.  Appointed Chief Financial Officer on 1 January 2011.  Prior to this Mr Pettigrew was an Independent Non-Executive Director of the 
Responsible Entity.  The above table shows Mr Pettigrew's remuneration for the period 1 January 2011 to 30 June 2011.

Table 2: Remuneration components as a proportion of total remuneration on an annualised basis
STI cash 

bonus

¹  Fixed remuneration consists of salary, non-monetary benefits and superannuation and for the purposes of this table is based on a 12 
month period to 30 June 2011

Remuneration of Executives

STI cash 
bonus2

Non-
monetary 
benefits3

Super-       
annuation

Year1

1.  Comparative figures are for the period 7 April 2010 to 30 June 2010.  No executives' remuneration was incurred by the Astro Group 
before the Responsible Entity became part of the Astro Group on 7 April 2010.
2.  STI relates to the 12 month period ended 30 June 2011 and was granted on 16 June 2011.
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Mr F A McDonald Independent Chairman and Non-Executive Director
Ms P Dwyer Independent Non-Executive Director
Mr J Pettigrew1 Independent Non-Executive Director (for the period 1 July 2010 to 31 December 2010)

Board/Committee Role Fee per annum
Board Independent Chair $136,500

Director1 $96,500
Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee Chair $6,500

1 Executive director is not paid an additional fee for directorship

Total
Directors Year1 $ $ $
Mr F A McDonald 2011      136,500        12,285      148,785 

2010        31,307          2,818        34,125 
Ms P Dwyer 2011      103,000          9,270      112,270 

2010        23,624          2,126        25,750 
Mr J Pettigrew2 2011        58,000          5,220        63,220 

2010        22,133          1,992        24,125 
Total remuneration 2011      297,500        26,775      324,275 

2010        77,064          6,936        84,000 

31. Related parties

In addition to the above fees, all Non-Executive Directors receive reimbursement for reasonable travel, accommodation and other 
expenses incurred while undertaking Astro Group business.

Fees payable to Non-Executive Directors are set out below:

Table 3: Remuneration of Directors for the period ended 30 June 2011

Fees paid to the Non-Executive Directors are in respect of their services provided to the Responsible Entity and AJCo.

Short term - 
salary and 

fees
Post-employment-      
Superannuation

1 Comparative figures given for the year ended 30 June 2010 are for the period 7 April 2010 to 30 June 2010.  No directors' remuneration 
was incurred by the Astro Group before the Responsible Entity became part of the Astro Group on 7 April 2010.
2Appointed Chief Financial Officer on 1 January 2011.  Prior to this Mr Pettigrew was an Independent Non-Executive Director of the 
Responsible Entity.  The above table shows Mr Pettigrew's remuneration for the period 1 July 2010 to 31 December 2010.

a) Astro Japan Property Group Limited (AJCo)
The shares in AJCo were stapled to the units in AJT on 12 November 2009 (stapled securities), forming the Astro Japan Property Group. 
It is not possible to trade or deal separately in either the shares or units which comprise the stapled securities. The results and equity of 
AJCo are disclosed separately as attributable to other stapled securityholders in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income 
and consolidated statements of financial position respectively.

b) Responsible entity
The responsible entity of Astro Japan Property Trust is Astro Japan Property Management Limited. The Responsible Entity is wholly 
owned by AJCo and consolidated within the Astro Group.  The Responsible Entity was acquired by AJCo on 7 April 2010.

The Non-Executive Directors receive a cash fee for service.  They do not receive any performance based remuneration or any retirement 
benefits other than statutory superannuation (which is included within total fees noted below).

Remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors

The following persons were Directors of each of the Responsible Entity and AJCo during the financial year:

1Appointed Chief Financial Officer on 1 January 2011 and continued as a Director.  Prior to this Mr Pettigrew was an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Responsible Entity and AJCo.

The Astro Group Boards determine the remuneration structure for Non-Executive Directors based on recommendations from the 
Remuneration Committee. The Non-Executive Directors‟ individual fees, including committee fees, are annually reviewed by the 
Remuneration Committee taking into consideration the level of fees paid to non-executive directors by companies of a similar size and 
stature.  Fees paid to Non-Executive Directors must fall within the aggregate fee pool approved by securityholders.  The current 
aggregate maximum amount which may be paid to all Non-Executive Directors is $600,000 per annum, and the aggregate fees currently 
payable to the Non-Executive Directors per annum is $239,500 (excluding superannuation).  Based on the Remuneration Committee‟s 
annual review of Non-Executive Director fees conducted on 16 June 2011, there will be no change to the fees for the 12 month period 
commencing 1 July 2011.
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Name
Allan McDonald 40,000 - 40,000
Paula Dwyer 20,000 - 20,000
John Pettigrew 15,000 - 15,000
Ian Hay2 4,000 - -

e) Key management personnel loan and option disclosures

f) Other transactions with Astro Group

g) Responsible Entity and Japan Asset Manager fees and other transactions
The following transactions occurred with related parties:

Asset management fees
AJT base fee – paid to Responsible Entity1 - 1,570
Asset base fee – paid and payable to Japan Asset Manager 7,232 7,662

7,232 9,232
TK distribution – payable to TK Operator 115 127
Total fees paid or payable 7,347 9,359

Other transactions occurring with related parties 
Reimbursement of administration expenses – paid to the Japan Asset Manager by TKs 51 61
Custody fees paid by AJT to Babcock & Brown2 - 56
Transaction fees paid to Japan Asset Manager 1,235 416
Distribution paid from the Japan Asset Manager (904) (271)
Return of capital from the Japan Asset Manager (902) (413)
Additional investment in the Japan Asset Manager - 1,350

Outstanding balances
The following balances are outstanding at the reporting date in relation to transactions with related parties:
Asset management fees
Asset base fee – payable to Japan Asset Manager 1,292 1,837
TK distribution – payable to TK Operator 62 70
Total asset management and performance fees payable 1,354 1,907
1 Relates to payments made prior to the Responsible Entity becoming part of the Astro Group on 7 April 2010.

There were no loans or Astro Group options granted as part of key management personnel remuneration in respect to their position as 
key management personnel.

30 Jun 11
$'000

30 Jun 10
$'000

The Astro Group has a 30% economic interest in the Japan Asset Manager.  The key management of the Japan Asset Manager includes 
Eric Lucas, senior adviser to the Astro Group.  Further details of the interest in the Japan Asset Manager are disclosed in Note 13.

30 Jun 11
$'000

c) The Japan Asset Manager
The Japan Asset Manager is responsible for the management of AJT‟s investment property interests.  The Astro Group also has an initial 
30% economic interest in the Japan Asset Manager, which will reduce to 25% once the preferred distributions have been made.

Balance at
start of year1

Change 
during

the year
Balance at
end of year

d) Security holdings
The number of Astro Group securities held by each Director of the Responsible Entity and other key management personnel, including 
their personally related parties, at the date of this report are set out below.  There were no securities issued during the year as 
compensation.

2 Ian Hay ceased as CFO on 31 December 2010.

2 Custody fees paid for the period 1 July 2009 to 30 September 2009 at which time Babcock & Brown ceased providing custodial services 
to AJT.

There were no other transactions with key management personnel and related entities.

30 Jun 10
$'000

1 The number of securities held at the start of the year have been adjusted for the stapled security consolidation effective as at 19 
January 2011.  Refer to note 23(a) for further details on the stapled security consolidation.
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e) Key management personnel loan and option disclosures

f) Other transactions with Astro Group

g) Responsible Entity and Japan Asset Manager fees and other transactions
The following transactions occurred with related parties:

Asset management fees
AJT base fee – paid to Responsible Entity1 - 1,570
Asset base fee – paid and payable to Japan Asset Manager 7,232 7,662

7,232 9,232
TK distribution – payable to TK Operator 115 127
Total fees paid or payable 7,347 9,359

Other transactions occurring with related parties 
Reimbursement of administration expenses – paid to the Japan Asset Manager by TKs 51 61
Custody fees paid by AJT to Babcock & Brown2 - 56
Transaction fees paid to Japan Asset Manager 1,235 416
Distribution paid from the Japan Asset Manager (904) (271)
Return of capital from the Japan Asset Manager (902) (413)
Additional investment in the Japan Asset Manager - 1,350

Outstanding balances
The following balances are outstanding at the reporting date in relation to transactions with related parties:
Asset management fees
Asset base fee – payable to Japan Asset Manager 1,292 1,837
TK distribution – payable to TK Operator 62 70
Total asset management and performance fees payable 1,354 1,907
1 Relates to payments made prior to the Responsible Entity becoming part of the Astro Group on 7 April 2010.

There were no loans or Astro Group options granted as part of key management personnel remuneration in respect to their position as 
key management personnel.

30 Jun 11
$'000

30 Jun 10
$'000

The Astro Group has a 30% economic interest in the Japan Asset Manager.  The key management of the Japan Asset Manager includes 
Eric Lucas, senior adviser to the Astro Group.  Further details of the interest in the Japan Asset Manager are disclosed in Note 13.

30 Jun 11
$'000

c) The Japan Asset Manager
The Japan Asset Manager is responsible for the management of AJT‟s investment property interests.  The Astro Group also has an initial 
30% economic interest in the Japan Asset Manager, which will reduce to 25% once the preferred distributions have been made.

Balance at
start of year1

Change 
during

the year
Balance at
end of year

d) Security holdings
The number of Astro Group securities held by each Director of the Responsible Entity and other key management personnel, including 
their personally related parties, at the date of this report are set out below.  There were no securities issued during the year as 
compensation.

2 Ian Hay ceased as CFO on 31 December 2010.

2 Custody fees paid for the period 1 July 2009 to 30 September 2009 at which time Babcock & Brown ceased providing custodial services 
to AJT.

There were no other transactions with key management personnel and related entities.

30 Jun 10
$'000

1 The number of securities held at the start of the year have been adjusted for the stapled security consolidation effective as at 19 
January 2011.  Refer to note 23(a) for further details on the stapled security consolidation.
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32. Leasing arrangements note

Lease commitments: Astro Group as lessor

Within one year 20,654 25,781
Later than one year but not later than 5 years 51,920 74,983
Later than 5 years 68,223 89,609

140,797 190,373

33. Commitments

Lease commitments: Astro Group as lessee

Within one year 119 112
Later than one year but not later than 5 years 287 374
Later than 5 years - -

406 486

Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities is as follows:

Investment property
Payable:
Within one year 374 -

374 -

In the opinion of the directors of the Astro Group, there were no other commitments at the end of the reporting period.

JPT Direct Co. Ltd (JPTD) and JPT August Co. Ltd (JPTA) are in a net liability position as at 30 June 2011.  $11,624,000 and $nil of the 
total lease commitments of $140,797,000 relate to JPTD and JPTA respectively. 

The investment properties are leased to tenants under two main types of leases in Japan: standard leases and fixed term leases.  
Standard leases are usually for two years.  The tenant has the right of renewal on the lease and the contractually agreed cancellation 
notice period by the tenant is usually six months.  Fixed term leases may be cancellable or non-cancellable and lease terms vary between 
tenants.  Subsequent renewals are negotiated with the lessee.

Property interests used to derive income under operating leases are classified as investment properties.  No contingent rents are 
charged.

The minimum lease payments receivable on fixed term non-cancellable leases of investment properties not recognised in the 
consolidated financial statements as receivables are as follows:

The Astro Group has non-cancellable leases in respect of the office premises and office equipment. Both leases are for a duration of 5 
years and are classified as operating leases. The minimum lease payments are as follows:

30 Jun 11
$'000

30 Jun 10
$'000
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34. Parent entity financial information

a) Summary financial information

The individual financial statements for AJT (the parent entity) show the following aggregate amounts:

Statement of Financial Position
Current Assets 37,119 46,464

Total Assets 368,459 412,319

Current Liabilities 39,904 50,163

Total Liabilities 62,922 50,163

Unitholder' equity
Issued capital 611,554 589,452
Retained Earnings (306,017) (227,296)

305,537 362,156

Profit or (loss) for the year (55,598) (39,264)

b) Guarantees entered into by the parent entity

c) Contingent liabilities of the parent entity

There are no other recourse obligations to the parent entity in relation to the TK agreements or loans.

At 30 June 2011, the total security deposit liability to tenants was $80.8m (2010: $95.8m). Of this amount, the balance of $13.8m (2010: 
$14.3m) is held as cash on trust by the Trust Bank and lenders to each TK to partly collateralise this liability and is disclosed as Cash on 
Trust in Note 8.  In limited circumstances, including expiry of a tenant's lease, the security deposits must be repaid by the TK Operator, if 
the deposit has previously been released. At that time, there may be insufficient cash available within the TK to repay the tenant security 
deposit amounts due. This situation has yet to arise since AJT was established in 2005. In these situations the TK Operator has the right 
to require AJT to contribute cash equal to the unfunded security deposit amount.  AJT had contingent liabilities at 30 June 2011 arising 
from this obligation.

In normal circumstances, the deposits from incoming tenants would fund the repayment of deposits to outgoing tenants and it is unlikely 
that AJT would be required to inject cash into a TK to fund repayment of the tenant security deposits. However, as there is a risk that the 
loans to JPTD and JPTA may be in default at maturity in May, 2012 and August, 2012, respectively, this could cause a circumstance 
whereby incoming security deposits would potentially be retained by the lender.  Accordingly, it is likely JPTD and JPTA would be unable 
to use these incoming tenant security deposits to fund such repayments, resulting in AJT potentially being called upon to make additional 
equity contributions as and when obligations to refund deposits to tenants arise, as leases expire or are terminated.  The maximum 
potential amount of this recourse obligation to the parent entity at 30 June 2011 with respect to the JPTD and the JPTA, which are both in 
a net liability position, is $23.9m and $14.1m respectively (in total $38.0m).

Due to the uncertainty around whether loans to JPTD and JPTA may be in default upon maturity, it is considered that the potential liability 
of $38.0m by these TKs for tenant security deposit repayments should be recorded as a liability in the balance sheet of AJT, the parent 
entity.  This liability arises out of an obligation under agreements entered into with each of the TK Operators to make additional equity 
contributions to refund tenant security deposits where the TK Operator has sufficient cash to meet this obligation.  Refer to Note 1(a).  
This liability has been treated as a contingent liability in prior periods.

AJT has a contingent liability of $24.2m (2010: $76.6m) which relates to unfunded tenant security deposits in JPT, JPTC and JPTS.  
Details of the tenant security deposit liability in each TK are set out in Segment Reporting note 28.

The parent entity had not entered into any guarantees as at 30 June 2011 (30 June 2010: $nil).

30 Jun 11
$'000

30 Jun 10
$'000

As at 30 June 2011, AJT (the parent entity) has a net current deficit of $2,785,000.  Included within current liabilities is a provision totalling 
$14,961,000 in relation to tenant deposit liabilities (refer to note 34(c)) resulting from cancellable leases and non-cancellable leases with 
expiry dates within one year.  Cancellable leases are presented as current as AJT does not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement.  However, based on past experience, AJT does not expect to pay out the full amount of current tenant deposits within the next 
12 months, therefore AJT (the parent entity) has reasonable grounds to expect to be able to pay its debts as and when they become due 
and payable.
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34. Parent entity financial information

a) Summary financial information

The individual financial statements for AJT (the parent entity) show the following aggregate amounts:

Statement of Financial Position
Current Assets 37,119 46,464

Total Assets 368,459 412,319

Current Liabilities 39,904 50,163

Total Liabilities 62,922 50,163

Unitholder' equity
Issued capital 611,554 589,452
Retained Earnings (306,017) (227,296)

305,537 362,156

Profit or (loss) for the year (55,598) (39,264)

b) Guarantees entered into by the parent entity

c) Contingent liabilities of the parent entity

There are no other recourse obligations to the parent entity in relation to the TK agreements or loans.

At 30 June 2011, the total security deposit liability to tenants was $80.8m (2010: $95.8m). Of this amount, the balance of $13.8m (2010: 
$14.3m) is held as cash on trust by the Trust Bank and lenders to each TK to partly collateralise this liability and is disclosed as Cash on 
Trust in Note 8.  In limited circumstances, including expiry of a tenant's lease, the security deposits must be repaid by the TK Operator, if 
the deposit has previously been released. At that time, there may be insufficient cash available within the TK to repay the tenant security 
deposit amounts due. This situation has yet to arise since AJT was established in 2005. In these situations the TK Operator has the right 
to require AJT to contribute cash equal to the unfunded security deposit amount.  AJT had contingent liabilities at 30 June 2011 arising 
from this obligation.

In normal circumstances, the deposits from incoming tenants would fund the repayment of deposits to outgoing tenants and it is unlikely 
that AJT would be required to inject cash into a TK to fund repayment of the tenant security deposits. However, as there is a risk that the 
loans to JPTD and JPTA may be in default at maturity in May, 2012 and August, 2012, respectively, this could cause a circumstance 
whereby incoming security deposits would potentially be retained by the lender.  Accordingly, it is likely JPTD and JPTA would be unable 
to use these incoming tenant security deposits to fund such repayments, resulting in AJT potentially being called upon to make additional 
equity contributions as and when obligations to refund deposits to tenants arise, as leases expire or are terminated.  The maximum 
potential amount of this recourse obligation to the parent entity at 30 June 2011 with respect to the JPTD and the JPTA, which are both in 
a net liability position, is $23.9m and $14.1m respectively (in total $38.0m).

Due to the uncertainty around whether loans to JPTD and JPTA may be in default upon maturity, it is considered that the potential liability 
of $38.0m by these TKs for tenant security deposit repayments should be recorded as a liability in the balance sheet of AJT, the parent 
entity.  This liability arises out of an obligation under agreements entered into with each of the TK Operators to make additional equity 
contributions to refund tenant security deposits where the TK Operator has sufficient cash to meet this obligation.  Refer to Note 1(a).  
This liability has been treated as a contingent liability in prior periods.

AJT has a contingent liability of $24.2m (2010: $76.6m) which relates to unfunded tenant security deposits in JPT, JPTC and JPTS.  
Details of the tenant security deposit liability in each TK are set out in Segment Reporting note 28.

The parent entity had not entered into any guarantees as at 30 June 2011 (30 June 2010: $nil).

30 Jun 11
$'000

30 Jun 10
$'000

As at 30 June 2011, AJT (the parent entity) has a net current deficit of $2,785,000.  Included within current liabilities is a provision totalling 
$14,961,000 in relation to tenant deposit liabilities (refer to note 34(c)) resulting from cancellable leases and non-cancellable leases with 
expiry dates within one year.  Cancellable leases are presented as current as AJT does not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement.  However, based on past experience, AJT does not expect to pay out the full amount of current tenant deposits within the next 
12 months, therefore AJT (the parent entity) has reasonable grounds to expect to be able to pay its debts as and when they become due 
and payable.
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35. Events occurring after the reporting period

The Directors are not aware of any other matters or circumstance occurring since 30 June 2011 not otherwise dealt with in the financial 
report that has significantly or may significantly affect the operations of the Astro Group, the results of those operations, or the state of 
affairs of the Astro Group in subsequent financial years.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Astro Group and the external counterparty have amended the cross-currency swaps to 
replace the annual termination and repayment option, held by the counterparty, with mandatory termination of all outstanding hedges if 
¥/A$ rises to 73 between now and February 2012 and to 75 from that date to the termination of the facility in August 2014.
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DIRECTORS' DECLARATION

1

a)

i)

ii)

b)

2

3.         

Dated 31 August 2011.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

F A McDonald
Director
Astro Japan Property Management Limited in its capacity as 
Responsible Entity of Astro Japan Property Trust

giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Astro Group as at 30 June 2011 and of its 
performance for the year ended 30 June 2011; and

complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements; and

the Financial Statements and Notes set out on pages 17 to 57 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001 (Cth), including:

In the opinion of the Directors of Astro Japan Property Management Limited in its capacity as Responsible Entity of 
Astro Japan Property Trust (AJT):

there are reasonable grounds to believe that AJT will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due 
and payable.

Note 1(a) confirms that the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

The Directors have been given the declarations by the Chief Financial Officer required by section 295A of the 
Corporations Act 2001  (Cth).
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Astro Japan Property Trust (AJT):

there are reasonable grounds to believe that AJT will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due 
and payable.

Note 1(a) confirms that the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.
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Corporations Act 2001  (Cth).

Page 58 AJA Stapled Group

58 to 102

DIRECTORS' DECLARATION

1

a)

i)

ii)

b)

2

3.         

Dated 31 August 2011.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.
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Director
Astro Japan Property Management Limited in its capacity as 
Responsible Entity of Astro Japan Property Trust
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2001 (Cth), including:
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Astro Japan Property Trust (AJT):
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and payable.
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Corporations Act 2001  (Cth).
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 Independent Auditor’s Report

PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757
Darling Park Tower 2, 201 Sussex Street, GPO BOX 2650,
T +61 2 8266 0000, F +61 2 8266 9999, www.pwc.com.au
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

Independent auditor’s report to the stapled security holders of
Astro Japan Property Trust

Report on the financial report

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Astro Japan
which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2011, and the statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year
ended on that date, a summary of signific
directors’ declaration for the Astro Japan Property Group (the consolidated entity). The
consolidated entity comprises the trust and the entities it controlled at the year's end or from time
to time during the financial year, including Astro Japan Property Group Limited and its
controlled entity.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report

The directors of Astro Japan Property Management Limited, as responsible entity of the trust, are
responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in accordance
with Australian Accounting Standards and the
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or err
directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101
Financial Statements, that the financial statements com
Reporting Standards.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing
require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing pr
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but no
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as wel

, ABN 52 780 433 757
Darling Park Tower 2, 201 Sussex Street, GPO BOX 2650, Sydney NSW 1171
T +61 2 8266 0000, F +61 2 8266 9999, www.pwc.com.au

under Professional Standards Legislation.

Independent auditor’s report to the stapled security holders of
Astro Japan Property Trust

Report on the financial report

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Astro Japan Property Trust (the trust),
which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2011, and the statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year
ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the
directors’ declaration for the Astro Japan Property Group (the consolidated entity). The
consolidated entity comprises the trust and the entities it controlled at the year's end or from time

during the financial year, including Astro Japan Property Group Limited and its

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report

The directors of Astro Japan Property Management Limited, as responsible entity of the trust, are
ble for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in accordance

with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 1(a), the

also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presen
, that the financial statements comply with International Financial

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing
require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether

raud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

Independent auditor’s report to the stapled security holders of

Property Trust (the trust),
which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2011, and the statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year

ant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the
directors’ declaration for the Astro Japan Property Group (the consolidated entity). The
consolidated entity comprises the trust and the entities it controlled at the year's end or from time

during the financial year, including Astro Japan Property Group Limited and its

The directors of Astro Japan Property Management Limited, as responsible entity of the trust, are
ble for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in accordance

and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report

or. In Note 1(a), the
Presentation of

International Financial

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards
require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from

ocedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether

raud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design

t for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates

l as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.
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Our procedures include reading the other information in the Annual Report to determine whether
it contains any material inconsistencies with the financial report.

We believe that the audit e
basis for our audit opinions.

Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the
Corporations Act 2001.

Auditor’s opinion

In our opinion:

(a) the financial report of Astro Japan Property Trust is in accordance with the
Act 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at
30 June 2011 and of its performance for

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian
Accounting Interpretations) and the

(b) the financial report and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting
Standards as disclosed in Note 1

Emphasis of matter

Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1(a) to the financial statements which
sets out a number of risks facing the group, including the likelihood that loans to JPTD and JPTA
will not be refinanced in full on
loss of control of those subsidiaries and the increased likelihood of the trust being required to
fund repayment of tenant security deposits in these subsidiaries from sources other than JPTD
and JPTA.

Report on the remuneration report

We have audited the remuneration report included in pages 6 to 9 of the directors’ report for the
year ended 30 June 2011. The directors of Astro Japan Property Group Limited are responsible
for the preparation and presentation of the remuneration report
of the Corporations Act 2001
report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

Our procedures include reading the other information in the Annual Report to determine whether
it contains any material inconsistencies with the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinions.

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the

e financial report of Astro Japan Property Trust is in accordance with the
, including:

giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at
2011 and of its performance for the year ended on that da

complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian
Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001

the financial report and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting
Standards as disclosed in Note 1(a).

Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1(a) to the financial statements which
sets out a number of risks facing the group, including the likelihood that loans to JPTD and JPTA
will not be refinanced in full on maturity and the potential consequences thereof including the
loss of control of those subsidiaries and the increased likelihood of the trust being required to
fund repayment of tenant security deposits in these subsidiaries from sources other than JPTD

remuneration report

We have audited the remuneration report included in pages 6 to 9 of the directors’ report for the
year ended 30 June 2011. The directors of Astro Japan Property Group Limited are responsible
for the preparation and presentation of the remuneration report in accordance with section 300A

Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the remuneration
report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

Our procedures include reading the other information in the Annual Report to determine whether

vidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the

e financial report of Astro Japan Property Trust is in accordance with the Corporations

giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at
the year ended on that date

complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian
rporations Regulations 2001

the financial report and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting

Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1(a) to the financial statements which
sets out a number of risks facing the group, including the likelihood that loans to JPTD and JPTA

maturity and the potential consequences thereof including the
loss of control of those subsidiaries and the increased likelihood of the trust being required to
fund repayment of tenant security deposits in these subsidiaries from sources other than JPTD

We have audited the remuneration report included in pages 6 to 9 of the directors’ report for the
year ended 30 June 2011. The directors of Astro Japan Property Group Limited are responsible

in accordance with section 300A
. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the remuneration

report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.
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 Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s opinion

In our opinion, the remuneration report of Astro Japan Property Group Limited for the year
ended 30 June 2011, complies with section 300A of the

Matters relating to the electronic presentation of the audited financial report

This auditor’s report relates t
Property Trust (the trust) for the year ended 30 June 2011 included on the Astro Japan Property
Group web site. The directors of Astro Japan Property Management Limited, as responsible entity
of the Trust, are responsible for the integrity of the Astro Japan Property Group web site. We have
not been engaged to report on the integrity of this web site. The auditor’s report refers only to the
financial report and remuneration report named above. It
other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial report or the
remuneration report. If users of this report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from
electronic data communications they ar
report and remuneration report to confirm the information included in the audited financial
report and remuneration report presented on this web site.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

TJO Peel
Partner

uneration report of Astro Japan Property Group Limited for the year
ended 30 June 2011, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001

Matters relating to the electronic presentation of the audited financial report

This auditor’s report relates to the financial report and remuneration report of Astro Japan
Property Trust (the trust) for the year ended 30 June 2011 included on the Astro Japan Property
Group web site. The directors of Astro Japan Property Management Limited, as responsible entity

the Trust, are responsible for the integrity of the Astro Japan Property Group web site. We have
not been engaged to report on the integrity of this web site. The auditor’s report refers only to the
financial report and remuneration report named above. It does not provide an opinion on any
other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial report or the
remuneration report. If users of this report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from
electronic data communications they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial
report and remuneration report to confirm the information included in the audited financial
report and remuneration report presented on this web site.

uneration report of Astro Japan Property Group Limited for the year
Corporations Act 2001.

Matters relating to the electronic presentation of the audited financial report

o the financial report and remuneration report of Astro Japan
Property Trust (the trust) for the year ended 30 June 2011 included on the Astro Japan Property
Group web site. The directors of Astro Japan Property Management Limited, as responsible entity

the Trust, are responsible for the integrity of the Astro Japan Property Group web site. We have
not been engaged to report on the integrity of this web site. The auditor’s report refers only to the

does not provide an opinion on any
other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial report or the
remuneration report. If users of this report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from

e advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial
report and remuneration report to confirm the information included in the audited financial

Sydney
31 August 2011

106 Astro Japan Property Group • Annual Report



 ASX Additional Information

The Astro Group is required under the ASX Listing Rules to disclose the additional information which is set out in this section. 
The information is current as at 1 September 2011.

Stapled SecuritieS
Each Astro Group stapled security comprises one unit in AJT and one share in AJCo which are stapled together in accordance 
with each entity’s Constitution and cannot be traded or dealt with separately. The Astro Group stapled securities are traded on 
the ASX under the code ‘AJA’. In accordance with the ASX’s requirements for stapled securities, the ASX reserves the right (but 
without limiting its absolute discretion) to remove AJT or AJCo or both from the ASX Official List if any of the AJT units and the 
AJCo shares cease to be stapled together or any equity securities are issued by AJT or AJCo which are not stapled to 
equivalent securities in the other entity.

Number of Stapled SecuritieS aNd holderS
The total number of Astro Group stapled securities on issue as at 1 September 2011 is 58,445,002 and the number of 
holders of these stapled securities is 2,869.

SubStaNtial SecurityholderS
The names of substantial securityholders who have notified the Astro Group in accordance with section 671B of the 
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) are set out below.

Securityholder No. of Stapled Securities1 Percentage (%) Date notice received

APN Property Group Limited 61,130,419 12.03 05/11/10

Vanguard Investments Australia Ltd /  
The Vanguard Group Inc.

25,915,738 5.098 24/05/10

1 Number of securities at date of notification are pre 10 for 1 consolidation which took effect from 19 January 2011.

VotiNg rightS
It is generally expected that General Meetings of securityholders of AJT and General Meetings of securityholders of AJCo will be 
held concurrently where proposed resolutions relate to the two entities.  Voting rights of securityholders at General Meetings 
are outlined below.

At General Meetings of securityholders of AJT:
•	 on a show of hands each securityholder who is present in person and each other person who is present as a proxy, attorney 

or duly appointed corporate representative of a securityholder has one vote; and 

•	 on a poll, each securityholder who is present in person has one vote for each dollar of value of the securities in AJT held by 
the securityholder.  Also, each person present as proxy, attorney or duly appointed corporate representative of a 
securityholder has one vote for each dollar of value of the securities in AJT held by the securityholder that the person 
represents.

At General Meetings of securityholders of AJCo:
•	 on a show of hands each securityholder who is present in person and each other person who is present as a proxy, attorney 

or duly appointed corporate representative of a securityholder has one vote; and

•	 on a poll, each securityholder who is present in person has one vote for each security they hold.  Also, each person present 
as a proxy, attorney or duly appointed corporate representative of a securityholder has one vote for each security held by the 
securityholder that the person represents.

oN-market buy-back
The Astro Group does not currently have an on-market buy-back in place.

Stapled SecuritieS that are reStricted or Subject to VoluNtary eScrow
There are no Astro Group stapled securities which are restricted or subject to voluntary escrow.
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diStributioN of SecuritieS
The Distribution Schedule of the number of holders of Astro Group stapled securities is shown below.

Category Holders No. of Stapled Securities

1 – 1,000 1,444 615,804

1,001 – 5,000 933 2,308,303

5,001 – 10,000 233 1,772,697

10,001 – 100,000 234 6,291,879

100,001 and over 25 47,456,319

Total 2,869 58,445,002

The number of securityholders holding less than a marketable parcel is 485.

tweNty largeSt SecurityholderS
The top 20 largest Astro Group securityholders are shown below.

Securityholder No. of Stapled Securities Percentage of Issued Capital

1 JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 11,036,818 18.88%

2 RBC Dexia Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited 6,880,515 11.77%

3 HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 5,589,219 9.56%

4 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 5,395,778 9.23%

5 National Nominees Limited 5,034,957 8.61%

6 JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 2,483,714 4.25%

7 RBC Dexia Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited 2,128,897 3.64%

8 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 1,198,609 2.05%

9 Aquapeel Pty Ltd 1,000,000 1.71%

10 Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 899,982 1.54%

11 Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Ltd 730,000 1.25%

12 Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 690,632 1.18%

13 Merrill Lynch (Australia) Nominees Pty Limited 688,929 1.18%

14
Suncorp Custodian Services Pty Limited & Suncorp Custodian 
Services Pty Limited 655,980 1.12%

15 Australian Reward Investment Alliance 647,230 1.11%

16 UBS Wealth Management Australia Nominees Pty Ltd 517,980 0.89%

17 ABN Amro Clearing Sydney Nominees Pty Ltd 394,838 0.68%

18 Chriswall Holdings Pty Ltd 310,000 0.53%

19
Mr Claudio Paul Marcolongo  
& Mrs Diane Marcolongo 270,000 0.46%

20 Carwoola Pastoral Co Pty Limited 191,000 0.33%

Total 46,745,078 79.98%

Eric Lucas’ securityholding of 2,391,861 stapled securities (4.092%) is held through a nominee.

 ASX Additional Information
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